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EBIX EUROPE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

The directors present the strategic report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Ptincipal activities

The principal activity of the company continues to be the provision of professional and consulting services,
design, development, maintenance and marketing of electronic trading services for the global insurance and
reinsurance industries.

The company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Ebix Singapore PTE Limited, a company incorporated in
Singapore, and Ebix Inc., a company incorporated in the United States is the ultimate parent company.

Review of the business
he company adapted successfully to challenges introduced by the Covid-19 pandemic, seamlessly supporting
nd providing services to our custorner base without interruption. Our products and services further enabled our
stomers to transition to enforced homeworking and substantially increased the use and dependence of our
oftware for electronic placing.

Turnover for the year was as expected and stable plus the company further invested in developing new productSJ
Lo take to market. The directors believe that the level of turnover can be substantially maintained and we expec
similar result for the 2021 year.

The high-profile placing platform project continues to perform well and maintain Ebix Europe’s position as the
premier vendor of electronic trading services to the global insurance and reinsurance industries. The companyf
continues to invest and develop the placing platform allowing modernisation of the placement process along with
nvestment into new technologies and products for the insurance market.

The position at the end of the year remains positive with good cash reserves and overall net assets remaining
[strong.

Risks and Uncertainties

The directors are not aware of any significant developments or factors which will have a major impact on the
future success and growth of the business. The company reviews, on a regular basis, any industry trends and
relevant regulatory factors and incorporates these both into the operational and strategic management and
contingency planning of the company.

One of the greatest risks for the company is in any potential loss of revenue from lost custom. The continued
success and growth of the company relies heavily on the level of turnover. The directors continue to work hard to
ensure the offering they provide is constantly at the top of the market and as such there is very little direct
competition. They have built a very solid foundation which allows them a degree of certainty as to the continued
custom.

The group as a whole also conlinues to diversify and to grow and the support to the UK from this is very
valuable. This helps to relieve some of the uncertainties. The company is overall in a very good and solid
position at the year end and going forward into the future.




EBIX EUROPE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT {CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Key Performance Indicators

The performance and results for Ebix Europe Limited are continually analysed at a business unit level by the UK
Management and at group level by Ebix inc. Turnover continues to be key and is the main KPI for the UK. The
continued level of turmover on a stable position allows for reliable cash predictions which is another KPI for both
the UK company and the group as a whole. Cash levels are constantly monitored and used to pay off inter group
debts when avaitable or to support any other group company.

Future developments

The impact of the Coronavirus pandemic on Ebix Europe has been minimal and the company will continue to
provide high levels of services and support. Our platforms are accessed via the intermet and allow customers
and users the flexibility to continue their messaging operations in a stable working environment. The usage and
uptake of our London Market platform continues to go from strength to strength recently as users have been
forced to work from home. OQur portfolio of products and services continue to be developed and supported to
assist our customers to trade as normally as possible during these unprecedented circumstances.

On behalf of the board

RR
Director
318021




EBIX EUROPE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

The directors present their annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Principal activities

The principal activity of the company in the year under review was that of the provision of professional and
consulting services, design, development, maintenance and markeling of electronic trading service of the global
insurance and reinsurance industries.

Results and dividends

The results for the year are set out on page 9.
No dividends will be distnibuted tor the year ended 31 December 2020.

Directors
The directors, who served throughout the year except as noled, were as follows:

Mr R Raina
Mr G J Prior

Auditor
The auditor, CBW Audit Limited, is deemed to be reappointed under section 487(2) of the Companies Act 2006.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. Under company law the directors must not approve the
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
company and of the profit or loss of the company for that peried. In preparing these financial statements,
International Accounting Standard 1 requires that directors:

= properly selecl and apply accounting policies;

+ present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides reievant, reliable, comparable
and understandable information;

+ provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to
enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity's
financial position and financial performance; and

* make an assessment of the company's ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Statement of disclosure to auditor
Each director in office at the date of approval of this annual report confirms that:
« so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company's auditor is
unaware, and
« the director has taken all the steps that he / she ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself /
herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company's auditor is aware of that
information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the
Companies Act 20086.




EBIX EUROPE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

On behalf of the board




EBIX EUROPE LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF EBIX EUROPE LIMITED

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Ebix Europe Limited (the ‘company’) for the year ended 31
December 2020 which comprise the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement
of financial position, the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash fiows and notes to the financial
statements, including significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in
their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
European Union.

in our opinion the financial statements:
+ give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 December 2020 and of its profit for the
year then ended;
+ have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and
+ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors' use of the going concem basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt oh the company's ability to continue as a
going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sections of this report.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report other than the financial statements
and our auditor's report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the
annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the
extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Qur
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsisient with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial
statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstaternent of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
in our opinion, based on the work undentaken in the course of our audit:
+ the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the
financial staltements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
- the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.




EBIX EUROPE LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
TO THE MEMBERS OF EBIX EUROPE LIMITED

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of
the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to
report to you if, in our opinion:

- adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adegquate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

= the financial statemenis are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

= cerlain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

= we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors' responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In preparing the financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounding unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do
s0.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financia! statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect & material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered malterial if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures
in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities,
including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is
detailed below.




EBIX EUROPE LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
TO THE MEMBERS OF EBIX EUROPE LIMITED

We ensured that the engagement team collectively had the appropriate competence, capabilities and skills to
identify or recognise non-compliance with applicable laws and regulaticns. The laws and regulations applicable
to the company were identified through discussions with directors and other management, and from our
commercial knowledge and experience of Ebix Europe Limited. Of these laws and regutations, we focused on
those that we considered may have a direct material effect on the financial statements or the operations of the
company, including Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, Companies Act 2006, Sarbanes Oxley Act 2002,
iR35 off payroll working reguiations, taxation legisiation, data protection, anti-bribery, anti-money-
laundering, employment, health and safety legislation. The extent of compliance with these laws and regulations
identified above was assessed through making enquiries of management and inspecting legal correspondence.
The identified laws and regulations were communicated within the audit team regularly and the team remained
alert to instances of non-compliance throughout the audit.

We assessed the susceptibility of the company's financial statements to material misstatement, including
obtaining an understanding of how fraud might occur, by:
» making enquiries of management as to where they considered there was susceptibility to fraud, their
knowledge of actual, suspected and alleged fraud;
» considering the intemal controls in place to mitigate risks of fraud and non-compliance with laws and
regulations; and
* understanding the design of the company’s remuneration policies.

To address the risk of fraud through management bias and override of controls, we:
« performed analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships;
+ tested journal entries to identify unusual transactions;
« assessed whether judgements and assumptions made in determining the accounting estimates set out
in note 2 were indicative of potential bias; and
+ investigated the rationale behind significant or unusual transactions.

in response to the risk of irregularities and non-compliance with laws and regulations, we designed procedures
which included, but were not limited to:

agreeing financial statement disclosures to underlying supporting documentation;

reading the minutes of meetings of those charged with govemnance,

enquiring of management as to actual and potential litigation and claims;

reviewing correspondence with HMRC, relevant regulators including the FCA and the company’s legal
advisors;

» inspecting the company’s bi-annual Sarbanes-Oxley audits for any potential non-compliance;

+ inspecting the Soc |l Type 2 IT systems and controls audits carried out; and

= carrying out testing on the sub-contractors to determine their correct status.

L] L L] *

There are inherent limitations in our audit procedures described above. The more removed that laws and
regulations are from financial transactions, the less likely it is that we would become aware of non-compliance.
Auditing standards also limit the audit procedures required to identify non-compliance with laws and regulations
to enquiry of the directors and other management and the inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if
any. Material misstatements that arise due to fraud can be harder to detect than those that arise from error as
they may involve deliberate concealment or collusion.

A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council's website at: https:/
www.frc.org. uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report.




EBIX EUROPE LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
TO THE MEMBERS OF EBIX EUROPE LIMITED

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsihility to anyone other than the company and the
company's members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

CE WAL

Mr Jonathan Cross (Senior Statutory Auditor)
21
For and on behalf of CBW Audit Limited QZNUVGmbBrQO

Chartered Accountants

Statutory Auditor 66 Prescot Street
London
E1 8NN




EBIX EUROPE LIMITED

INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Notes
Revenue 3
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other operating income
Administrative expenses
Operating profit 4
Investment revenues 7
Finance costs 8
Profit before taxation
Income tax expense 9

Profit and total comprehensive income for the
year

The income statement has been prepared on the basis that all operations are continuing operations.

2020
£

10,243,592

(1,000,295)

9,243,297

143,626

(9,127,994)

258,829

304,641

563,470

(201,683)

361,787

2019
£

11,503,257
(513,166)

10,890,091

140,350
(10,548,902)

581,539

494,988
(15,758)

1,060,769

(361,868)

698,901




EBIX EUROPE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

2020

361,787

361,787

2019

698,901

698,901

-10-



EBIX EUROPE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

Non-current assets
Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment
investments

Deferred tax asset

Current assets

Trade and other receivables
Current tax recoverable
Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Current tax liabilities
Borrowings

Lease fiabilities

Net current assets

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities

Net assets

Equity

Called up share capital
Share premium account

Retained earnings

Total equity

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on

and are signed on its behalf by:

Company Registration No. 03909745

Notes

10
11
12
19

14

17

16
18

18

21
22

2020

82,240
1,351,234
1,709,105
3,142,579

13,233,029
180.412
659,575

14,073,016

1,826,399
79,647
1,368

1,907,414

12,165,602

1,792

15,306,389

29,916,903
8,393,140
(23,003,654)

15,306,389

2019

373,279
403,418
1,351,234
2,031,956

4,159,887

13,536,306
626,520
14,162,826
1,815,749
20,403
1,251,234
287,499

3,374,885

10,787,941

3,226

14,944,602

29,916,903
8,383,140
(23,365,441)

14,944,602

11/18/21

-11-



EBIX EUROPE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Balance at 1 January 2019

Year ended 31 December 2019:

Profit and total comprehensive income for the
year

Balance at 31 December 2019

Year ended 31 December 2020:

Profit and total comprehensive income for the
year

Balance at 31 Decembar 2020

Share Share Retained Total
capital premium  earnings
account
£ £ £ £
29,916,903 8,393,140 (24,064,342) 14,245,701
- - 698,901 698,901
29,916,903 8,393,140 (23,365,441) 14,944,602
- - 361,787 361,787
29,916,903 8,393,140 (23,003,654) 15,306,389

12



EBIX EURQPE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Notes

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 28

Interest paid
Tax (paid)refunded

Net cash inflow from operating activities

Investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Proceeds on disposal of subsidiaries
Interest received

Net cash generated from/{used in)
investing activities

Financing activities
Repayment of borrowings
Payment of lease liabilities

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

2020 2019
£ £ £ £
1,301,688 33,680,331
- (15,758)
- 170,252
1,301,688 33,834,825
(34,475) (536,937)
- (294)
- (1,351,234)
304,641 494,088
270,166 (1,393,477)
(1,251,234) (34.622,675)
(287,565) 290,725
(1,538,799) (34,331,950)
33,055 (1,890,602)
626,520 2,517,122

659,575

626,520

-13-



EBiX EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

11

1.2

1.3

1.4

Accounting policies

Company Information

Ebix Europe Limited is a private company limited by shares incorporated in England and Wales. The
registered office is Walsingham House, 35 Seething Lane, London, EC3N 4AH. The company's principal
activities and nature of its operations are disclosed in the directors’ report.

Accounting convention

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as adopted for use in the European Union and with those parts of the Companies Act
2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS, {except as otherwise stated).

The company is a private company, limited by shares. It is domiciled in England and is incorporated in
England and Wales.

The financial statemenis are prepared in sterling, which is the functional currency of the company.
Monetary amounts in these financial statements are rounded to the nearest £.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.

The company has taken advantage of the exemption under section 401 of the Companies Act 2006 not to
prepare consolidated accounts. The financial statements present information about the company as an
individual entity and not about its group.

Ebix Europe Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Ebix Inc, of 1 Ebix Way, Johns Creek, Georgia,
30097, USA, and the results of Ebix Europe Limited are included in the consolidated financial statements
of Ebix Inc which are available from Companies House.

Going concern

The directors have at the time of approving the financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the
company has adeguate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus the
directors continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements.

Revenue

The revenue from membership and licence fees invoiced in advance is initially deferred and then
recognised in the period to which it relates. Revenue from transaction fees crystallise upon the earlier of
the inception date of the contract to which it relates, or the date of acceptance, and is recognised when
invoiced retrospectively. Revenue from development project fees invoiced in advance is recognised over
the anticipated period of delivery, whilst the balance is invoiced and recognised upon completion of the
project.

Intangible assets other than goodwill
Amortisation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets less their residual values over
their useful lives on the following bases:

Development Costs: 5 years straight line

14 -



EBIX EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

1.5

1.6

1.7

Accounting policies {Continued)

Property, plant and equipment
items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets. The cost of self-
constructed assets include the cost of material and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to
bringing the assets to working condition for their intended use, the costs of dismantling and removing the
items and restoring the site on which they are located and capitalised borrowing costs. Purchased software
that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of the equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets less their residual values over
their useful lives on the following bases:

Leasehold improvement Over the period of the lease
Furniture and fixtures 3 years straight line
Office and computer equipment 3 years straight line
Right of use asset QOver the period of the lease

The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the sale
proceeds and the carrying value of the asset, and is recognised in the income statement.

Non-current investments

Interests in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlied entities are initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. The investments are assessed
for impairment at each reporting date and any impairment losses or reversals of impairment losses are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

At each reporting end date, the company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

-15-



EBIX EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

1.8

1.9

Accounting policies (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash fiows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated 1o be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the camrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unif) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank cverdrafls. Bank overdrafis are
shown within borrowings in current liabilities.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised in the company's statement of financial position when the company
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are classified into specified
categories, depending on the nature and purpose of the financial assets.

At initial recognition, financial assels classified as fair value through profit and loss are measured at fair
value and any transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss. Financial assets not classified as fair value
through profit and loss are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset is held for frading. This is the case if:

» the asset has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term, or

+ on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the company
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit taking, or

» itis a derivative that is not designated and effeclive as a hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or
interest earmned on the financial asset. Interest and dividends are included in 'Investment income’ and gains
and losses on remeasurement included in ‘other gains and losses’ in the statement of comprehensive
Income.

-16-



EBIX EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

1 Accounting policles {Continued)

Financial assets held at amortised cost
Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates that the Company has the
positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held to maturity investments.

Held to maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any
impairment, with revenue recognised on an effective yield basis.

The effective interest method is @ method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of
allocating the interest income over the relevant pericd. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the debt instrument to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Trade Receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.

Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the
recognition of interest would be immaterial. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating the interest income over the relevant pericd. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the debt instrument to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Debt instruments are classified as financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income where the financial assets are held within the company’'s husiness model whose objective is
achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and the contractual terms of
the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt instrument measured at fair value through other comprehensive income is recognised initially at fair
value plus transaction costs directly attributable to the asset. After initial recognition, each asset is
measured at fair value, with changes in fair value included in other comprehensive income. Accumulated
gains or losses recognised through other comprehensive income are directly transferred to profit or loss
when the debt instrument is derecognised.

Financial assets classified as available for sale are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising
from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income. Where an AFS financial asset is
disposed of or determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss.

Dividends and interest eamed on AFS financial assets are included in the investment income line item in
the statement of comprehensive income.

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those measured at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators
of impairment at each reporting end date.

Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment
have been affected.
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1.10

1.11

1.12

1.13

Accounting policies {Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

Financial assets are derecognised only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to another
entity.

Financial liabilities

The company recognises financial debt when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the mstruments. Financial liabilities are classified as either 'financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss' or 'other financial liabilities'.

Financial liabilities at falr value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at fair value through profit or loss when the financial liability
is held for trading. A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

= it has been incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term, or

= on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the company
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of shori-term profit taking, or

- it is a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effeclive hedging
instrument,

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value with any gains or losses arising
on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, trade payables and other short-term monetary liabilities, are
initially measured at fair value net of transaction costs directly attributable to the issuance of the financial
liability. They are subsequently measured al amortised cost using the effective interest method. For the
purposes of each financial liability, interest expense includes initial transaction costs and any premium
payable on redemption, as well as any interest or coupon payable while the liability is outstanding.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are derecognised when, and only when, the company's obligations are discharged,
cancelled, or they expire.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
Dividends payable on equity instruments are recognised as liabilities once they are no longer at the
discretion of the company.

Derivatives

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to fair value at each reporting end date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in
which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

A derivative with a posilive fair value is recognised as a financial asset, whereas a derivative with a
negative fair value is recognised as a financial liability. A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or
liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be
realised or setiled within 12 months. Other derivatives are classified as current.

Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
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1.14

1.15

1.16

Accounting policies {Continued)

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year, Taxable profit differs from net profit as
reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The company’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
reporting end date.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is the fax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting end date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income
statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred
tax is also dealt with in equity. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the company has a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate
to taxes levied by the same tax authority.

Employee benefits
The costs of short-term empioyee benefits are recognised as a liability and an expense, unless those costs
are required to be recognised as part of the cost of inventories or non-current assets.

The cost of any unused holiday entitiement is recognised in the period in which the employee’s services
are received.

Termination benefits are recognised immediately as an expense when the company is demonstrably
committed to terminate the employment of an employee or to provide termination benefits.

Retirement benefits
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due.

L eases

At inception, the company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease within the scope of IFRS
16. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Where a tangible asset is acquired through a
lease, the company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date.
Right-of-use assets are included within property, plant and equipment, apart from those that meet the
definition of investment property.
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117

Accounting policies {Continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date plus any initial direct costs
and an estimate of the cost of obligations to dismantle, remove, refurbish or restore the underlying asset
and the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement
date to the earier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The
estimated useful fives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of other property,
plant and equipment. The right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and
adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease hability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are unpaid at the
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be
readily determined, the company's incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments included in the
measurement of the lease liability comprise fixed payments, variable tease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, and the cost of any
options that the company is reasonably certain to exercise, such as the exercise price under a purchase
option, lease payments in an optional renewal period, or penalties for early termination of a lease.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when
there is a change in: future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate; the company's
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; or the company's
assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination aption. When the lease liability
is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.

The company has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases of
machinery that have a lease term of 12 months or less, or for leases of low-value assets including IT
equipment. The payments associated with these leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

When the company acts as a lessor, leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially alt the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessees, over the major part of the
economic fife of the asset. All other leases are classified as operating leases. If an arrangement contains
lease and non-lease components, the company applies IFRS 15 to allocate the consideration in the
contract. When the company is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and
the sub-lease separately, classifying the sub-lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the
head lease instead of the underlying asset.

Foreign exchange

Transactions in currencies other than pounds sterling are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. At each reporting end date, monetary assets and liabilities that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the reporting end date. Gains
and losses arising on translation in the period are included in profit or loss.
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2  Critical accounting estimates and judgements

In the application of the company's accounting policies, the directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the camrying amount of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised, if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The estimates and assumptions which have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amount of assets and liabilities are outlined below.

The costs of developing a new software were capitalised in 2015. The directors need to estimate the useful
economic life of this asset, over which the costs will be amortised. They originally decided to amortise the
cost of development over a five year period on a straight line basis and, having reviewed this, they still
believe this to be appropriate.

The directors have also considered whether the intangible asset is impaired. The method they have
employed is to compare the carrying value of the asset with the present value of future cash flows
generated by the asset. Based on this review, the directors are satisfied that the asset is not impaired.

Similarly, the directors need to estimate the useful economic life of tangible assets and the appropriate
level of depreciation. Based on past experience, the bases used are considered to be reasonable.

The directors made a critical estimate and judgement as to the likelihood and value of future profits in order
to recognise a deferred tax asset. This is based on current contracts in place and known turnover for the
next 10 years. A 10 year forecast has been used to base the estimate on reasonable assumptions.

3 Revenue

An analysis of the company's revenue is as foliows:

2020 2019
£ £
Revenue analysed by class of business
Professional and consuliting services 10,243,592 11,503,257
2020 2019
£ £
Other significant revenue
Interest income 304,641 494 088
Rental income arising from investment properties 140,350 140,350

Other operating income arises from the sub-lease of the rented property. Since this is not considered to be
part of the main revenue generating activities, the company presents this income separately from normal
revenue.
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4  Operating profit

Operating profit for the year is stated after charging/(crediting):
Exchange losses

Fees payable to the company's auditor for the audit of the company's
financial statements

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
(Profit¥loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets (included within administrative expenses)

5  Auditor's remuneration
Fees payable lo the company's auditor and associales:
For audit services

Audit of the financial statements of the company
Audit of the financial statements of group companies

6 Employees

30,000

2020 2019

£ £
1,221,632 709,707
20,000 18,000
355,653 325,549
- 294
373.279 373,278
2020 2019

£ £
20,000 18,000
10,000 10,000
28,000

The average monthly number of persons (including directors) employed by the company during the year

was;

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Pension costs

2020 2019
Number Number
46 43

2020 2019

£ £
2,883,107 2,942 820
346,708 331,320
57,265 50,030
3,287.080 3,324,170
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7 Investment income

Interast income
Bank deposits
Other interest income

Total interest revenue

2020
£

1.271
303,370

304,641

2019
£

6,946
438,042

494,988

Total interest income for financial assets that are not held at fair value through profit or loss is £1,271 (2019

- £6,946).

8 Finance costs

Other interest payable
9 Income tax expense
Current tax
UK corporation tax on profits for the current period
Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of temporary differences

Total tax charge

2020
£

(121,168)

322,851

201,683
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10

Income tax expense {Continued)
The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the income statement as follows:
2020 2019
£ £
Profit before taxation 563,470 1,060,769
Expected tax charge based on a corporation tax rate of 19.00% (2019:
19.00%) 107,059 201,546
Effect of expenses not deductible in determining taxable profit 33.680 62,835
Income not taxable - (167,724)
Adjustment in respect of prior years - (11,735)
Double tax relief - (72,725)
Permanent capital allowances in excess of depreciation {25,817) -
Research and development tax credit (34,278) -
Utilisation of tax losses (57,039) (96,657)
Deferred tax movement 235,912 446,328
48 -
Taxation charge for the year 259,565 361,868
Tax charged in the financial statements 201,683 361,868
Please review figures in the database. The tax charge does not
reconcile by: 57,882 -

The company has trading losses of £17,637,532 (2019: £17,937,792 ) to be carried forward against profits

in future years.

This gives rise to a deferred tax asset of £1,937,105 (2019: £2,259,956) which has been recognised in the
accounts. The deferred tax asset is split between recoverable in one year of £228,000 (2019: £228,000)

and in more than one year of £1,709,105 (2019: £2,031,956)

Intangible assets

Cost
At 1 January 2019

At 31 December 2019

At 31 December 2020

Developmaent
costs

£
1,866,391
1,866,391

1,866,391
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10

11

Intangible assets

Amortisation and impairment

At 1 January 2019
Charge for the year

At 31 December 2019
Charge for the year

At 31 December 2020

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2019

At 31 December 2018

(Continued)

Development
costs

£

1,119,834
373.278

1,493,112
373,279

1,866,391

373,279

746,557

These development costs are in relation to software that was developed during 2015 which has been
licensed on an agreement commencing in 2016 and expected to last five years or more.

At the end of 2015, the development costs were being carried at historic cost. Amortisation commenced in
2016 with the licence coming into effect. Amortisation will be charged over five years, on a straight line
basis. The charge is included in administration expenses in the Statement of Comprehensive income.

The development costs of the product that have been charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income

total £2,717,459 (2019: £2,717 ,459).

Property, plant and equipment

Cost

At 1 January 2019
Additions
Disposals

At 31 December 2019
Additions

At 31 December 2020

Leasehold Furniture and Office and Right of use Total
improvement fixtures computer asset
equipment
£ £ £ E £
522,030 157,468 208,046 - 888,544
3,400 1.556 38,5660 493,421 536,937
- - (2,608) - (2.608)
525,430 169,024 244,998 493,421 1,422,873
- - 34,475 - 34,475
525,430 159,024 279,473 493 421 1,457,348
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1"

12

Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold Furniture and

-Ofﬂi:e, _agfd. Right of use

(Continued)

Total

improvement fixtures computer asset
equipment:
£ £ £ £ £
Accumulated daepreciation and
impairment
At 1 January 2019 404,668 151,548 140,298 - 696,514
Charge for the year 57,966 2,647 28,516 236,420 325,549
Eliminated on disposal - - {2,608) - (2,608)
At 31 December 2019 462,634 154,195 166,206 236,420 1,019,455
Charge for the year 57,966 1,435 47,559 248,693 355,653
At 31 December 2020 520,600 155,630 213,765 485113 1,375,108
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2020 4,830 3,394 65,708 8,308 82,240
At 31 December 2019 62,796 4,829 78,792 257,001 403,418
At 31 December 2018 117,362 5,920 68,748 - 192,030
Investments
Current Non-current
2020 2019 2020 2019
£ £ £ £
investments in subsidiaries - - 1,351,234

1,351,234

The company has not designated any financial assets that are not classified as held for trading as financial

assels at fair value through profit or loss.

Fair value of financial assets carried at amortised cost

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets carried at amortised cost in the

financial statements approximate to their fair values.
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EBIX EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

14 Trade and other receivables

Current
2020 2019
£ £
Trade receivables 487,855 658,128
Provision for bad andg doubtful debts (30,806) (30,806)
457,049 627,322
Other receivables 577,718 591,502
Corporation tax recoverable 180,412 -
Amounts due from fellow group undertakings 12,032,423 12,156,105
Prepayments and accrued income 165,839 161,377
13,413,441 13,536,306

Trade receivables disclosed above are classified as loans and receivables and are therefore measured
at amortised cost.

15 Trade receivables - credit risk

Fair value of trade receivables

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables is approximately equal to
their fair value.

No significant receivable balances are impaired at the reporling end date.

Movement in the allowances for doubtful debts 2020 2019

Balance at 1 January 2020 and at 31
December 2020 30,806 30,806

16 Borrowings

2020 2019
£ £

Borrowings held at amortised cost:
Loans from fellow group undertakings - 1,251,234

17 Trade and other payables

2020 2019
£ £
Trade payables 307,763 296,231
Amounts owed to fellow group undertakings 24,161 -
Accruals 1,006,498 932,529
Social security and other taxation 487,977 586,989

1,826,399 1,815,749
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18

19

20

21

Lease liabilities

2020 2019
Maturity analysis £ £
Within one year 1,368 287,499
in two to five years 1,792 3,226
Total undiscounted liabilities 3,160 290,725

Lease liabilities are classified based on the amounts that are expected to be settled within the next 12
months and after more than 12 months from the reporting date, as follows:

2020 2019

£ £

Current liabilities 1,368 287,499
Non-current liabilities 1,792 3,226
3,160 290,725

Deferred taxation

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the company and movements
thereon during the current and prior reporting period.

The company has trading losses of £47,637,532 (2019: £17,937,742) to be carried forward against profits
in future years.

This gives rise to a deferred tax asset of £1,937,106 (2019: £2,259,956) which has been recognised in the

accounts. The deferred tax asset is split between recoverable in ohe year of £228,000 (2019: £228,000)
and in more than one year of £1,709,106 (2019: £2,031,956)

Retiremeant henefit schemes

Defined contribution schemes
The company operates a defined contribution pension scheme for all qualifying employees. The assets of
the scheme are held separately from those of the company in an independently administered fund.

The total costs charged to income in respect of defined contribution plans is £57,265 (2019 - £50,030).

Share capital 2020 2019
£ £

Issued and fully paid

29,916,903 Ordinary shares of £1 each 29,916,903 29,916,903

Each share is entifled to one vote and ranks pari passu in case of distribution and repayment of capital.
The share capital is non redeemable.
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22 Share premium account

23

2020 2019
£ £
At the beginning and end of the year 8,393,140 8,393,140

Other leasing information

Lessor

Within the companies leases is a property which they rent for operation. The company sublease one floor
of this. At the reporting end date the total future minimum sublease payments expected to be received
under non-cancellable subleases was £nil of which is all due in one year

At the reporting end date the company had contracted with tenants for the following minimum lease
sublease payments:

2020 2019
£ £
One to two years - 175,590

Information relating to fease liabilities is included in note 18.
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24 Capital risk management

The company's aclivities expose it to a variety of financial risk including credit risk, liquidity risk and market
risk. The company's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markeis and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the company’s financial performance. Risk
management is earned out by the senior management under policies approved by the Board of Directors.
The Board provides principle for overall risk management, as well as palicies covering specific areas, such
as credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk.

(i} Credit risk

With respect to credit risk arising from the financial assets of the Company, including bank baiances, the
company's exposure to credit risk arising from default of the counterpart, with a maximum exposure equal
to the carrying amount of these instruments credit contral procedures and account reconciliations are used
to manage the trade and other receivables, and bank balance.

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure
to credit risk at the reporting date was:

2020 201
£] £
Trade receivables 457,049 627,322
Other receivables 2,623,458
ank balances 659,575 626,520
The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date was:
2020 201
£
[Not past due 305,693 539,11
ast due 0 — 30 days 22,732 1,7
Past due 31 — 90 days 118,741 87,827
Over 90 days 40,688 -11,403

impairment losses

There was an impairment in trade receivables of £30,806 due to a provision for a bad debt.
There was no impairment in other receivables.

(it) Liquidity risk

Trade payables are normally settled within 50 days or agreed terms from the date of purchase.

All financial liabilities will mature within 12 months from the end of the reporting period.
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24 Capital risk management {Continued)

25

(iiiy Market risk
a) Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates. The company's foreign currency denominated receivables and payables are mainly
denominated in USD and EUR. The total of the bank balances at 31 December 2020 was USD 98 and
EUR 59.

The currency risk is mitigated by holding USD in a USD denominated bank account and converting to GBP
when the exchange rate is favourable.

b) interest rate risk

Interest rate risk reflects risk of a change in interest rates, which might affect future earnings. At 31
December 2020, the company did not have interest rate sensitive liabilities in the form of an interest
bearing loan,

(iv) Equity price risk
The company is not exposed to equity risk since it does not hold any investment in equify instruments.
(v) Fair values

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settied between
knowledgeable willing parties on an arm's length basis. Differences can therefore arise between the book
values under the historical cost method and fair value estimates.

Underlying the definition of fair value is a presumption that an enterprise is a going concern without any
intention or need to liquidate, curtail materially the scale of its operations, or undertake a transaction on
adverse terms.

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities is not materiality different from their carrying values at the
reporting date.

The company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements,

Related party transactions

Remuneration of key management personnef
The remuneration of key management personnel, including directors, is set out below in aggregate for each
of the categories specified in IAS 24 Related Parly Disclosures.

Other transactions with related parties

Related parties represent Ebix Singapore Pte Limited, the parent company, as well as Ebix Inc., the
ultimate parent company. Ebix Latin America and Ebix Dubai are sister companies of Ebix Europe Limited.
In addition, the directors and key management personnel of the group are also considered to be related
parties. Pricing policies of these transactions are approved by the group’s management.
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25

26

27

28

Related party transactions

{Continued)

Management charges paid

2020
£

Parent company 2,493,539

2019
£

4,484,608

Controlling party

The company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Ebix Singapore Pte Limited, a company incorporated in
Singapore, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Ebix Inc, a company incorporated in United States.

Therefore Ebix Inc is the ultimate parent company.

There is no ultimate controlling party.

Capital Management

The company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in business
conditions and shareholders' expectation. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes

during the year ended 31 December 2020.

Cash generated from operations

2020 2019
£ £

Profit for the year after tax 361,787 698,901
Adjustments for:
Taxation charged 201,683 361,868
Finance costs - 15,758
Investment income {304,641) (494,988)
(Gain)oss on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 294
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 373,279 373,278
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment 355,653 325,549
Movements in working capital:
Decrease in trade and other receivables 303,277 32,848,827
Increasef/(decrease) in trade and other payables 10,650 (449,156)
Cash generated from operations 1,301,688 33,680,331
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SAFE HARBOR REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

As used herein, the terms "Ehix,” “the Company,” "we,” “our” and “us’” refer to Ebix, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its
consolidated subsidiaries as a combined entity, except where it is clear that the terms mean only Ebix, Inc.

This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements and information within the “safe harbor” provisions of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Acl of 1933, and Section 21E of the Securitics
Exchange Act of 1934. These forward-looking statements include staterments regarding future economic conditions, operational
performance and financial condition, liquidity and capital resources, acceptance of the Company's products by the market,
potential acquisitions and management's plans and objectives. Words such as “may,” “could,” “should,” “would,” “believe,”
“expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “intend,” “seek,” “plan,” “project,” “continue,” *“predict,” “will,” and other words or
expressions of similar meaning are intended by the Company to identify forward-looking statcments, although not all forward-
looking statements conlain these identifying words. Lhese slalements are based on our current expectations about futurc events
or results and information that is currently available to us, involve assumptions, risks, and uncertainties, and speak only as of
the date on which such statements are made.

ELITY EERT [EITS M

Our actual results may differ materially from those expressed ar implied in these forward-looking statements. Factors
that may cause such a difference, include, but are not limited to:

+ the willingness of independent insurance agencies to outsource their computer and other processing needs to
third parties;

= our ability to raisc additional financing to support our capital requircments;

« the impact of restrictive covenants in our senior secured syndicated credit facility;

«  our ability to make new business acquisitions and integrate such acquired businesses into our operations;

+ pricing and other competitive pressures and the Company's ability to gain or maintain share of sales as a
result of actions by competitors and others;

«  our ability to develop new products and respond to rapid technological changes;

+  disruptions in internet connections and the protection of information transmitted over the internet;

» changes in estimates in critical accounting judgments;

+ the effective protection of our intellectual property;

«  changes in or failure to comply with Jaws and regulations, including accounting standards,

+  taxation requirements {including tax rate changcs, new tax laws and revised tax interpretations) in domestic or
foreign jurisdictions;

+ exchange rate fluctuations and other risks associated with investments and operations in foreign countries
{particularly in Singapore, Australia and India wherein we have significant operations);

«  volatility in equity markets, including market disruptions and significant interest rate fluctuations, which may
impede our access to, or increase the cost of, external financing; and

« international conflict, including terrorist acts.

These and other risks are described in more detail in Part T Ttem 1A, "Risk Factors", as well as in other reports
subsequently filed with the SEC.

Except as expressly required by the federal securities laws, the Company undertakes no obligation to update any such
factors, or to publicly announce the results of, or changes to any of the forward-looking statements contained herein, to reflect
future events, developments or changed circumstances, or for any other rcason.

Readers should carefully revicw the disclosures and the risk factors described in this and other documents we file from
time to time with the SEC, including future reports on Forms 10-Q) and 8-K, and any amendments thereto.

You may obtain our SEC filings at our website, www.ebix.com under the “Investor Information” section, or over the
internct at the SEC's web site, www.sec.gov.
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PART1

Item 1. BUSINESS
Caompany Overview

Ebix, Inc. (“Ebix”, the “Company,” “we” or “our”), a Delaware corporation, was founded in 1976 as Delphi Systems,
Inc. In December 2003, the Company changed its name to Ebix, Inc. The Company is listed on the Nasdaq Global Market
("Nasdaq").

The Company has its worldwide headquarters in Johns Creek, (Georgia, and also has domestic and internaticnal
operations spread across over 50 offices. The countrics in which the Company has operating facilitics and offices, include,
among others, Australia, Brazil, Canada, India, Indonesia, New Zcaland, Philippines, Singapore, the United Kingdom ("U.K."),
United Arab of Emirates and the United States of America ("Unitcd States" or "U.S."). In these locations, Ebix employs skilled
technology and business professionals who provide products, services, support and consultancy services to thousands of
customers in approximately 70 countries across six continents.

The Company’s technology vision is to focus on the convergence of all insurance and financial exchange chanrels,
processes and entities for seamless data flow. The Company's products feature fully customizable and scalable on-demand
software designed to streamline the way insurance professionals manage distribution, marketing, sales, customer service, and
accounting activities.

Ebix's goal is to be a leading facilitator of insurance and financial transactions in the world. The Company strives to
work collaboratively with clients to develop innovative technology strategies and solutions that address specific business
challenges and requirements. Ebix combines the newest technologies with its capabilities in consulting, systems design and
integration, IT and business process outsourcing, applications software, and web and application hosting to meet the individual
needs of organizations. In the Insurance sector, the Company’s main focus is to develop and deploy a wide variety of insurance
and reinsurance exchanges on an on-demand basis, while also providing Software-as-a-Service ("SaaS") enterprise solutions in
the area of customer relationship management ("CRM"), front-end & back-end systems, outsourced administrative and risk
compliance.

The Company’s EbixCash Exchanges (“EbixCash™) division has developed into an integral and leading source of our
revenue and profits. With a "Phygital” strategy that combines over 320,000 physical distribution outlets in India and many
Associations of Southeast Asian Nations {“ASEAN") countries, to an Omni-channel online digital platform, the Company’s
EbixCash Financial exchange portfolio encompasses leadership in the areas of domestic & international money remittance,
foreign exchange (Forex), travel, pre-paid & gift cards, utility payments, software solutions for lending and wealth
management, etc. in India and other markets. EbixCash’s Forex operations have emerged as a leader in India’s airport Forex
business with operations in 20 intemational airports, including Delhi, Mumbai, Hyderabad, Chennai and Kolkata, combined
conducting over §4.8 billion in gross transaction value per year {pre-COVID-19). EbixCash’s inward remittance business in
India processes approximately 35 billion in gross annual remittance volume (pre-COVID-19) and is the clear market lcader.
EbixCash, through its travel portfolio of Via and Mercury, is onc of Southeast Asia’s leading travel exchanges, with over
200,000 agents, 25 branches and over 9,800 corporate clients, combined processing an estimated $2.5 billion in gross
merchandisc value per annum (pre-COVID-19).

The Company’s E-learning solutions are provided to schools across the breadth of India with the goal of educating
students in classrooms through high quality 2-D and 3-D animation and multimedia learning.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, approximately 91% of Ebix revenues came from EbixCash and Insurance
Exchanges. International revenue accounted for 73.4% and 68.6% of the Company’s total revenue for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Acquisition & Integration Strategy

While not entirely critical to our future prefitability or liquidity, the Company views acquisitions as an integral parl of
its growth strategy, an efficient way to further expand its reach, and an cffective utilization of the operating cash generated from
the Company's busincss. We are strategic and selective when making acquisitions. We look to make complementary accretive
acquisitions as and when the Company has sufficient liquidity, stable cash [lows, and, if necessary, access lo [nancing at
attractive interest rates.
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The Company seeks to acquire businesses that complement Ebix's cxisting products and services. Any acquisition
made by Ebix typically will fall into one of two different categories: (i) the acquired company has products and/or services that
are competitive to our existing products and services; or (ii) the acquired company’s products and services are either a
complement (o or an exiension of our existing products and services or our core business competencies.

In cases where an acquired company's products and services are compelitive to our cxisting products and services,
upon acquisition, the Company immediately strives towards the goal of providing a single product or service in the functional
arca with a conmmon code base around the world, rather than having multiple products addressing the same need. In each case,
the Company immediately works towards assimilating the best of breed functionality on a common architecture. The
Company’s goal remains to provide easy-to-use solutions for our customer base, while ensuring that any product or service
integrates scamlessly with other existing or outside functionalities. Regardless of whether the acquired company's product/
service is retired, or the existing Ebix product/service is retired, the Company is focused on maximizing operational cfficiency
for our business while creating cutting-edge products and services that make future product sales more robust and maintenance
more efficient.

Once an acquisition is conswmmated, the infrastructure, human resources, salcs, product management, development,
and other common functions are integrated with our existing operations to ensure that efficiencies are maximized and
redundancies eliminated. We generally do not maintain scparate sales, development, product management, implementation or
quality contro] functions following the closing of any acquisition. The Company integrates and, where appropriate, centralizes
certain key functions, such as product development, information technology, marketing, sales, finance, administration, and
quality assurance, immediately after an acquisition to ensure that the Company can maximize cost efficiencies. Simultaneously
with the integration of any acquired company, the Company's resources and infrastructure are leveraged to work across multiple
functions, products and services, making It neither practical nor feasible to precisely track and disclose separately the specific
eamings impact from the business combinations we have executed after they have been acquired. Consequently, the concept of
“acquisitive growth” versus “organic growth” becomes obscured given the dynamics and underlying operating principals of
Ebix's acquisition, integration, and growth strategy. This tactic is a key part of our business strategy that facilitates high levels
of efficiency, operating income margins and consistent end-to-end vision for our business. Our plan is to make niche
acquisitions in the insurance, international financial exchange, e-learning, and healthcare sectors, integrate them seamlessly into
the Company and make them efficient by implementing Ebix’s standardized processes, with the goal of increasing operating
profits and cash flows for the Company.

In many of the acquisitions made by the Company there¢ are contingent consideration terms associated with the
achievement of certain designated revenue targets for the acquired Company. This structure allows us to follow through with
our integration strategy, while enabling the acquired company to be eligible for revenue-based contingent purchase
consideration. Accordingly, we are able to maximize operational productivity while allowing the principals of the acquired
company to maximize the potential economics from the sale process.

The Company's integration strategies are largeled at improving the efficiency of our business, centralizing key
functions, cxercising better control over our operations, and providing consistent technology and product vision across all
functions, entitics and products. This is a key part of cur business philosophy designed to enable Ebix to operate at a high level
of efficiency and facilitate a consistent end-to-end strategic vision for the industries we serve.

Recent Strategic Business Acquisitions
During the year ended December 31, 2020 the Company completed two business acquisitions, as follows:

Trimax- Effective May 4, 2020, Ebix acquired from bankruptcy India-based Trimax, which provides IT and
intcgration services to state-owned transport corporations, operates data centers, and is an IT infrastructure solution provider,
far approximately $9.9 million of upfront consideration. Additionally, Ebix issued preferred shares in Trimax to the selling
shareholders that can be sold five years from the closing of the acquisition based on an independent valuation performed by
Big 4 valuation firm. The maximum potential value of the preferred shares is approximately $9.9 million. The valuation and
purchase price allocation remains preliminary and will be finalized as soon as practicable but in no event longer than one year
Trom the effective date of this transaction.

AssureEdge- Effective October 1, 2020 the Company acquired a 70% interest in AssureEdge Global Services
(“AssureEdge”) for a total purchase price of approximately $5.0 million, including net working capital acquired. AssureEdge is
pan-India based business process outsourcing {"BPO") company, with a variety of BPO offerings via six contact centers across
India. Tt serves a number of industries and clicnts that have cross-selling value for EbixCash services. The valuation and
purchase price allocation remains preliminary and will be finalized as soon as practicable but in no event longer than one year
from the effective date of this transaction.
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During the year ended December 31, 2019 the Company completed three business acquisitions, as follows:

Wallstreet Canada - Effective August 23, 2019, Ebix acquired Canada-based Wall Street Finance (Canada) Ltd.
("Wallstreet Canada™), a foreign cxchange and outward remittance service provider, for approximately $2.1 million of upfront
consideration inclusive of net acquired working capital.

Essel Forex - Effective January 1, 2019, Ebix acquired the assets of India-based Hssel Forex Limited ("Essel Forex"),
for approximately $8.7 million, plus possible future contingent eam-out payments of up to $721 thousand based on revenucs.
Ebix funded the entire transaction in cash using its internal cash reserves. Essel Forex is a large provider of foreign exchange
services in India with a wide spectrum of related products, including sales of all major currencies, travelers’ checks, demand
drafts, remittances, money transfers and prepaid cards primarily for corporate clients. The earn-cut period expired on
December 31, 2019 and the acquired business did not meet the requisite revenue target, so no earn out payment was duc or
paid.

Zillious - Effective January 1, 2019, Ebix acquired an 80% controlling stake in India-based Zillious Solutions Private
Limited ("Zillious") for $10.1 miilion plus possible future contingent eam-out payments of up te $2.2 million based on agreed
to milestones in the acquisition agreement. Zillious is an on-demand SaaS travel technology solution in the corporate travel
segment in India. The Company determined that the fair valuc of the contingent earn-out consideration was zecro as of
September 30, 2020 and at December 31, 2020.

Industry Overview

The insurance and financial indusiry markets have initiatives to reduce paper-based processes and facilitate
efficiencics of both the back-end and the consumer-end (front-end) sides of processes. This evolution has involved all industry
constituents and is directly impacting the manner in which various products arc distributed. Management believes that both
industries will continue to experience significant change and increased efficiencies through oniine exchanges as reduced paper-
based processes arc becoming increasingly a norm across world markets.

Products and Services

The Company reports as a single segment, The Company’s revenues arc derived from three product/service groups.
Presented in the table below is the breakout of our revenue streams for each of those product/service groups for the years ended
December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018:

For the Year Ended
December 31,
(In thousands) 2020 2019 2018
EbixCash Exchanges 388,293 319,953 217,457
Tnsurance Exchanges 178,111 190,067 192,604
Risk Compliance Solutions 59,205 70,595 87,765
Totals $ 625,609 § 580,615 § 497826

Information on the geographic dispersion of the Company’s revenues and long-lived assets is furnished in Note 14 to
the consolidated financial statements, included in Part IT Ttem 8 of this Form 10-K. Sec Item 1A (Risk Factors) for discussion of
certain risks rclated to our foreign operations,

The Company’s product and service strategy focuses orn: (a) expansion of connectivity between all entities via its
EbixCash and EbixExchange family of products in the financial, foreign currency exchange, travel, life, health, workers
compensation, risk management, annuity and property and casualty ("P&C") sectors; (b) worldwide sales and support of P&C
back-cnd insurance and broker management systems; (c¢) worldwide sale, customization, development, implementation and
support of its P&C back-end insurance carrier system platforms; (d) risk compliance solution services, which include insurance
certificate origination, certificate tracking, claims adjudication call cenler, consulting services and back office support; and (e)
c-governance/e-learning solutions in emerging world markets. Ebix also provides software development, customization, and
consulting scrvices to a variety of entities in the insurance industry, including carriers, brokers, exchanges and standards-
making bodies.
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Ebix’s revenue streams come from three product/service channels, as discussed in the following paragraphs. The
Company derives its revenues primarily from our financial transaction fees, software subscription and transaction fees, software
license fees, risk compliance solution services fees, and professional service fees, including associated fees for consulting,
implementation, training, and project management provided to customers with instalied systems and applications.

EbixCash Exchanges ("EbixCash™)

EbixCash revenucs arc primarily derived from the sales of prepaid gift cards and consideration paid by customers for
financial transaction services, including services like transferring or exchanging money. The significant majority of EbixCash
revenue Js for a single performance obligation and is recognized at a point in time. These revenucs vary by transaction based
upon channel, send and reccive locations, the principal amount sent, whether the money transfer involves different send and
receive currencies, and speed of service, as applicable.

EbixCash also offers several other services, including payment services and ticketing and travel services for which
reveme is impacted by varying factors. EbixCash acts as the principal in most transactions and reports revenue on a gross basis,
as EbixCash controls the service at all times prior o transfer to the customer, is primarily responsible for fullilling the customer
contracts, has the risk of loss, and has the ability to establish transaction prices.

The main services from which EbixCash derives revenue are as follow:
Gifi Cards

EbixCash sells general purpose prepaid gift cards to carporate customers and consumers that can be later redeemed at
various merchants. The gift cards arc co-branded between EbixCash and its card-issuing banking partner(s) and are affiliated
with major payment associations such as VISA, Mastercard, and Rupay. The gift cards are sold 1o a diversified set of corporate
customers from various industries, The gift cards are used by corporate customers to disburse incentives to the end users,
which arc primarily their employees, agents and business associates. The gift cards sold by EbixCash are not reloadable,
cannot be used al ATMs or for any other cash-out or funds transfer transactions, and are subject to maximum limits per card
(currently INR 10,000 or approximately $140). Gift cards issucd by EbixCash are valid for a period of 15 months from the date
of issuance for virtual cards and three years for physical cards. EbixCash has cntered into arrangements with banks and
financial institutions to settle payments to merchants based on utilization of the gift cards.

The Company has end-to-end responsibilitics related to the gift cards sold, from the activation and ongoing utilization
of the gift cards to customer service responsibilities to risk of loss due to fraud on the gift cards sold. EbixCash acts a principal
in the sale of gift cards and, thus, gift card revenue is recognized on a gross basis (full purchase value at the time of sale) with
the corresponding cost of the gifi cards recorded as cost of services provided. Unredeemed gili cards at December 31, 2020 are
not significant to the financial results of the Company and arc recorded as deferred revenues in the financial results.

EbixCash Travel Exchanges

EbixCash Travel revenues are derived from commissions and transaction fees received from various travel providers
and intcrnational exchanges involved in the sale of travel to the consumer. EbixCash Travel revenue is for a single performance
obligation and is recognized at a point in time. Travel revenues include: (i) reservation commissions, segment fees from global
travel exchange providers, and transaction nct revenues (i.e., the amount charged to travelers less the amount owed to travel
service providers) in connecction with our reservation services; (ii) ancillary fees, including travel insurance-related revenues
and certain reservation booking fees; and (iii) credit card processing rebates and customer processing fees. EbixCash Travel
services include the sale of holel rooms, airline tickets, bus tickets and train tickcts. EbixCash’s Travel revenue is also derived
from ticket sales, wherein the commissions payable to EbixCash Travel, along with any transaction fees paid by travel
providers and travel exchanges, is recognized as revenue after completion of the service. The transaction price on such services
is agreed upon at the time of the purchase.

EbixCash Travel revenue for the corporate MICE (Mecetings, Incentives, Conferences, and Exhibitions) packages is
recognized at full purchase value at the completion of the obligation, with the corresponding costs recorded under direct
expenses. For MICE revenues, EbixCash Travel acts as the principal in transactions and, accordingly, teports revenue an a
gross basis, EbixCash Travel controls the service at all times prior to transfer to the customer, is responsible for fulfiiling the
customer conlracts, has the risk of loss, and has the ability to establish transaction prices.
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EbixCash Money Transfer

For the EbixCash money transfer business, EbixCash has one performance obligation whereupon the customer
engages EbixCash to perform one integrated service. This performance obligation typically occurs instantancously when the
beneficiary entitled to receive the money transferred by the sender visits the EbixCash outlet and collects the money.
Accordingly, EbixCash recognizes revenue upon completion of the following: (i) the customer’s acknowledgment of
EbixCash’s terms and conditions and the receipt of payment information; (i) the money transfer has been processed; (in) the
customer has received a unique transaction identification number; and (iv) funds arc available to be picked up by the
beneficiary. The transaction price is comprised of a iransaction fee and the difference between the exchange ratc sct by
EbixCash to the customer and the rate available in the wholesale foreign exchange market, as applicable, both of which are
readily determinable at the time the transaction is initiated.

Foreign Fxchange and Quiward Remittance Sevvices

For EbixCash’s forcign exchange and payment services, customers agree to terms and conditions for all transactiens,
either at the time of initiating a transaction or signing a contract with EbixCash to provide payment services on the customer’s
behalf. In the majority of EbixCash’s foreign exchange and payment services, EbixCash makes payments to the recipient to
satisfy its performance obligation to the customer, and therefore, EbixCash rccognizes revenue on foreign exchange and
payment when this performance obligation has been fulfilled.

Consumer Payment Services

EbixCash offers several different bill payment services that vary by considerations, including among other factors: (i)
who pays the fee to EbixCash (consumer or hiller); (i1) whether the service is offered to all potential consumers, or only to those
for which EbixCash has a relationship with the biller; and (iii) whether the scrvice utilizes a physical agent network offered for
consumers’ convenicnce, among other factors. The determination of which party is EbixCash’s customer for revenue
recognition purposes is based on these considerations for each of EbixCash’s bill payment services. For all transactions
EbixCash’s customers agree to EbixCash’s terms and conditions, either at the time of initialing a transaction (where the
consumer is determined to be the customcr for revenue recognition purposes) or upen signing a contract with EbixCash to
provide services on the biller’s behalf (where the biller is determined to be the customer for revenue recognition purposes). As
with consumer money transfers, customers engage EbixCash to perform one integrated service - collecting money [rom the
consumer and processing the bill payment transaction. This service provides the billers real-time or near real-time information
regarding their customers’ payments and simplifics the billers” collection efforts. The transaction price on bill payment services
is contractual and determinable. Certain biller agreements may include per-transaction or fixed periodic rebates, which
EbixCash records as a reduction to revenue.

FEbixCash Technology Services

EbixCash also offers on-demand technology to various providers in the area of lending, wealth and asset management,
and travel across the world.

Insurance Exchanges

Insurance [xchanges rcvenucs are primarily derived from consideration paid by customers related to our $aaS
platforms, related services and the licensing of software. A typical contract for our SaaS platform will also include services for
sctup, customization, lransaction processing, maintcnance, and/or hosting, Delermining whether products and services are
considered distinct performance obligations that should be accounted for separately may require significant judgement. Set-up
and customization services, related to our SaaS platforms, are not considered to be distinct from the usage fees associated with
the Saa$ platform and, accordingly, are accounted for as a single performance obligation. These services, along with the usage
or transaction fees, are recognized over the contract duration, which considers the significance of the upfront fees in the context
of the contract and which may, therefore, exceed the initial contracted term.

Contracts generally do not contain a right of return or refund provisions. Our contracts often do contain overage fccs,
contingent fees, or service level penalties which are accounted for as variable consideration. Revenue accounted for as variable
consideration is immaterial and is recognized using the “right to invoice” practical expedient when the invoiced amount equals
the value provided to the customer.

Software-as-a-Service
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The Company allocates the transaction price to each distinet performance obligation using the relative stand-alone
selling price. Determining the stand-alone selling price may require significant judgement. The stand-alone selling price is the
price at which an entity has sold or would sell a promised good or service scparately to a customer. The Company detcrinines
the stand-alone selling price based on observable price of products or services sold scparately in comparable circumstances,
when such observable prices are available. When standalone selling price is not directly obscrvable, the Company estimates the
stand-alone selling price using the market assessment approach hy considering historical pricing and other market factors.

Software Licenses

Software license revenucs atiributable to a software license that is a separate performance obligation are recognized at
the point in time that the customer obtains control of the license.

Subscription Services

Subscription services revenues are associated with performance obligations that are satisfied over specific time periods
and primarily consist of post-contract support services. Revenue is generally recognized ratably aver the contract term. Our
subscription contracts are gencrally for an initial three-year period with subsequent onc-year automatic renewals.

Transaction Fees

Transaction revenue is comprised of fees applied to the volume of transactions that are processed through our SaaS
platforms. These are typically based on a per-transaction rate and are invoiced for the same period in which the transactions
were processed and as the performance obligation is satisfied. The amount invoiced generally equals the value provided to the
customier, and revenue is typically recognized when invoiced using the as-invoiced practical expedient.

Professional Services

Professional service revenue primarily consists of fees for setup, customization, training, or consulting. Professional
service fees are gencrally on a time and materials basis or a fixed fee. Revenues for time and materials are recognized as such
services are rendered while fixed fee revenues are recognized based on the input method driven by the expected hours to
complete the project measured against the actual hours completed to date. Professional services, particularly related to SaaS
platforms, may have significant dcpendencies on the related licensed software and may not be considered a distinct
performance obligation.

Risk Compliance Services ("RCS")

RCS revenues consist of two revenue streams - Certificates of Insurance ("COI") and Consulting Services. COI
revenucs are derived from consideration paid by customers for the creation and tracking of certificates of insurance. These arc
transactional-based revenues. Consulting Services revenues are driven by distinct consulting service engagements rendered to
customers for which revenues are recognized using the output mecthod on a time and material basis as the services arc
performed.

COI Creation and Tracking

The Company provides services to issuc and track certificates of insurance in the U.S. and Australian markets.
Revenue is derived from transaction fecs for each certificate issued or tracked. The Company recognizes revenue at the issuance
of each certificate or over the period the certificate is being tracked.

Consulting Services
The Company provides consulting services to clients around the world for project management and development.
Consulting scrvices fees are generally eamed on either a time and materials or a fixed fee basis. Revenues for time and

materials are recognized using an output method as the services are rendered, while fixed fec revenues are recognized based an
the input method driven by the expected hours to complete the project measured against the actual hours completed to date.

Product Development
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The Company focuscs on maintaining high quality product development standards. Product development activitics
include research and the development of platform and/or client specific software enhancements, such as adding functionality,
improving usefulness, increasing responsiveness, adapting to newer software and hardware technologies, or developing and
maintaining the Company’s wcbsitcs,

The Company has spent $35.3 million, $45.3 million, and $39.1 million during the years ended December 31,
2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, on product development initiatives. The Company’s product development efforts arc
focused on the continued enhancement and redesign of the EbixCash, Insurance Exchange, broker systems, carrier systems, and
RCS product and service lines 1o keep our technology at the cutting edge in the marketls we compete. Development efforts also
provide new technologies for insurance carriers, brokers and agents, and the redesign, coding and development of new services
for international and domestic markets.

Competition

We believe Ebix is the only company worldwide in insurance and financial software markets that provides services
in all three of our above listed revenue channels. Conversely, though, this also mecans that in each of these areas Ebix has
different competitors. In fact, in most of thesc arcas Ebix has a different competitor locally in each region in which it operates.
In our Insurance Exchange and EbixCash operations Ebix often has a different competitor on each line of exchange in each
country, but the scale of these entities is often very limited.

The Company has centralized worldwide product development, intellectual property rights development and
softwarc and system development operations in Dubai, Singapore, and India. With its strong focus on quality, our Indian
opcrations deliver cutting-edge solutions for our customers across the world. India is rich in technical skills and the cost
structurc is significantly lower as compared to the U.S. Ebix continues to ¢cxpand its India operations as a learning center of
excellence, with a strong focus on hiring skilled professionals with expertise in insurance systems and software applications.
This focus on building this knowledge base, combined with the ability to hire more professional resources in India's lower cost
structure, has enabled Ebix to consistently protect its knowledge base and to deliver projects in a cost-effective faghion. The
following is a closer and more detailed discussion of our competition in each of these three main channels.

EhixCash

With a "Phygital” strategy that combincs over 320,000 physical distribution outlets in India and many Associations of
Southeast Asian Nations (“ASEAN™) countries, to an Omni-channel online digital platform, the Company’s EbixCash Financial
exchange portfolio encompasses leadership in the areas of domestic & international money remittance, Forex, travel, pre-paid &
gift cards, utility payments, software solutions for lending and wealth management, etc. in India and other markets. EbixCash’s
Forex operations have emerged as a leader in India’s airport foreign exchange business with operations in 20 international
airports, including Delhi, Mumbai, Hyderabad, Chennai and Kolkata, combined conducting over $4.8 billion in gross
transaction value per year (pre-COVID-19). EbixCash's inward remittance business in India processes approximately $3 billion
in gross annual remittance volumne (pre-COVID-19) and is the clear market leader. EbixCash, through its travel portfolio of Via
and Mercury, is one of Southeast Asia’s leading travel exchanges, with over 200,000 agents, 25 branches and over 9,800
corporate clients, combined processing an estimated $2.5 billion in gross merchandise value per annum (pre-COVID-19).

EbixCash Forex (EbixCash World Money): EbixCash’s Forcx operations have emcrged as a dominant leader in
India’s Forex industry, with operations in 20 international Indian airports and 10 ports serving hundreds of corporate customers,
hotels, Duty Free Shops, temples, educational institutes etc.,

EbixCash World Money is now the largest non-bank foreign exchange operation in India in all business segments,
including the retail, corporate and bank notes businesses. The company holds a more than 30% market share in the student
segment (part of retail), wherein students’ overseas education expenses are processed by EbixCash World Money. EbixCash
World Moncy is the largest non-bank corporate Forex provider in the country with more than 2,200 corporate relationships.
Competition is fragmented and is comprised of banks such as ICICI Bank and HDFC Bank, along with moncy exchange
companies such as Thomas Cook.

Currently, EbixCash is the single largest money exchange operator at airports in India. EbixCash World Money is also
the largest bank note aggregator amongst non-banks, dealing in over 80 different currencics, the highest by any non-bank entity
in the business segment.

The EbixCash inward remittance business continues to hold a dominant position in India and is the principal agent for
large Moncy Transfer Operations ("MTOs") such as Western Union, Moneygram, Ria, and Transfast. EbixCash processed
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more than six million transactions in 2020, EbixCash is the largest network partner for Western Union globally and an
exclusive partner for Moneygram in Iudia. EbixCash also processes over 65% of all Ria transactions in India through its agent
network.

EbixCash Travel & llolidays: EbixCash Travel and Holidays is a 360-degree holiday and travel solutions enterprise
with a holistic focus on delivering exceptional travel experience in all genres such as holiday, travel, airline, luxury train travel/
holidays, buses, cabs, MICE, sporting events, and others.

Indian travel business enterprises are categorized in the regional and national domain as focused on either a channel, a
genre, a product or a demography, and by whether or not allied products, such as Forex & insurance, are offered. MakeMytrip,
a relatively new entrant in the pan India holidays space, compared to Thomas Cook & SOTC has consistently focused on online
bookings for holiday/vacation travel. Contrarily, Thomas Cook and SOTC have invested to strengthen their offline presence
and market penctration. Thomas Cook is a leading holiday/vacation player that offers Forex services. SOTC has also been
active in the holiday/vacation travel market. Most other players have limited scale compared to EbixCash Travel, Thomas Cook
and SO1C,

Insurance Exchanges

Ebix operates a number of insurance exchanges and the competition for each of those exchanges varics within cach of
the regions in which Ebix operates.

Life Insurance Exchange: Ebix operates a straight-through processing end-to-end Life Exchange service that has three
life insurance exchanges in the U.S.: WinFlex, TPP, and LifeSpeed. WinFlex is an exchange for pre-sale life insurance
illustrations between brokers and carriers. TPP is an underwriting and highly customized electronic application platform for
Life insurance, and LifeSpeed is an order entry platform for life insurance. Lach of these exchanges is presently deployed in the
1.S. and the Company is also continuing to deploy them in other parts of the world. Ebix has two main competitors in the life
exchange area: iPipeline and Insurance Technologies. Ebix differentiates itself by virtue of having an end-to-end solution in the
market, with all exchanges being interfaced with other broker systems and customer rclationship management ("CRM")
services such as SmariOffice. We believe Libix’s exchanges also have the largest aggregation of life insurance brokers and
carriers transacting business in the United States.

Annuity Exchange: Ebix operates a straight-through processing end-to-end Annuity Exchange service that has three
annuity insurance exchanges in the U.S.: AnnuityNct, AMP and AN4, These exchanges are platforms for annuity transactions
between brokers, carriers, broker general agents (“BGAs™), and other entities involved in annuity transactions. These exchanges
are mainly deployed in the U.S_; however, the Company endeavors to deploy it in other parts of the world, such as Latin
Amecrica and Australia. Ebix has deployed its AN4 service that was fully developed internally by Ebix, is highly scalable and
customizable, and can be delivered over the cloud. Ebix has one main competitor in the annuity exchange area, iPipeline. Ebix
differentiates itself from this competitar by virtue of having an end-to-end solution offering in the market with its exchanges
being interfaced with broker systems and customer relationship management (CRM) services such as SmartOffice. Ebix
exchanges transact the largest amount of annuity premiums of any single exchange in the U.S.

SmartOffice: Ebix’s customer relationship management exchange, SmartOffice, is designed to address the specific
needs of insurancc companics, gencral agents, banks, financial advisors and investment deaters, Smart Office is tightly
integrated into the EbixExchange Life, Health, P&C and Annuity exchanges as a means to make end-to-end enterprise-wide
information exchange seamless for our clients. This insurance industry specific domain expertisc gives Ebix a competitive
advantage in the CRM area over our competitors, such as Salesforce.com, iPipeiine, and Redtail.

Employee Benefits: Ebix currently provides employee benefit and health insurance cxchange services using four
platforms: Facts, LuminX, HealthConnect and EbixEnterprise. EbixEnterprise, which we developed intemnally, is the most
recent Enterprisc Health Exchange being deployed by Ebix across all 50 states. These platforms are sold to health carriers and
third party administrators. These platforms provide a full range of services, such as employee enrollment, claims adjudication,
accounting, employce benefits administration accounting and compliance. The HealthConnect insurance quoting portals service
the individual and small group marketplace. Ebix has a number of competitors of varying sizes in this area. Trizetto is currently
the largest employee benefits software player in the market in the US, while there are other smaller size competitors, such as
BenefitFocus and Ultimate Software.

A.D A M. Health Solutions: Ebix provides multimedia hcalth content, training, patient education, and continuing
education that targets large diversified websites, doctors, consumer health portals, country governments, hospitals, healtheare,
biomedical, medical device, pharmaceutical, and education organizations. AD.AM.’s compelitors are a variety of hcalth
content companies, such as Healthwise, Staywell, Elsevier and Santovia, who are primarily focused on the U.S. markets.
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AD.AM. content is available in English, Spanish, as well as other languages in Asia, Europe, the Middle East and South
At ica.

Risk Compliance Services (RCS)

Ebix’s focus in this channel pertains to business process outsourcing services that include providing domain intensive
project management, system consulting services and claims adjudication/settlement services to clients across the world.
Additionally, Ebix RCS has the market leading business for the creation and tracking of certificates of insurance issued in the
U.S. and Australian markets. The RCS Channel also consists of Broker and Carrier P&C systems.

Ebix's RCS channel focuses on helping its clients outsource any specific service or manpower to the Company on an
onsite or offshore basis. Ebix’s RCS COI business services are enabled by the Company’s SaaS-based proprietary software,
Ebix’s RCS COI service offerings currentiy cater to Forlune 500 companies in the U.S. Ebix’s RCS COI service offering has
one main competilor in the U.S., Applied Systems. Due to the highly fragmented market, the Ebix RCS CO1 service offering
also has a number of smaller competitors, such as Datamonitor, CMS, and Exigis.

Ebix operates P&C exchanges in Australia, New Zealand, the U.K., and the U.S. All of these exchanges are targeled to
the areas of personal ané commercial lines, and facilitate the exchange of insurance data between brokers and insurance
carriers. Ebix continues to deploy thesc cxchanges in the United States, Asia, Europe, Latin America, and Africa. There is
presently little competition in the P&C exchange area in Australia and New Zealand. Our competitive differentiation exists by
virtue of having an end-to-end solution offering in the market allowing our exchanges to be interfaced with multiple broker
systems.

Ebix has four P&C broker system offerings worldwide: Ebix Evolution, eGlobal, WinBeat and EbixASP. The
competition for these broker systems varies within cach of the regions in which Ebix provides such products and services.

Ebix Evolution and eGlobal are sold throughout the world. Both systems are multilingual and multi-currency and
support country-specific legislative and taxation requirements. These systems are available in a number of languages, such as
English, Chincse, Japanese, French, Portuguese, and Spanish. Both Ebix Evolution and eGlobal are targeted to the medium and
large P&C brokers around the world, and are available for Cloud or On-Premise deployment. Competition tends to be different
in each country, with no single competitor having a global offering. The two systems compete with home grown systems and
regional players in each country, Their competitive advantage and uniqueness stems from its multilingual and multi-currency
functionality, as well as end-user customization support. Both systems have a uniform common code base globally that allows
Ebix to casily tailor features and functionality to customer needs (ease of activating/deactivating functionality).

WinBeat is a Policy Management System (back-end broker system) targeted to the general insurance broking sector
and is primarily sold in Australia, WinBeat is targeted at small- to medium-sized P&C brokers. The product at present is
available only in English and can be deployed in a few hours with minimal training. WinBeat competes in Australia with Jocal
vendors, such as Brokers Advantage and Steadfast Insight. Ebix has deployed WinBeat lo emerging insurance markets, such as
Papua New Guinea and some of the Pacific Islands, with possible futurce deployment to other regional markets in the future.

Ebix's broker systems {(Ebix Evolution, eGlobal and WinBeat) customer base spans over 600 of the approximately 750
P&C brokers in Australia, an 80% market penetration of the P&C broker systems.

EbixASP is Ebix’s P&C broker systems offering for the U.8. markets. The service is designed around the ACORD
msurance standards used in the U.S. EbixASP has two main competitors in the 11.5., specifically Vertafore and Applicd
Systems.

In the Carrier P&C Systemns, Ebix has two system oflerings for P&C carriers, Ebix-Advantage and Fbix Advantage
Web. Ebix-Advantage is targeted at small, medium and large P&C carriers in the United States that operate in the personal,
commercial and specialty line areas of insurance. Ebix AdvantageWeb is designed for the international markets and is targeted
at the small, medium and large P&C carriers in the international markets that operate in the personal, commercial and specialty
line areas of insurance. Ebix-AdvantageWeb is designed to be multi-currency and multilingual and is deployed in Brazil, the
UK. and the U.S. Competition to both these products comes from large companies, such as CSC, Guidewire, Xchanging,
Accenture and specialty medical malpractice players like Delphi.

Intellectual Property

Ebix secks protection under federal, state and foreign laws for strategic or financially important intellectual property
developed in connection with our business. We regard our software as proprietary, adhere Lo open architecture industry
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slandards and attempt to protect our software with copyrights, trade sccret laws and restrictions on the disclosure and
transferring of title. Certain intellectual property, where appropriate, is protected by contracts, licenses, registrations, or other
protections. Despite these precautions, it may be possible for third parties to copy aspects of the Company’s products or,
withoul authorization, o obtain and use information which the Company regards as trade secrets.

Employees

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had 9,802 employees worldwide and is presented in the table below. None of
the Company’s employees arc presently covered by a collective bargaining agreement. Management considers the Company's
relations with its employces to generally be good.

Number of Employees

india 8,640
United States 476
Latin America 369
Australia 100
Indonesia 62
Philippines 60
Europe 45
Singapore 16
United Arab Emirates 14
Canada 10
New Zealand 10

9,802

Human Capital

The Company's workforce is global in nature, with the majority of our employees in India. Wec are subject to various
employment laws and regulations based on the country in which our employees are located. The CEO and other global senior
leaders of Ebix shared human resource responsibilitics include providing effective programs related to staffing, employee
recruliting and development, compensation and benefits, and compliance. We compensate employees through a competitive
compensation program that includes base salary or hourly wage, health and life insurance, retirement benefits, paid time off and
long-term incentives for key management. As cach country’s employment environment is different we may use different
competitive recruitment and retention tools to meet the mules and regulations and market dynamics to serve the needs of our
business.

Qur success is dependent upon our ability to attract, develop, and retain qualified employees. We are committed to
building a culture of diversity, professional growth, and high performance through offering our employees challenging and
engaging growth opportunities that contribute to their overall carcer development. We also strive for a culture where different
viewpoints arc valued and individuals are treated fairly so that the Company can attract and retain the best talent.

Diversity and Inclusion: The Company believes that its rich culture of diversity and inclusion enables it to create,
develop and fully leverage the strengths of its workforce to exceed customer expectations and meet its growth objectives. The
Company places a high value on diversity and inclusion, recruiting and retaining staff with diverse backgrounds, cxpericnees or
characteristics who share a common interest in professional development, improving corporate culture and delivering sustained
business results.

During 2020 the company implemented procedures to ensure employee safety due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The
company made operational changes which allowed for a more flexible and mobile workforce around the globe. Tn some cases,
in locations where it was strategically and operational appropriate we have moved to a full time work from home environment.
Some of the safety focus responscs to the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020 around the world were:

» Adding work from home flexibility in multiple locations around the globe;

* Adjusting attendance policies 10 encourage those who arc sick to stay home;
« Increasing cleaning protocols across all locations;
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« Iniliating communication regarding impacis of the COVID-19 pandemic, including health and safety protocols
and procedurcs;

« Implementing temperature screening of employees;

* Establishing new physical distancing procedures for employees who need to be on sitc;

« Providing additional personal protective equipment and cleaning supplies;

« Implementing protocols to address actual and suspected COVID-19 cases and potential exposure;

+ Prohibiting all domestic and international non-essential travel for all employees; and

* Requiring masks to be worn in all locations where allowed under local law.

Information About Executive Officers

The following persons scrve as our exccutive officers as of April 23, 2021:

Officer
Name Age Paosition Since
. . Chairman, President, and Chief

Robin Raina 54 Executive Officer 1998
Corporate Executive Vice

Steven M. Hamil 52 President & Chief Financial 2020
Officer
Corporate Executive Vice

Graham Prior 64 President International Business 2012
& Intellectual Property
Cortporate Executive Vice

Leon d'Apice 64 President & Managing Director - 2012
Ebix Australia Group

James Senge Sr. 60 Senior Vice President EbixHealth 2012

There are no family relationships among our executive officers, nor arc there any arrangements or understandings
between any of those officers and any other persons pursuant to which they were selected as officers.

ROBIN RAINA, 54, has been Ebix’s CEQ since September 1999. He has been a Director at Ebix since 2000 and
Chaitman of the Board at Ebix since May 2002. Mr. Raina joined Ebix, Inc. in October 1997 as our Vice President -
Professional Services and was promoted to Senior Vice President—Sales and Marketing in February 1998. Mr. Raina was
promoted to Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer in December 1998. Mr. Raina was appointed President cffective
August 2, 1999, Chief Exccutive Officer effective September 23, 1999, and Chairman in May 2002. Mr. Rainz holds an
industrial engincering degree from Thapar University in Punjab, India.

STEVEN M. HAMIL, 52, serves as the Company's Corporate Executive Vice President and the Company's Global
Chief Financial Officer. He joined the Company in this position in April 2020. Prior to joining the Company and since 2013,
Mr. Hamil served at Regions Financial Corporation as a Senior Vice President and Managing Director in the technology, media
and communications and defense and governments services banking group. Prior to this position he served as Senior Vice
President and Semtor Client Manager at BBVA USA and its predecessor company, Compass Bancshares Inc., from 2010 to
2013, From 2000 to 2009, Mr. Hamil held multiple positions at Wachovia Capital Markets, L1C, the latest being a Director
within the Loan Syndications/Leverage Finance group. Earlier in his career, Mr. Hamil was the Senior Vice President of
Finance and Chief Accounting Officer at Movie Gallery, Inc., and held positions at Bank of America Corporation and Ernst &
Young Global Limited. Mr. Hamil is a certified public accountant (inactive - State of Alabama) and holds both a B.S. in
Business Administration (Accounting) from the University of Alabama (summa cum laude) and a Masters of Business
Administration from Duke University's Fuqua School of Business.

GRAHAM PRIOR, 64, was made an executive officer of the Company in 2012. He serves as Corporate Executive Vice
President Intermational Business & Intellectual Property, Mr. Prior has been employed by Ebix since 1996 when the Company
acquired Complete Broking Systems Ltd for which Mr. Prior was a part owner, Mr. Prior has been working within the
insurance technology industry since 1990 and is currently responsible for the Company’s internalional operations in Stngapore,
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New Zealand, Australia, Burope, Africa and Asia. Mr. Prior is also responsible for the Company’s worldwide product
devclopment initiatives.

LEON d’APICE, 64, was made an executive officer of the Company in 2012. He serves as the Company’s Corporate
Exccutive Vice President and Managing Director — Ebix Australia Group. Mr. d’Apice, has been employed with Ebix since
1996 when the Company acquired Complete Broking Systems Lid for which Mr. d’Apice was also a part owner. Mr. d’Apice
has been in the information technology field since 1977 and is currently responsible for all of the operations of Ebix’s Australia
business unit.

JAMES SENGE, SR., 60, was made an executive officer of the Company in 2012. He serves as the Company’s Scnior
Viee President EbixHealth. Mr. Senge has been employed with Ebix since 2008 when the Company acquired Acclamation
Systems, Inc. ("Acclamation"). Mr. Senge had been employed by Acclamation since 1979, During his over 30 years with
Acclamation/Ebix Mr. Senge has been involved with all facets of the EbixHealth division, including being responsible for the
strategic direction and day to day opcrations of the divisions. Mr. Senge’s focus is on cxpanding the Company’s reach into the
on-demand, end to end technology solutions for the health insurance and healthcare markets. Mr. Senge works from Ebix’s
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania office.

General

Our principal executive offices are located at | Ebix Way Johns Creek, Georgia 30097, and our telephone number is
{678) 281-2020.

Our official web site address is hitp:/www.ebix.com. We make available, frec of charge, at http://www.ebix.com, the
charters for the committees of our board of directors, our code of conduct and ethics, and, as soon as practicable after we file
them with the SEC, cur annual rcports on Form 10-K, our quartetly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K.
Any waiver of the terms of our code of conduct and cthics for the chief executive officer, the chicf financial officer, any
accounting officer, and all other executive officers will be disclosed on our Web site. The reference to our web site does not
constitute incorporation by reference of any information contained at that site.

Certain materials we file with the SEC may also be read and copied at or through the Internet website maintained by
the SEC al www.sec.gov,

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

The following risks and uncertainties are not the only ones facing us. Additional risks and uncertainties, including
risks and uncertainties of which we are currently unaware or which we believe are not material also could materially adversely
affect our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. In any case, the value of our common stock could
decline, and you could lose all or a portion of your investment. See also, “Safe IHarbor Regarding Forward-Looking
Statements.”

Summary

Below is a summary of the risk factors that make an investment in our securities specnlative or risky. This summary
does not address all of the risks that we face. Additional discussion of the risks summarized in this summary of risk factors, and
other risks that we face, can be found below starting with “Risks Related To Our Business and Industry” and should be
carefully considered, together with other information in this Form 10-K.

. Our business may be materially adversely impacted by U.S. and global market and economic conditions,
particularly adverse conditions in the insurance and financial services industrics.

. We may not be able to secure additional financing to suppaort capital requirements when needed.

. Our Credit Facility contains provisions that could materially restrict our business.

. Any future acquisitions that we may undertake could be difficult to integrate, disrupt our business, dilute

stockholder value and adversely impact our operating results.
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. We may not be able to develop new products or services necessary lo effectively respond to rapid
technological changes.

. The markets for our products and services arc and will likely become cven more highly competitive, and our
competitors may be able to respond quicker to new or emerging technology and changes in customer requirements.

. Our current customers might not purchase additional software solutions, renew maintenance agreements or
purchase additional professional services, or they might switch to other product or service offerings (including
competitive products).

. Supporting our existing and growing customer base could strain our personnel resources and infrastructure,
and if we are unable to scale our operations and increase productivity, we may be unable o successfully implement
our business plan.

. Our product development cycles and sales cycle arc variable and often lengthy, depend upon many factors
outside our control, and require us to expend significant timc and resources prior to generating associated revenues,

. We generally regard our intellectual property and softwarc as critical to our success, and we may not be able
to effectively or efficiently protect our intellectual property.

. If we infringe on the proprietary rights of others, our business operations may be disrupted, and any rclated
litigation could be time consuming and costly.

. We depend on the continued services of our senior management and our ability to attract and retain other key
personncl.

. If we do not effectively manage our geographically dispersed workforce, we might not be able to run our
business efficiently and successfully.

. COVID-19 has disrupted, and may continue to disrupt, our business and financial performance.

* Our revenue from our gift card business grew significantly during the COVID-19 pandemic and may not
continue at that level after the lockdowns are lifted as the risks of the pandemic decrease.

. Cybersecurity threals continue to increase in frequency and sophistication and a successful cybersecurity
attack could interrupt or disrupt our information technology systems or cause the loss of confidential or protected data,
which could disrupt our business, force us to incur excessive costs or cause reputational harm.

. A substantial portion of our assets and operations are located outside of the U.S. and we are subject to
regulatory, tax, economic, political and other uncertainties in other foreign countries in which we operate.
. Our international business activities and processes expose us to numerous and often conflicting laws and

regulations, policics, standards or other requirements and sometimes ¢ven conflicting regulatory requirements, and to
risks that could harm our business, financial position, profit, and cash flows.

. We conduct money transfer transactions in some regions that are politically and economicatly volatile, which
could increase our cost of operating in those regions.

. A significant change or disruption in international migration patterns could adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

. Changes in the method pursuant to which LIBOR rates are determined and potential phasing out of LIBOR
after 2021 may affect our financial results.

. New legislation that would change U.S. or foreign taxation of business activities, including the imposition of
tax based on gross revenue, could harm our business and financial results

. Our financial position and operating results may be adversely affected by the changing U.S. Dollar rates and
fluctuations in other currency exchange rates,

. The rapid spread of contagious illnesses can have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

. Principal shareholders may be able to exert control over our future direction and operations,

. Provisions in our articles of incorporation, bylaws, Delaware law as well as the Amended SAR Agreement

with Mr. Robin Raina may make it difficult for a third party to acquire us, even in situations that may be viewed as
desirable by our shareholders.

. If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately determine our
financial results or prevent fraud which could cause our stockholders to lose confidence in our financial results, which
could harm our business and the market value of our common shares.

. The nature of our business requires the application of complex revenue and expense recognition rules that
require management to make estimates and assumptions and the current legislative and regulatory environment
affecting GAAP is uncertain which could affect our financial statements going forward.

. We may be exposed to risks relating to the resignation of our prior registered public accounting firm.

. The costs and cffects of litigation, investigations or similar matters involving us or our subsidiaries, or
adverse facts and developments related thereto, could materially affect our business, operating results and financial
condition.

. Govermment investigations may require significant management time and attention, result in significant legal
expenses or damages and cause the Company's business, finaneial condition, results of operations and cash flows to
suffer.
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. Federal Trade Commission laws and regulations that govern the insurance industry could expose us or the
agents, brokers and carricrs with whom we conduct business in our online marketplace to legal penaltics.

. Potential liabifities under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act could have a material adverse effect on our
business,

. We are not in compliance with the requirements of Nasdaq for continued listing, and if Nasdaq does not
concur that we have adequately remedied our non-compliance with Nasdag Listing Rule 5250{c)(1), our common
stock may be delisted from trading on Nasdaq, which could have a material adverse effect on us and our sharcholders.
. Quarterly and annual operating results may fluctuate, which could cause our stock price to be volatile.

Risks Related To Our Business and Industry

Our business may be materially adversely impacted by U.S. and global market and economic conditions, particularly adverse
conditions in the insurance and financial services industries.

For the foresceable future, we cxpect to continue to derive most of our revenue from products and services we provide
to the insurance and financial services industries. Given the concentration of our business activities in these industries, we may
be particularly exposed to certain economic downturns affecting these industries. U.S. and global market and economic
conditions have been, and continue to be, disrupted and volatile particularly in the face of the ongoing coronavirus disease 2019
{(“COVID-19") pandemic. General business and economic conditions that could affect us and our customers include
fluctuations in cconomic growth, debt and cquity capital markets, liquidity of the global financial markets, the availability and
cost of credit, investor and consumer confidence, and the strength of the economies in which our customers operate. A poor
economic environment (including as a result of continuing negative impacts of COVID-19) could result in significant decreases
in demand for our products and services, including the delay or cancellation of current or anticipated projects, or could present
difficulties in collecting accounts receivables from our customers duc to their deteriorating financial condition. Our existing
customers may be acquired by or merged into other entitics that use our competitors' products or may decide to terminate their
relationships with us for other reasons. As a result, our sales could decline if an existing customer is merged with or acquired by
another company, and either has a poor economic outlook or discontinues operations.

We may not be able to secure additional financing to support capital requirements when needed.

We may need to raise additional funds in the future to fund new product development, further organic growth
initiatives, acquire new businesses, or for other purposes. Any required additional financing may not be available on terms
favorable to us, or at all. If adequate funds are unavailable on acceptable terms, we may be unable to meet our strategic business
objectives or compete effectively, and the future growth of our business could be adversely impacted. The Company maintains
a senior secured syndicated credit facility, dated as of August 5, 2014, among Ebix, Inc., as borrower, its subsidiarics party
thereto from time to time as guarantors, Regions Bank, as administrative agent and collateral agent, and the lenders party
thereto from time to time (as amended from time to time, the "Credit Facility™). Subsequent to the resignation of our prior
registered public accounting firm, RSM US LLP ("RSM"™) and the Company’s inability to file this Form 10-K by its due date,
the Company and the requisite lenders under the Credit Facility entered into Amendment No. 11 and Amendment No. 12 to the
Credit Facility in March 2021 and April 2021, respectively, to provide, among other things, certain covenant relief and we may
need to seek additional relief in the future. Failure to comply with the covenants contained in our Credit Facility or the
occurrence of certain other events described in the Credit Facility (if not waived or further amended) could give rise to an event
of defaull and, if not cured, enlitle the lenders to accelerate the indebtedness outstanding thereunder and terminate our ability to
borrow in the future under the Credit Facility. Any event of default under our Credit Facility could have a material adverse
impact on the Company,

In addition, if additional funds are raiscd by our issuing equity securities, stockholders may expericnce dilution of their
ownership and economic interests, and the newly issued securities may have rights superior to those of our common stock. If
additional funds are raised by our issuance of debt, we may be subject to significant market risks related to interest rates, and
opcrating risks regarding limitations on our activilies,

Our Credit Facility contains provisions that could materially restrict our business.

Our Credit Facility contains certain covenants, including with respect to (i) certain permitted restricted payments and
investments, and (ii) certain reporling requirements, These covenants include, among others, limitations on making
acquisitions, loans or other investments, disposition of assets, payment of dividends and other restricted payments. The Credit
Facility also requires us to comply with a maximum consolidated nct leverage ratio and a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio,
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which we may not be able to achieve. In addition, the requisite lenders under the Credil Agreement must make a good faith
determination of whether there had been a "Material Circumstance” (as defined and further described in Amendment No. 12),
which determination (if any) may only be made within a specified period described by Amendment No. 12 and is subject to
cerlain cure rights of the Company. These covenants may limit our ability to plan for or react to market conditions or meel
capital needs or could otherwise restrict our activitics or business plans. These restrictions alse could adversely affect our ability
to make stratcgic acquisitions, fund investments or cngage in other business activities that could be in our interest. The
Company’s failure to meet these covenanis or comply with these restrictions could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. See “Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations - Liquidity and Capital Resources - Credit Facility” and Note 22 to the Nofes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion of our Credit Facility and its covenants.

Further, our ability to comply with these covenants may be affected by cvents beyond our contral that could result in an event
of default under our Credit Facilily, or documents governing any other existing or future indebtedness. A default, if not cured or
waived, may permit acceleration of our indebtedness. In addition, our lenders could terminate their commitments to make
further extensions of credit under the Credit Facility, If our indebtedness is accelerated, we cannot be certain that we will have
sufficient funds to pay the accelerated indebtedness or that we will have the ability to refinance accelerated indebtedness on
terms favorable to us or at all,

Our future growth may depend in part on acquiring other businesses in our industry.

We expect continued growth, in part, by making business acquisitions. In the past, we have made accretive
acquisitions to broaden our product and service offerings, expand our operations, and enter new geographic markets. We may
continue to make selective acquisitions, enter into joint ventures, or otherwise engage in other appropriate business investments
or arrangements that we believe will strengthen the Company. However, the continued success of our acquisition program will
depend on our ability to find and buy attractive businesses at a reasonable price, to obtain any lender consents required under
our Credit Facility, to access the requisite financing resources, if needed, and to integrate acquired businesses into our existing
operations. Our ability to do so is not assured and may be limited by a number of factors, including the covenants in our
Amended Credit Facility.

Any future acquisitions that we may undertake could be difficult to integrate, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value
and adversely impact our operating results.

Future business acquisitions subject the Company to a varicty of risks, including those risks associated with an
inability to efficiently integrate acquired operations, higher incremental cost of operations, outdated or incompatible
lechnologies, labor difficulties, or an inability to realize anticipated synergics, whether within anticipated time frames or at all.
One or more of these risks, if realized, could have an adverse impact on our operations. Among the integration issues related to
acquisitions are:

+  potential incompatibility of business cultures;

+  potential delays in integrating diverse technology platforms;

+  potential need for additional disclosure controls and internal controls over financial reporting;

«  potential difficultics in coordinating geographically scparated organizations;

«  potential difficultics in re-training sales forces to market all of our products across all of our intended
markets;

«  potential difficulties implementing common internal business systems and processes;

»  potential conflicts in third-party relationships; and

+  potential loss of customers and key employees and the diversion of the attention of management from other
ongoing business concerns,

We may not be able fo develop new products or services necessary to effectively respond to rapid technological changes.

To be successful we must adapt to rapidly changing technological and market needs, by continually enhancing and
intreducing new products and services to address our customers' changing demands. The marketplace in which we operate is
characterized by rapidly changing technology, evolving industry standards, frequent new product and service introductions,
shifting distribution channels, and changing customer demands. We could incur substantial costs il we need te modify our
services or infrastructure in order to adapt to changes affecting our market, and we may be unable to effectively adapt to these
changes.
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The markets for our products and services ave and will likely become even more highly competitive, and our competitors
may be able to respond quicker to new or emerging technology and changes in customer requirenients

We operate in highly competitive markets. In particular, the online insurance distribution market, like the broader
clectronic commerce market, is rapidly evolving and highly competitive. Our insurance software business also cxpericnces
competition from certain large hardware supplicrs that sell systems and system compenents to independent agencies and from
small independent developers and suppliers of software, who sometimes work in concerl with hardware vendors to supply
systems to independent agencies. Pricing strategies and new product introductions and other pressures from existing or
emerging competitors could result in a loss of customers or a price rate increase or decrease for our services different than past
experience. Our internet-facilitated businesses may also face indirect competition from insurance carriers that have subsidiaries
which perform in-house agency and hrokerage functions.

Some of our current competitors have longer operating histories, larger customer bases, greater brand recognition and
significantly greater financial and marketing resources than we do. In addition, we believe we will face increasing competition
as the online financial services industry develops and evolves. Our current and future competitors may be able to:

»  undertake more extensive marketing campaigns for their brands and services;

+  devote more resources to website and systems development;

« adopt morc aggressive pricing policics; and

«  make more attractive offers to potential employees, online companics and third-party service providers.

We operate in a price sensitive markerf and we are subject to pressures from customers to decrease our fees for the services
and solutions we provide. Any reduction in price would likely reduce our margins and could adversely affect our operating
results.

The competitive market in which we conduct our business could require us to reduce our prices. If our competitors
offer discounts on cerlain producis or services in an efforl to recapture or gain market share or to sell other products, we may be
required to lower our prices or offer other favorable terms to compete successfully, Any of these changes would likely reducc
our margins and could adversely affect cur operating results. Some of our competitors may bundle products and services that
compete with us for promotional purposes or as a long-term pricing strategy or provide guarantees of prices and product
implementations. In addition, many of the services and solutions that we provide and market are not unique or proprietary to us
and our customers and target customers may not distinguish our services and solutions from those of our competitors. All of
these factors could, over time, limit or reduce the prices that we can charge for our services and solutions. If we cannot offset
price reductions with a corresponding increase in the number of sales or with lower spending, then the reduced revenue
resulting from lower prices would adverscly affcct our margins and operating results.

Qur current customers might not purchase additional software solutions, renew maintenance agreements or purchase
additional professional services, or they might switch to other product or service offerings (including competitive products).

We rely on our existing customer basc to generate additional business through the purchase of new software solutions
as well as maintenance, consulting and training scrvices. Existing customers might cancel or not renew their mainfenance
contracts, decide not to buy additional products and services, switch to on-premises models or accept alternative offerings from
other vendors.

Our future success depends in part on our ability to sell additional features and services, and more subscriptions or
enhanced offerings of our services to our current customers. This may also require increasingly sophisticated and costly sales
efforts. Similarly, the rate at which our customers purchase new or enhanced services depends on a number of factors, including
general economic conditions and our customers’ reaction to any price changes related to these additional features and services,
If our efforts to up-sell to our customers are not successful our business may suffer.

If our customers do not renew their subscriptions for our services or reduce the number of paying subscriptions at the time
of renewal, our revenue will decline and our business will suffer. If we cannot accurately predict subscription renewals or
upgrade rates, we may not meet our revenue targets which may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

Our customers have no obligation to renew their subscriptions for our services after the expiration of their initial
subscription period, and historically some customers have elected not to do so. In addition, our customers may rencw for fewer
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subscriptions, renew for shorler contract lengths or switch to lower cost and/or less profitable offerings of our services. We
cannot accurately predict attrition rates given our diverse customer base and large number of multi-year subscription contracts.
Qur attrition rates may increase or fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, including customer dissatisfaction with our
services, decreases in customers’ spending levels, decreases in the number of users al our cuslomners, pricing increases or
changes in general economic conditions.

Because we recognize revennue from subscriptions for our services over the term of the subscription, downturns or upturns in
new business may not be immediately reflected in our operating results.

We generally recognize revenue from customers ratably over the terms of their subscription agreements, which are
typically iwelve to thirty-six months. As a result, most of the revenue we report in cach quarter reflects the subscription
agreements entered into during previous quarters. Consequently, a decline in new or renewed subscriptions in any one quarter
may not be reflected in our revenue results for that quarter; however, any such decline will negatively impact our revenue in
future quarters, Accordingly, the effect of significant downturns in sales and market acceptance of our services, and potential
changes in our attrition rate, may not be fully reflected in our results of operations until future periods. Our subscription model
also makes it difficult to rapidly increase our revenue through additional sales in any period, as revenue from new customers
must be recognized over the applicable subscription term.

Supporting our existing and growing customer base could strain our personnel resources and infrastructure, and if we are
unable to scale our operations and increase productivity, we may be unable to successfully implement our business plan.

We continue to experience significant growth in our customer base and personnel, which has placed a strain on our
management, administrative, operational and financial infrastructure. We anticipate that additional investments in our internal
infrastructure, data center capaeity, research, customer support, and development will be required to scale our operations and
increase productivity in order to address the needs of our customers, further develop and enhance our services, and expand inte
new geographic arcas. Any additional investments required to service our customers will increase our cost base, which will
make it more difficult for us to offset any future revenue shortfalls by reducing expenses in the short term.

We regularly upgrade or replace our various software systems. If the implementations of these new applications are delayed,
or if we encounter unforeseen problems with our new systems or in migrating away from our existing applications and
systems, our operations and our ability to manage our business could be negatively impacted.

Our success depends, in part, upon the ability of our senior management to manage our projected growth effectively.
To do so, we must continue to increase the productivity of our existing employees and to hire, train and manage new employces
as needed. To manage the expected domestic and international growth of our operations and personnel, we need to continue to
improve our operational, financial and management controls, our reporting systems and procedures, and our utilization of rcal
estate. If we fail to successfully scale aur operations and increase productivity, we will be unable to execute our business plan.

Our product development cycles are lengthy, and we may incur significant expenses before we generate revenues, if any,
Jrom new products.

Because our products are complex and require rigorous testing, development cycles can be lengthy. Moreover,
development projects can be technically challenging and expensive. The nature of these development cycles may cause us to
experience delays betwcen the time we incur expenses associated with research and development and the time we generate
revenues, it any, from such expenses. If we expend a significant amount of resources on research and development and our
cfforts do not lead to the successful introduction or improvement of products that arc competitive in the marketplace, this could
malerjally and adversely affect our business and results of operations. Additionally, anticipated customer demand for a product
we are developing could decrease afler the development cycle has commenced. Such decreased customer demand may cause us
to fall short of our sales targets, and we may nonetheless be unable to avoid substantial costs associated with the product’s
development. 1f we are unable to complete product development cycles successfuily and in a timely fashion and generate
revenues from such future products, the growth of our business may be harmed.

Our sales cycle is variable and often lengthy, depends upon many factors outside our control, and requires us to expend
significant time and resources prior to generating associated revenues.

The typical sales cycle for our solutions and services is lengthy and unpredictable, requires substantial pre-purchase
evaluations by a significant number of persons in our customers’ organizations, and often involves a significant operational
decision by our customers. Qur sales efforts involve educating our customers and industry analysts and consultants about the
use and benefits of our solutions.
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We generally regard our intellectual property and software as critical to our success, and we may not be able to effectively or
efficiently protect our intellectual property.

We rely on copyright laws and licenses and nondisclosure agreements to protect our proprictary rights, as well as the
intellectual property rights of third parties whose content we licensc. However, it is not possible to prevent all unautherized
uses of these rights. We cannot provide assurances that the steps we have taken to protect our intellectual property rights, and
the rights of those from whom we license intellectual property, are adequate to deter misappropriation or that we will be able to
detect unauthorized uses and take timely and effective steps to remedy unauthorized conduct. In particular, a significant portion
of our revenue is derived internationally, including in jurisdictions where protecting intellectual property rights may prove to be
more challenging than in the U.S. To prevent or respond to unauthorized uses of our intellectual property, we might be required
to engage in costly and time-consuming litigation and we may not ultimately prevail.

If we infringe on the proprietary rights of others, our business operations may be disrupted, and any related litigation could
be time consuming and costly.

Third parties may claim that we have violated their intellectual property rights. Any such claim, with or without merit,
could subject us to costly litigation and divert the attention of key personnel. To the extent that we violale a paient or other
intellectual property right of a third party, we may be prevented from operating our business as planned, and we may be
required to pay damages, to obtain a license, if available, to usc the right or to use a non-infringing method, if possible, to
accamplish our objectives. The cost of such activity could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We depend on the continued services of our senior management and our ability fo attract and retain other key personnel,

Our futurc success Is substantially dependent on the continued services and contributions of our senior management
and other key personnel, particularly Robin Raina, our President, Chief Executive Officer, and Chairman of the Board. Since
becoming Chief Executive Officer in 1999, Mr. Raina's strategic direction and vision for the Company and the implementation
of such direction have been instrurnental in our profitable growth. The loss of the services of any of our executive officers or
other key employees could harm our business. Our future sucecss also depends on our ability te continue to attract, rctain and
motivate highly skilled empioyecs. The inability to attract and retain key skilled personnel could harm our business.

If we do not effectively manage our geographically dispersed workforce, we might not be able to run our business
efficiently and successfully.

Qur success is dependent on the appropriate alignment of our internal and external workforce planning processcs,
adequate resource allocation and our location strategy with our general strategy, We have employees located in India, the U.S,,
Brazil, Australia, Indonesia, the Philippines, the U.K., Singapore, the United Arab Emirates, Canada and New Zealand.
Managing such a diverse and widely spread work force can be difficult and demanding for management. It is critical that we
manage our internationally dispersed workforce (both internal and external) effectively, taking short- and long-term workforce
and skill requirements into consideration. Changes in headcount and infrastructure necds, as well as local legal or tax
regulations, could result in a mismatch between our expenses and revenue. Failure to manage our geographically dispersed
workforce effectively could hinder our ability to run our business efficiently and successfully and could have an adverse effect
on our business, financial position, profit, and cash flows.

Risks Related to the Ongoing COVID-19 Pandemic
COVID-19 has disrupted, and may continue to disrupt, our business and financial performance.

On March 11, 2020, the World Hcalth Organization declared the outbreak of COVID-19 as a pandemic. Since then,
the outbreak of COVID-19 throughout the world, including North Amecrica, Europe and Asia, has adversely impacted the U.S.
and global economies. We have experienced and expect to continue to experience disruptions to our business due to
COVID-19. Governmental authorities and public health officials have recommended and mandated varying counlermeasures 1o
slow the outbreak, including shelter-in-place orders, restrictions on travel, and the closure of local government facilitics and
parks, schools, restaurants, many businesses and other locations of public assembly.

At this time, the full impact of COVID-19 on our business cannot be fully predicted duc to numcrous uncertainties and
future developments, including the duration and scverity of the outbreak in individual geographies we operate, travel
restrictions and business closures, the effectiveness of vaccines and other actions taken to contain the disease, the timing of
economic and operational recovery, and other unpredictable consequences. This impact has included and might centinue to
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include, but is not limited to: (i) changes in our revenues and customer demand - our revenues and profitabilily were materially
impacted during 2020 compared to the prior year periods, and we expect they will continue to be materially adversely affected,
particularly as a large percentage of EbixCash's revenue is derived from travel-related services; and (ii) our workforce - the
COVID-19 outbreak has also caused us to reduce and furlough employees in order 1o right size our EbixCash business. These
actions have created risks, including but not limited to, our ability fo manage the size of our workforce given uncertain future
demand.

Qur businecss, particularly EbixCash, is generally subject to and impacted by, international, national and local
economic conditions and travel demands. The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in and may continue to result in a material
adverse effect on the demand for worldwide travel, and therefore, has had and may continue to have a material adverse effect on
our business and results of operations. Additionally, continued unemployment has and may continuc to negatively influence
consumer spending. We do not expect economic and operating conditions for EbixCash to improve until consumers are able
and fully willing to travcl.

We believe that business disruption relating to the COVID-19 pandemic will continue to negatively impact the glebal
economy and may materially affect our businesses as outlined above for at least the next six months, each of which would
continue to adversely impact our business and results of operations. To the extent that the COVID-19 outbreak continues to
adversely affect our business and financial performance, it may also have the effect of heightening many of the other risks
identified in this Risk Factors section.

We may not realize any or all of onr estimated cost savings, which may have a negative effect on our results of operations.

Throughout the COVID-19 crisis, we have identified and taken advantage of several areas that present opportunities
for cost savings and efficiencies to potentially improve our results of operations while our business is being impacted, including
improved working capital management, primarily through a reduction in staffing, compensation, and other discretionary
expenses. However, there can be no assurance that these cost savings and efficiencies will continue. These and any future spend
reductions, if any, may also negatively impact our other initiatives or our efforts to grow our business in a recovery, which may
negatively impact our future results of operations and increase the burden on existing management, systems and resources,

Our revenue from our gift card business grew significantly during the COVID-19 pandemic and may not continue at that
level after the lockdowns are lifted as the risks of the pandemic decrease.

During 2020, our revenue from the payment solutions offerings in India (primarily prepaid gift cards), increased by
more than $200 million year over year to approximately $256 million, a 590% year-over-year growth. The increased demand
for prepaid gift cards in India was primarily due to: {I) COVID-19, which has facilitated increased online and electronic
commerce due to restrictive fockdowns in 2020; (ii) changes in regulations by the Reserve Bank of India related to debit cards,
which has shifted demand in the market towards prepaid gift cards; and (iii) the Company's increased marketing efforts around
the prepaid gift card business. There can be no assurance that this level of revenue will continue once the lockdowns are lifted
and economies begin to open back up from the effects of COVID-19 or if there are new regulations adopted that impact the use
of gift cards or debit cards.

Earnings for future periods may be impacted by impairment charges for goodwill and intangible assets related to
COVID-1%.

We carry a significant amount of goodwill and identifiable intangible assets on our consolidated balance sheets,
Goodwill is the excess of purchase price over the fair value of the net assets of acquired businesses. We assess goodwill,
indefinite-lived and definite-lived intangible assets for impairment each year, or more frequently if circumstances suggest an
impairment may have occurred. We have concluded that there was no impairment of goodwill or definite-lived intangibles in
2020; however, the Company determined in the 4th quarter 2020 as part of its annual goodwill and intangible impairment
analysis that the IHC customer indefinite-lived intangible had been impaired. The Company record a $6.2 million impairment
expense (see Note 1 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for detailed disclosure information). If we determine
that a significant impairment has occurred in the value of our intangible assets, right of use assets or fixed asscts rclated to the
disruption of business caused by COVID-19 in 202] o5 beyond, we could be required to write off a portion of our assets, which
could adversely affect our consolidated financial condition or our reported results of operations,

Risks Related to Our Conduct of Business on the Internet
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Our software solutions are deploved through cloud-based implementations, and if such implementations are compromised
by data security breaches or other disruptions, eur reputation could be harmed, and we could lose customers or be subject to
significant liabilities.

Our software solutions typically are deployed in cloud-based environments, in which our products and associated
services are made available using an internet-bascd infrastructure. In cloud deployments, the infrastructure of our customers’
third-parly service providers may be wvulnerable to hacking incidents, other security breaches, computer viruses,
telecommunications failurcs, power loss, other system failures and similar disruptions. Any of these occurrences, whether
intentional or accidental, could lead to interruptions, delays or cessation of operation of the servers of our customers” third-party
service providers, and to the unauthorized use or access of our software and proprietary information and sensitive or
confidential data siored or transmitted by our products. The inability of our customers” service providers te provide continuous
access to their hosted services, and to secure their hosted services and associated customer information from unauthorized use,
access or disclosure, could cause us to lose customers and to incur significant liahility, and could harm our reputation, business,
financial condition and results of operations.

We face risks in the transmittal of individual health-related and other personal information.

We face potential risks and financial liabilities associated with obtaining and transmitting personal account
information that includes social security numbers and individual health-related information. Any significant breakdown,
invasion, destruction or interruption of our information technology systemns and infrastructure by employces, others with
autherized access to our systems, or unauthorized persons could negatively affect operations. There can be no assurance that we
will not be subject to cyber sccurity incidents that bypass our security measures, result in the loss or theft of personal health
information or other data subject to privacy laws or disrupt our information systems or business. While we have invested in the
protection of our data and information technology to reduce these risks, there can be no assurance that our efforts will prevent
breakdowns or breaches in our systcms. Additionally, the controls implemented by third-party service providers may not
prevent or timely detect such system failures. Our property and business interruption insurance coverage may not be adequate
to fully compensate us for losses that may occur. The consequences of the outlined risk above would include damage to our
reputation and additional costs to address and remediate any problems encountered, as well as litigation and potential financial
penalties.

Any disruption of our internet connections could affect the success of our internet-based products and services.

Any system failure, including network, software or hardware failure, that causes an intcrruptien in our network or a
decrease in the responsiveness of our website could result in reduced user traffic and reduced revenue. Continued growth in
internet usage could cause a decrease in the quality of internet connection service. Websites have experienced service
interruptions as a result of outages and other delays occurring throughout the worldwide internet network infrastructure. If these
outages, delays or service disruptions frequently occur in the future, usage of our web-based services could grow slower than
anticipated or decline and we may lose revenues and customers. If the internet data center operations that host any of our
websites or web-based services were to experience a system failure, the performance of our website or web-based services
would be harmed. These systems arc also vulnerable to damage from fire, floods, and earthquakes, acts of terrorism, power
loss, telecommunications failures, break-ins and similar events. The controls implemented by our third-party service providers
may nol prevent ar timely detect such system failures. Our property and business interruption insurance coverage may not be
adequate to fully compensate us for losses that may occur. In addition, our users depend on internet service providers, online
service providers and other website operators for access to our website. These providers could expericnce outages, delays and
other difficulties due lo system failures unrelated to our systems.

Cybersecurity threats continue to increase in frequency and sophistication. A successful cybersecurity attack could interrupt
or disrupt our information technology systems or cause the loss of confidential or protected data, which could disrupt our
business, force us to incur excessive costs or cause reputational harm.

The size and complexity of our information systems make such systems potentially vulnerable to service intercuptions
or to security breaches from madvertent or intentional actions by our employces or vendors, or from intentional attacks by
malicious third parties. Such attacks are increasingly sophisticated and are made by groups and individuals with a wide range of
motives and expertise, While we have invested in the protection of data and information technology, there can be no assurance
that our efforts will prevent or quickly identify service interruptions or security breaches. Any such interruption or breach of our
systems could adversely affect our business operations and result in the loss of critical or sensitive confidential information or
intellectual property, and could result in financial, legal, business and reputational harm to us. Our eyber liability insurancc may
not be sufficient to cover the financial, legal, business or reputational losses that may result from an interruption or breach of
our systems,
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Consumier fraud could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Malicious third parties are using increasingly sophisticated methods to engage in illegal activities such as identity theft,
fraud and paper instrument counterfeiting, As we make more of our services available over the intemet and other digital media,
we subject oursclves to new types of consumer fraud risk due to more complex requirements relating to consumer
authentication with inlernet services. Addilionally, the COVID-19 pandemic has led to increased cyber and payment fraud risk,
as cybercriminals attempt to profit from the disruption, given increased online banking, e~commerce and other online activity.
We use a variety of tools to protect against fraud; however, these tools may not always be successful. Allegations of fraud may
result in fines, settlements, litigation expenses and reputational damage.

Our industry is under increasing scrutiny from federal, state and local regulators in the U.S. and regulatory agencies in
many other countries in connection with the potential for consumer fraud. If consumer fraud levels involving our services were
to rise, it could lead to further regulatory intervention and reputational and financial damage. This increased regulatory scrutiny,
in turn, could lead to additicnal government enforcement actions and investigations, reduce the use, renewal and/or acceptance
of our services or increase our compliance costs and, thereby, have a material adverse impact on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Uncertainty in the marketplace regarding the use of internet users' personal information, or legislation limiting such use,
could reduce demand for our services and resulf in increased expenses.

Concern among consumers and legislators regarding the use of personal information gathered from internet users could
create uncertainty in the marketplace. This concern could reduce demand for our services, increase the cost of doing business as
a result of litigation costs or increased service delivery costs, or otherwise harm our business, Many state insurance codes limit
the collection and use of persenal information by insurance agencies, brokers and carricrs or insurance service organizations.

Risks Related To Foreign Operations
Our international operations are subject to a number aof risks that could affect our revenues, operating results, and growth.

We market our products and services internationally and plan to continue to expand our intcrnet-based services to
locations outside of the U.S. We currently conduct operations in Australia, Canada, New Zcaland, Brazil, Dubai, India,
Indonesia, the Philippines, New Zealand, Singapore and the U.K., have product development activities in India, Singapore and
Dubai and call center services in India. Our international operations arc subject to other inherent risks which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, including:

« the impact of recessions in foreign economies on the level of consumers' insurance shopping, financial
transactions and purchasing behavior;

+  greater difficulty in collecting accounts receivable;

+  difficulties and costs of staffing and managing foreign operations;

+  reduced protection for intcllectual property rights in some countries;

+  burdensome regulatory requircments;

+  trade and financing barriers, and differing business practices;

«  potenlially adverse tax consequences; and

+  cconomic nstability or political unrest such as crime, strikes, riots, civil disturbances, tcrrorist attacks and
Wars.

A substantial portion of our assets and operations are located outside of the U.S. and we are subject to regulatory, tax,
economic, political and other uncertainties in other foreign countries in which we operate,

We have significant ofishore operations in foreign countries, including Australia, Brazil, Canada, Dubai, India,
Indonesia, New Zealand, Singapore, the Philippines and the U.K. Wages in these countries have historically increased at a
faster rate than in the U.S. The continuation of this trend in the future will result in increased labor costs that could potentially
reduce our operating margins, Also, there is no assurance that in future periods competition for skilled workers will not drive
salaries higher in these countries, thereby resulting in increased costs for our technical professionals and potentially reduced
operating margins.
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Some of these countries have experienced problems that commonly confront the cconomies of developing countries,
including high inflation, erratic gross domestic product growth and shortages of foreign cxchange. Government actions
concerning these countries® economies could have a material adverse effect on private sector entities like us, In the past, certain
Governments have provided significant tax incenlives and relaxed certain regulatory restrictions to cncourage foreign
investment in specified sectors of the economy, including the software development services industry. Programs that have
benefited us include, among others, tax holidays, liberalized import and export duties and preferential rules on foreign
investment and repatriation. Notwithstanding these benefits, as noted above, changes in government leadership or changes in
policies in these countries that result in the elimination of any of the benefits realized by us or the imposition of new taxes
applicablc to such operations could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our international business activities and processes expose us to numerous and often conflicting laws and regulations,
policies, standards or other requirements and sometimes even conflicting regulatory requirements, and to risks that could
harm our business, financial position, profit, and cash flows.

We are a global company and cwrrently market our products and services in Australia, Brazil, Canada, India,
Indonesia, New Zealand, the Philippines, Singapore, United Arab Emirates, the U.K, and the U.8., amongst other countries, Our
business in forcign countrics is subject to numerous risks inherent in international business operations. Among others, these
risks include:

= Data prolection and privacy regulations regarding access by government authoritics to customer, partner, or
employee data;

+ Data residency requirements (the requirement to store certain data only in and, in some cases, also to access
such data only from within a certain jurisdiction);

+ Conflict and overlap among tax regimes,

+ Possible tax constraints impeding business operations in certain countries;

+ Expenses associated with the localization of our products and compliance with local regulatory requirements;

«  Discriminatory or conflicting fiscal policies;

« Operational difficultics in countrics with a high corruption perception index;

*  Works councils, labor unions, and immigration laws in different countries;

+ Difficulties enforcing intellectual property and contractual rights in certain jurisdictions;

+ Country-specific software certification requirements;

« Compliance with various industry standards; and

« Market volatilities or workforce restrictions due to changing laws and regulations resulting from political
decisions (e.g. Brexit, government elections)

As we expand into new countries and markets, these risks could intensify. The application of the respective local laws
and regulations to our business is sometimes unclear, subject to change over time, and often conflicting among jurisdictions.
Compliance with these varying laws and regulations could involve significant costs or require changes in products or business
practices. Non-compfiance could result in the imposition of penalties or cessation of orders due to alleged non-compliant
activity. We do not believe we have engaged in any activities sanctionable under these laws and regulations, but governmental
authorities could use considerable discretion in applying these statutes and any imposition of sanctions against us could be
material. One or more of these factors could have an adverse effect on our operations globally or in one or more countrics or
regions, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial position, profit, and cash flows.

We conduct money transfer fransactions in some regions that are politically and economically volatile, which could increase
our cost of operating in those regions.

We conduct money transfer transactions in some regions that are politically volatile and economically unstable, which
could increase our cost of operating in thase regions. For example, it is possible that our money transfer services or other
products could be used in contravention of applicable law or regulations. Such circumstances could result in increased
compliance costs, rcgulatory Inquiries, suspension or revocation of required licenses or registrations, seizure or forfeiture of
assets and the imposition of civil and/or criminal fees and penalties, inability to settle due to currency restrictions or volatility,
or other restrictions on our business operations. In addition to monetary fines or penalties that we could ineur, we could be
subject to reputational harm that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
aperations.
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A significant change or disruption in international migration patterns could adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Our moeney transfer business relies in part on international migration patterns, as individuals move from their native
countries to countrics with greater economic opportunities or a more stable political environment and significant changes in
international migration patterns could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. A significant
portion of money transfer transactions are initiated by immigrants or refugees sending money back to their native countries.
Changes in immigration laws that discourage international migration and political or other events {such as war, trade wars,
terrorism or health emergencies) that make migration of work abroad more difficult could adversely affect our money transfer
remiltance volume or growth rate.

Additionally, sustained weakness in global economic conditions caused by COVID-19 could reduce economic
opportunities for migrant workers and result in reduced or disrupted international migration patterns. Reduced or disrupted
international migration patterns could reduce money transfer transaction volumes and therefore have an adverse cffect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Changes in the method pursuant to which LIBOR rates are determined and potential phasing out of LIBOR after 2021 may
affect our financial resuits.

On July 27, 2017, the U.K. Financial Conduct Authority (the “FCA’™), which rcgulates the London Interbank Offered
Rate (“LIBOR™) has announced that the FCA intends to stop compelling banks to submit rates for the calculation of LIBOR
after 2021 (the “FCA Announcement™). The FCA Announcement indicates that the continuation of LIBOR on the current basis
cannat and will not be guaranteed after 2021. Following the implementation of any reforms to LIBOR or the methods pursuant
to which LIBOR rates are determined, or other benchmark rates that may be enacted in the U.K. or elsewhere, the manner of
administration of such benchmarks may change, with the result that such benchmarks may perform differently than in the past,
such benchmarks could be climinated entirely, or there could be other consequences which cannot be predicted. Under the
Company's Credit Facility, loans bear interest at a rate based on either (i) a fluctuating base rate, which, under certain
circumstances may be set based on LIBOR and (ii) an Adjusted LL.IBOR rate (subject to ¢ertain interest rate floors). If LIBOR 1is
phased out, we may be required 1o renegotiate with our lenders to establish a new interest rate (the “LIBOR Successor Rate”).
We can give no assurance that we and the requisite lenders under our Credit Facility will be able to agree on a LIBOR
Successor Rate. If we and our lenders cannot agree on a LIBOR Successor Rate, our ability to draw upon the Company's Credit
Facility may be materially impacted.

Qur earnings may be adversely affected if we change our intent not to repatriate foreign earnings or if such earnings
become subject to LS. tax on a current basis.

We have earnings outside of the U.S. Other than amounts for which we have already accrued U.S. taxes, we consider
foreign earnings to be indefinitely reinvested outside of the U.8. While we have no plans to do so, events may occur that could
effectively force us to change our intent not to repatriate such earnings. If such earnings are repatriated in the future or arc no
longer deemed to be indefinitely reinvested, we may have to acerue taxes associated with such eamings at a substantially higher
rate than our projected effective income tax rate, and we may be subject to additional tax liabilities in ccrtain foreign
Jurisdictions in which we operate. These increased taxes could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations and financial condition.

New legislation that would change U.S. or foreign taxation of business activities, including the imposition of tax based on
gross revenue, could harm our business and financial results

Reforming the taxation of international businesses has been a priority for some U.S. politicians, and a wide varicty of
changes have been proposed or enacted. Due to the large and expanding scale of our international business activities, any
changes in the taxation of such activities may increase our tax expense, the amount of taxes we pay, or both, and could harm
our business and financial results. For example, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act™), was enacted in December 2017,
significantly reformed the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code™). The Tax Act lowered U.S. federal
corporate income tax rates, changed the utilization of future net aperating loss carryforwards, allowed for the expensing of
certain capital expenditures, and put into effect sweeping changes to U.S. taxation of international business activitics.

In addition, many jurisdictions and intergovernmental organizations have been discussing proposals that may change
various aspects of the existing framework under which our tax obligations are determined in many of the countries in which we
do business. Some jurisdictions have enacted, and others have proposed, taxes based on pgross receipts applicable to digital
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services regardless of profitability. The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (the *OECD”) has been
working on a proposal that may change how taxable presence for digital services is defined and result in the imposition of taxcs
based on net income in countries where we have no physical presence. We continue to examine the impact these and other tax
reforms may have on our business, The impact of these and other tax reforms is uncertain and one or more of these or similar
measures may adversely affect our business.

Qur lax expense and liabilities are also affected by other factors, such as changes in our business operations,
acquisitions, investments, cniry into new businesses and geographies, intercompany transactions, the relative amount of our
foreign eamings, losses incurred in jurisdictions for which we are not able to realize related tax benefits, the applicability of
special tax regimes, and changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Significant judgment is required in evaluating and
estimating our tax expensc and liabilities. In the ordinary course of our business there arc many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The U.S. Treasury Department, the IRS, and other standard-setting bodies
will continue to interpret or issue guidance on the application and administration of the Tax Act. As future guidance is issued,
we may make adjustments to amounis that we have previously recorded that may materially impact our financial statements in
the period in which the adjustments are made.

We may have exposure to greater than anticipated tax liabilities.

Our futurc income taxes could be adversely affected by lower than anticipated earnings in jurisdictions where we have
jower statulory tax rates and higher than anticipated earnings in jurisdictions where we have higher statutory tax rates, by
changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities, or duc to changes in tax laws, regulations, and income tax
accounting principles in the domestic and foreign jurisdictions in which we operate. We are subject to regular review and audit
by both domestic and foreign tax authoritics. Any adverse outcome of such a review or audit could have a negative cffect on
our operating results and financial condition. Tn addition, the determination of our worldwide provision for income taxes
requires significant judgment, and there arc some transactions for which the ultimate tax treatment is uncertain. Although we
believe our estimates are reasonable and appropriate, the ultimate tax outcome may differ from the amounts recorded in our
financial staternents and may materially affect our financial results in the period or perieds for which such determination is
made. The tax rates in the foreign jurisdictions in which the Company operates could increase and have a significant impact on
the Company's financial results.

Changes in tax laws or tax rulings could materially affect our financial position, results of operations, and cash flows.

The income and non-income tax regimes we are subject 1o or operate under are unscttled and may be subject to
significant change. Changes in tax laws or tax rulings, or changes in interpretations of existing laws, could materially affect our
financial position, results of operations, and cash flows. For example, changes to U.S. tax laws enacted in December 2017 had a
significant impact on our tax obligations and effective tax rate for the fourth quarter of 2017 and in 2018, In addition, many
countries in Europe, as well as a number of other countrics and organizations, have recently proposcd or recommended changes
to existing tax laws or have enacted new laws that could significantly increase our tax obligations in many countries where we
do business or require us to change the manner in which we operate our business. The OECD has been working on a Base
Erosion and Profit Shifting Project, issued in 2015, and is expected to continue to issue guidelines and proposals that may
change varions aspects of the existing framework under which our tax obligations are determined in many of the countries in
which we do business. The European Commission has conducted investigations in multiple countries, focusing on whether local
country tax rulings or tax legislation provides prefcrential tax treatment that violates E.U. state aid rules and concluded that
certain countries, including Ireland, have provided illegal state aid in certain cases. These investigations may result in changes
to the tax treatment of our foreign operations. Due to the large and expanding scale of our international business activities and
expiring tax holiday benefits, many of these types of changes to the taxation of our activities could increasc our worldwide
effective tax rate and harm our finaneial position, results of operations, and cash flows.

Our financial position and operating vesults may be adversely affected by the changing U.S. Dollar rates and fluctuations in
ather currency exchange raftes.

We will be exposed to currency exchange risk with respect to the U.S. dollar in relation to the foreign currencies in the
countries where we conduct operations because a significant portion of our operating expenses are incurred in foreign countries.

This exposure may increase as we expand in foreign countries.

The rapid spread of contagious illnesses can have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
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The rapid spread of a comtagious illness such as a novel coronavirus, or fear of cuch an event, can have a material
adverse effect on the demand for worldwide travel and therefore have an adverse effect on our business and results of
operations. Similarly, travel restrictions or operational issues resulting from the rapid spread of contagious illnesses in a part of
the world in which we have significant operations may have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Risks Related To Corporate Governance
Principal shareholders may be able to exert control over our future divection and eperations.

IT our principal shareholders and the holdings of entities controlled by them vote in the same manner, this could delay,
prevent or facilitate a change in control of Ebix or other significant changes to Ebix or its capital structure. Refer to the
disclosure regarding “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters” in
our annual proxy statement tor more information,

Provisions in our articles of incorporation, bylaws, und Delaware law may make it difficult for a third party to acquire us,
even in situations that may be viewed as desirable by our shareholders.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, and the provisions of Delaware law may delay, prevent or otherwise
increase the difficulty of our acquisition by means of a tender offer, a proxy contest, open market purchases, removal of
incumbent directors and otherwise. These provisions, which are summarized below, arc expected to discourage coercive
takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids, and to encourage persons secking to acquire control of us to first negotiate
with us. Wc are subject to the “business combination™ provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. In
general, those provisions prohibit a publicly held Delaware corporation from engaging in various “business combination”
transactions with any intcrested stockholder for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person
became an interested stockholder, unless:

«  The transaction is approved by the board of directors prior to the date the interested stockholder obtained
interested stockholder status;

- Upon consummation of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder's beconing an intercsted stockholder,
the stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the comporation outstanding at the time the
transaction commmenced; or

= On or subsequent to the date the business combination is approved by the board of directors, it is authorized
at an annual or special meeting of stockholders by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the
outstanding volting stock that is not owned by the intcrested stockholder.

These provisions could prohibit or delay mergers or other takeover or change of control attempts with respect to us
and, accordingly, may discourage attempts to acquire us.

The Company has an Amended SAR Agreement with Mr. Robin Raina which could have the effect of discouraging or
making more difficult an acquisition or change of control of the Company even in sitnations that may be viewed as desirable
by our shareholders.

On April 10, 2018, the Company cntered into a Stock Appreciation Right Award Agreement, which was amended on
May 7, 2019 (the “Amended SAR Agreement™) with Robin Raina, the Company’s Chairman, President and Chief Executive
Officer. The Amended SAR Agreement replaced the Acquisition Bonus Agreement (the “ABA™) between the Company and
Mr. Raina, dated July 15, 2009. At the time that Mr. Raina and the Company entered into the ABA, the Board had concluded
that Mr. Raina’s retention was critical to the future success and growth of the Company and, consequently, the Board’s
intention in entering into the ABA was to cnsure that Mr. Raina would be appropriately rewarded for his contributions to the
Company prior to an Acquisition Event (as defined below), as well as to further motivate Mr. Raina to maximize the value
received by all stockholders if the Company were to be acquired. The Amended SAR Agreement also recognizes Mr. Raina’s
critical role in the future success and growth of the Company.

Upon the effective date of the original SAR Agreement, Mr. Raina received 5,933,975 stock appreciation rights with
respect to the Company’s common shares {(the “SARs”). Upon an Acquisition Event (as defined in the Amended SAR
Agreement), each of thc SARs cntitles Mr. Raina to receive a cash payment from the Company cqual to the excess, if any, of
the net proceeds per share received in connection with an Acquisition Event over the base price of $7.95. Mr. Raina will only
be entitled to receive a payment with respect to the SARs if he is employed by the Company at the time of an Acquisition Event
or was terminated by the Company without cause within the 180-day period immediately preceding an Acquisition Event. The
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Amended SAR agreement further provides that if an Acquisition Event occurs more than 180 days afier, but not later than the
tenth anniversary of, the date that Mr, Raina’s employment is involuntarily terminated by the Company without Canse (as
defined in the Amended SAR Agreement), 1,000,000 SARs will be deemed accrued and will be eligible to vest on the closing
date of the Acquisition Event, which number will be increased by 750,000 SARs beginning on the first anniversary of the
cffective date of the Amended SAR Agreement and each anniversary thereafter (subject in each case to Mr. Raina’s continued
employment on cach anniversary date), until 100% of the SARs {(including any Shortfall Grants) have accrued and are eligible
to vest on the closing date of an Acquisition Event that occurs more than 180 days after, but not later than the tenth anniversary
of, the date that Mr, Raina’s employment is involuntarily terminated by the Company without Cause; provided, howcver, that,
(i) no additional SARs will accruc following the date that Mr. Raina’s employment is involuntarily terminated by the Company
without Cause, (ii) any accrued SARs will be forfeited if an Acquisition Event does not occur prior to the tenth anniversary of
the date that Mr, Raina’s employment is involuntarily terminaled by the Company without Cause, and (iii) all of the SARs will
be forfeited if Mr. Raina’s employment terminates for any other reason prior to the closing date of an Acquisition Event.

Annually, while Mr. Rama 15 employed by the Company and prior to an Acquisition Event, the Board shall determine
whether a “shortfall” (as defined in the SAR Agreement) existed as of the end of the immediately preceding fiscal year. In the
event the Board determines that a shortfall existed, Mr. Raina will be granted additional SARs (or, in the Board’s sole
diseretion, restricted shares or restricted stock units {each a “Share Grant”)) in an amount sufficient to eliminate such shortfall
(each a “*Shortfall Grant™). A “shortfall” will exist if the number of Mr. Raina’s shares is less than 20% of the total of (a) the
number of SARs, plus (b) the number of outstanding shares reported by the Company in its audited financial statements as of
the end of the immediately preceding fiscal year, minus (¢) the number of shares paid, awarded or otherwise received by Mr.
Raina from the Company as compensation after April 10, 2018, including any shares received as a result of Mr. Raina
exercising stock options granted after April 10, 2018 or the grant or vesting of restricted stock or settlement of RSUs granted to
Mr. Raina after April 10, 2018, but excluding any sharcs received as a resull of the grant, vesting or settlement of any Share
Grants.

In the cvent that an Acquisition Event had occurred on December 31, 2020, and assuming that the stockholders of the
Company received Net Proceeds of $37.97 per share (the closing price of the Company’s common stock on December 31,
2020} in connection with the Acquisition Even(, Mr. Raina would have received a $178.7 million payment with respect to the
SARs upon the occurrence of the Acquisition FEvent, determined by multiplying the number of SARS by the excess of the Net
Proceeds per share over the base price of $7.95 per share.

Risks Related To Accounting and Financial Statements
We could potentially be required to recognize an impairment of goodwill or other indefinite-lived intangible assets.

Goodwill represents the excess of the amounts paid by us to acquire businesses over the fair value of their nct asscts at
the date of acquisition. The Company’s indefinite-lived assets are associated with the contractual customer relationships
existing with those property and casualty insurance carriers in Australia using our property and casualty data exchange. At
December 31, 2020, we had $949.0 million of goodwill and $21.6 million of indefinite-lived intangible assets carried on the
Company's consolidated balance sheet. See Note | to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of our goodwill
and indefinite-lived intangible assets. We evaluate goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets at least annually for any
potential impairment. 1f it is determined that goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible asscts have been impaired, we must write
down the goodwill and mdefinite-lived intangible asscts by the amount of the impairment, with a corresponding charge to net
income. These write downs could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately determine our financial
results or prevent fraud. As a result, our stockholders could lose confidence in our financial vesults, which could harm our
business and the market value of our common shares.

Effective internal controls over financial reporting are necessary for us to provide reliable and accurate financial
reports and effectively prevent fraud. We may in the future discover areas of our internal controls that need improvement.
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“SOX) requires us to evaluate and report on the effectiveness of our internal
controls over financial reporting and bave our independent auditors issue their own opinion regarding the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting and related disclosures. While we continually undertake efforts to maintain an effective
system of internal controls and compliance with SOX, we cannot always be certain that we will be successful in maintaining
adequate control over our financial reporting and related financial processes. Furthermore, as we grow our business, our internal
control structure may become more complex, and could possibly require significantly more resources to ensure our internal
controls remain effective. If we or our independent auditors discover a material weakness or significant deficiency in our
controls over financial reporting, the disclosure of that fact, cven if immediately remedied, could significantly reduce the
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market valuc of cur common stock. In addition, the existence of any material weakness or significant deficiency may require
management to devote significant time and incur significant expense to remediate any such wcaknesses, and management may
not be able to remediate the same in a timely manner.

The nature of our business requires the application of complex revenue and expense recognition rules that requive
management to make estimates and assumptions. Additionally, the current legislative and regulatory environment affecting
U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) is uncertain and significant changes in current principles could
affect our financial statements going forward.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAATP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements. We base our cstimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets, Labilities, equity, revenues and cxpenses that are not
readily apparent from other sources.

While we believe that our financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GA AP, we cannot predict with certainty
the impact of future changes to accounting principles or our accounting policies on our financial statements going forward. In
addition, were we to change our critical accounting estimates, including the timing of recognition of license revenue and other
revenue sources, our reported revenues and results of operations could be significantly impacted. Additionally, the accounting
rules and regulations that we must comply with are complex. The Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) and the
SEC, or other accounting organizations or governmental entities frequently issuc new pronouncements or new interpretations of
existing accounting standards. Recent actions and public conunents from the FASB and the SEC have focused on the integrity
of financial reporting. In addition, many companies' accounting policies arc being subject to heighiened scrutiny by regulators
and the public. Changes in accounting standards, how the accounting standards arc interpreted, or the adoption of new
accounting standards, particularly concerning revenue recognition, can have a significant effect on our reported results, and
could even retroactively affect previously reported transactions and financial statements, and may require that we make
significant changes to our systems and operational policy, processes and controls.

Further, the accounting rules and regulations arc continually changing in ways that could materially impact our
financial statements. Changes resulting from these new standards may result in materially different financial resuits and may
require that we change how we process, analyze and report financial information and that we change financial reporiing
controls. Such changes in accounting standards may have an adverse effect on our business, financial position, and income,
which may negatively impact our financial results.

We may be exposed to visks relating to the resignation of our prior registered public accounting firm.

As previously disclosed by the Company in its Current Report on Form 8-K filed with filed with the SEC on February
19, 2021 (the “February 19 8-K), on February 15, 2021, the Company received notice from its registered public accounting
firm, RSM, that RSM resigned effective immediately. As further described in the February 19, 2021 §-K, RSM informed the
Company that it was “resigning as a result of being unable, despite repeated inquiries, to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence that would allow it to evaluate the business purpose of significant unusual transactions that occurred in the fourth
quarter of 2020, including whether such transactions have been properly accounted for and disclosed in the financial statements
subjcct to the Audit,”

As further described in the February [9, 2021 8-K, from the time that RSM was initially engaged through its
restgnation, other than as provided above and described in the February 19, 2021 8-K, there were no (i) disagreements (as that
term is defined in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K) betwcen the Company and RSM on any matter of accounting
principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedures, which disagreements, if not resolved to
the satisfaction of RSM, would have caused RSM to make reference to the subject matter thereof in its reports for such fiscal
years and interim period, or (i), reportable events as that term is described in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K.
Nevertheless, we may discover future deficiencies in our internal controls over financial reporting, including those identified
through testing conducted by us or subsequent testing by our independent registered public accounting firm. If we are unable to
meet the demands that have becn placed upon us as a public company, including the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act,
we may be unable to accurately report our financial results in future periods, or report them within the timeframes required by
law or stock exchange regulations. Failure to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, when and as applicable, could also
potentially subject us to sanctions or investigations by the SEC or other regulatory authorities. Any failure to maintain or
implement required new or improved controls, or any difficulties we encounter in their implementation, could result in
additional material weaknesses or significant deficiencies, cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations or result in material
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misstatcments in our financial statements, If we cannot provide reliable financial reports or prevent fraud, our business and
results of operations could be harmed and investors could lose confidence in our reported financial informatton.

Risks Related to Litigation and Regulation

The costs and effects of litigation, investigations or similar matters involving us or our subsidiaries, or adverse facts and
developments related thereto, could materially affect our business, operating vesults and financial condition. Our insurance
may not cover these costs.

We may be involved from time to time in a variety of litigation, investigations, inquiries or similar matters arising out
of our business, including those described in “Part I, Item 3 - Legal Proceedings” and “Part TF - Item 8. Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data - Note 5 - Commitments and Contingencies” of this Report. We cannot predict the outcome of thesc or
any other legal mallers. In the furure, we may need to record litigation reserves with respect to these matters. Furlher, regardless
of how these matters proceed, it could divert our management's attention and other resources away from our business. Our
insurance may not cover all claims that may be asserted against us and indemnification rights to which we are entitled may not
be honored, and any claims asserled against us, regardless of merit or eventual outcome, may harm our reputation. Should the
ultimate judgments or settlements in any litigation or investigation significantly exceed our insurance coverage, they could have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, premiums for insurance
covering directors’ and officers' liability are rising. We may not be able to obtain appropriate types or levels of insurance in the
future, nor may we be able to obtain adequatc replacement policies with acceptable terms or at historic rates, if at all.

Government investigations may reguive significant management time and attention, vesult in significant legal expenses or
damages and cause the Company's business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows to suffer. The
Company could face additional governmental investigations, could incur substantial costs to defend any such investigations
and be required to pay damages, fines and penalties, or incur additional expenses or be subject to infunctions as a resulf of
the outcome of such investigations. The unfaverable resolution of one or more matters could adversely impact the Company.

The Company has been subject to government investigations in the past and may be subject to new government
investigations in the future. The amount of time needed to resolve any such investigations is uncertain, and the Company
cannot predict the outcome of any such investigations. Subject to certain [imitations, the Company is obligated to indemnify
current and former directors, officers and employees in connection with any such governmental investigations, inquiries, or
actions. Such matters could require the Company to expend significant management time and incur significant legal and other
expenses, result in civil and criminal actions seeking, among other things, injunctions against the Company and the payment of
significant fines and penalties by the Company and adversely affect our ability to attract and retain custemers and employees,
which could have a material effcct on the Company's financial condition, business, results of operations and cash flow.
Additionally, marketplace rumors regarding any such investigations could affect the trading price of our commeon stock,
regardless of whether these rumors are accurate.

If governmental authorities were to commence legal action related to any such investigations, then the Company could
be required to pay significant penalties and could become subject to injunctions, a cease and desist order and other equitable
remedies. The Company can provide no assurances as to the outcome of any such governmenial investigation.

Federal Trade Commission laws and regulations that govern the insurance industry could expose us or the agents, brokers
and carriers with whom we conduct business in our online marketplace to legal penalries.

We perform functions for licensed insurance agents, brokers and carriers and need to comply with complex regulations
that vary among stales and nations. These regulations can be difficult to comply with, and open to interpretation. If we fail to
properly interpret or comply with these regulations, we, the insurance agents, brokers or carriers doing business with us, our
officers, or agents with whom we contract could be subject to various sanctions, including censure, fines, ccasc-and-desist
orders, loss of license or other penalties. This risk, as well as other laws and regulations affecting our business and changes in
the regulatory climate or the enforcement or interpretation of existing law, could expose us lo additional costs, including
indemnification of participating insurance agents, brokers or carriers, and could require changes to our business or otherwise
harm our business. Furthermore, because the application of online commerce to the consumer insurance market is relatively
new, the impact of eurrent or future regulations on our business is difficult to anticipate. To the extent that there arc changes in
regulations regarding the manner in which insurance is sold, our business could be adversely affected.

Potential ligbilities under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act ("FCPA") could have a material adverse effect on our
business.
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We arc subject to the FCPA, which prohibits people or companies subject to U.S. jurisdiction and their intcrmediaries
from engaging in bribery or other prohibited payments to foreign officials for the purposes of obtaining or retaining business or
gaining an unfair business advantage, It also requires proper record keeping and characterization of such payments in reports
{iled with the SEC. Qur international operations subject us to possible FCPA violations, likely more so than most companies.
Tao the extent that any of our employces, supplies, distributors, consultants, subcontractors, or others engage in conduct that
subjects us to exposure under the FCPA, or other anti-corruption legislation, we could suffer financial penalties, debarment
from government contracts and other consequences that may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
or results of operations.

We are not in compliance with the requivements of Nasdayq for continued listing, and if Nasdagq does not concur that we
have adequately remedied our non-compliance with Nasdag Listing Rule 5250¢c)(1), our common stock may be delisted
[from trading on Nasdag, which could have a material adverse effect on us and our shareholders.

On March 1, 2021, subsequent to the resignation of RSM from its position on February 15, 2021, we filed a
Notification of Late Filing with the SEC pursuant to Rule 12b-25 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Rule
12b-25™), indicating that we were unable, without unreasonable effort and expense, to {inalize our 2020 Financial Statements by
March 1, 2021, the filing due date to file the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020
(the 2020 Form 10-K™) . We indicated at the time that we intended to file the 2020 Form 10-K as soon as practicable, and
would make every effort to file the 2020 Form 10-K within the fifteen-day extension period afforded by Rule 12b-25.

On March 2, 2021, we received a notification letter from The Nasdag Stock Market LLC (*Nasdaq™) stating that,
because the Company had not yet filed the 2020 Form 10-K, the Company was no longer in compliance with Nasdaq Listing
Rule 5250(c)(1), which requires listed companies to timely file all required periodic financial reports with the SEC. Nasdag’s
notification letter states that we have 45 calendar days, or until April 16, 2021, to submit to Nasdagq a plan to regain compliance
with the Nasdaq Listing Rules. If Nasdaq accepts the Company’s plan, then Nasdaq may grant the Company up to 180 days
from the prescribed due date for filing the 2020 Form 10-K to regain compliance. If Nasdaq does not accept the Company’s
plan, then the Company will have the opportunity to appeal that decision to a Nasdaq hearings panel.

The Company has provided its plan to Nasdaq, and as described in more detail above, the Company has retained KGS
as its independent registered public accounting firm 1o audit the Financial Statements. However, there can be no assurance that
Nasdaq will concur that we have remedied our non-compliance with Listing Rule 5250{c)(1), in which case our common stock
could remain subject to delisting by Nasdaq. If our common stock is delisted, there can be no assurance whether or when it
would again be listed for trading on Nasdaq or any other securities exchange. Further, the market price of our shares could
decline and become more volatile, and our shareholders might {ind that their investment in our shares has limited liquidity.
Moreover, institutions whosc charters forbid holding securities in unlisted companies might scll our shares, which could have a
further adverse effcet on the price of our stock.

Risks Related To Our Commeon Stock
The price of our common stock may be extremely volatile,

In a future period, our results of operations may be below the expectations of public market investors, which could
negatively affect the market price of our common stock. Furthermore, the stock market in general has experienced heightened
price and volume fluctuations recently. We belicve that, in the future, the market price of our common stock could fluctuate
widely due to variations in our performance and operating results or because of any of the following factors:

+ announcements of new services, products, or technological innovations, or strategic relationships by us or our
campeltilors;

+ announcements of business acquisitions or strategic relationships by us or our competitors;

+  trends or conditions in the insurance, financial services, software, business process outsourcing and internet/e-
commerce markets;

«  changes in market valuations of our competitors; and

+  general political, economic, regulatory and market conditions.

In addition, the market prices of securities of technology companies, including our own, have been volatilc and have
expericnced fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to a specific company's operating performance. As a
result, investors may not be able to sell shares of our common stock at or above the price at which an investor paid. Tn the past,
following perieds of volatility in the market price of a company's securities, sccurities class action litigation has often been
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instituted against that company. Any securities litigation would involve substantial cosls and our management's attention could
be diverted from our business.

Our ability and intent to pay cash dividends in the future may be limited,

We currently pay a $0.075 quarterly dividend on cur common shares, and while the Board of Directors intends to pay
quarterly dividends, the Board will make the detecrmination of the amount of future cash dividends, if any, to be declared and
paid based on, among other things, our financial condition, funds from operations, the level of our capital expenditures and
future business prospects.

Quarterly and annual operating vesults may fluctuate, which could cause our stock price to be volatile.

Our quarterly and annual operating results may fluctuate significantly in the future due to a variety of factors related to
Our revenues or operating expenses in any particular period. Results of operations during any particular period are not
necessarily an indication of our results for any other period. Factors that may adversely affect our periodic results may include
the loss of a significant insurance agent, carrier or broker relationship or the merger of any of our participating insurance
carriers with one another. Our operating expenses are based in part on our expectations of our future revenues and are partially
fixed in the short term. We may be unable to adjust spending quickly enough to offset any unexpected revenue shortfall,

1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

Item 2, PROPERTIES

The Company’s corporate headquarters, including substantially all of our carporate administration functions, is located
in Johns Creek, Georgia where we own a commercial office building. In addition the Company and its subsidiaries lease office
space, primarily for sales and operations support, in Salt Lake City, Utah, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, Pasadena, California,
Birmingharn, Alabama, and Phoenix, Arizona. The Company leases office space in New Zealand, Australia, Singapore, Dubai,
Brazil, Canada, Indonesia, Philippines, and London for support, operations and sales offices. The Company also leases
approximately 140 facilities across India, while owning six facilitics in India. Management believes its facilities are adequate
for irs current nceds and that necessary suitable additional or substitute space will be available as needed at reasonable rates.

[nformation on the geographic dispersion of the Company’s revenues and long-lived assets is furnished in Note 14 to
the consolidated financial statements, included in Part Il ftem & of this Form [0-K.

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On February 22, 2021, Christine Marie Teifke, a purported purchaser of Ebix, Inc. securities, filed a putative class
action in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York on behalf of herself and others who purchascd
or acquired Ebix securities between November 9, 2020 and February 19, 2021. The complaint asscrts claims against Ebix, Inc.,
Robin Raina, and Steven M. Hamil, for purported violations of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, alleging
that Ebix, Inc. made false and misleading statements and failed to disclose material adverse facts about an audit of the
company's gift card business in India and its internal controls over the gift and prepaid card revenue transaction cycle. The
complaint also asserts a claim against Robin Raina and Steven M. Hamil for purported violations of Section 20(a) of the
Exchange Act arising out of the same facts, The complaint seeks, among other relief, damages and attorneys' fees and costs.
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On July 16, 2019, Yatra Online, Inc. ("Yatra"), Ebix, Inc. ("Ebix"), and EbixCash Travels, Inc. ("Merger Sub") entercd
into a Merger Agreement. On May 14, 2020, Yatra cntered into an agreement with Ebix and Merger Sub extending the outside
date of the Merger Agreement (the "Extension Agreement™). On June 5, 2020, Yatra terminated the Merger Agreement and
filed a complaint in the Delaware Court of Chancery against Ebix and Merger Sub (the "Complaint™). On September 25, 2020,
Yatra amended the Complaint and added as a defendant each financial institution {each, a “Defendant Lender”) party to the
Credit Facility, which, prior to the filing of the original Complaint, had been previously amended on May 7, 2020 (the “Credit
Facility”). The Complaint, as amended, alleges that Ebix and Merger Sub breached certain representations, warranties, and
covenants contained in the Merger Agreament and the Extension Agrecement and that Ebix negotiated in bad faith. The amended
Complaint also alleges fraudulent actions by Ebix and the Defendant Lenders arising from certain terms of the Credit Facility
and tortious interference with the closing of the Merger Agreement by Ebix and the Defendant Lenders. The Complaint seeks,
among other relief, damages, pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, and attorneys' fees and costs. Ebix and Merger Sub deny
any liability and intend to defend the action vigorously.

On May 12, 2017, Ebix Software India Pvt. Ltd. ("Ebixcash™) entered into several agreements with the most
prominent shareholders of Itz Cash Card Limited (“1tz’™), the most relevant among these a stock purchase agreement (the
“SPA™, to purchase a majority ownership stake in Itz. Further, as part of the overall purchase of Itz, a share purchasc
agreement between Ebixcash and individual ESOP holders of [tz was entered into on July 7, 2017 (the “ESOP SPA™) (with the
SPA, the ESOP SPA and the other purchase documents, collectively, the “Transaction Documents™). Part of the consideration
for Ebixcash’s purchase of Itz consisted of two individual potential earn-out payments, the first for the period for the year ended
March 31, 2019 (the “First Earn-Out™) and the second for the following year, ending on March 31, 2020 (the “Sccond Earn-
Out™). Neither the First Earn-Oul nor the Second Earn-Out were achicved pursuant to the terms of the SPA. Affer
correspondence between the parties between September 2019 and May 2020, the former shareholders of iz (“Sellers™) sent
Ebixcash notices of arbitration (“NOAs™) under which they were availing themselves of the arbitration dispute provisions set
forth in the Transaction Documents. Apart from the amounts claimed owed under the earn-out provisions, the Seflers also
alleged in thc NOAs other violations of the terms of the Transaction Documents, including, certain non-competition and
restricted matter approval violations. The matter is under Arbitration in accordance with the rules of the Singapore International
Arbitration Centre. The Company believes that each of the Sellers claims is without merit and continues to defend its position
vigorously. The Company believes that Ebixcash has several viable counterclaims related to improper termination of the
Transaction Documents and violation of non-compete provisions.

As the Company has previously disclosed, in May 2013, twelve putative class action complaints were filed in the
Delaware Court of Chancery against the Company and its board of directors challenging a proposed merger between the
Company and an affiliate of Goldman Sachs & Co. On June 10, 2013, the Court entered an Order of Consolidation and
Appointment of Lead Plaintiffs and a Leadership Structure consolidating the twelve actions and appointing lead plaintiffs
(“Plaintiffs™ and lead counsel in the litigation, captioned fn re Ebix, Inc. Stockholder Litigation, Consol. C.A. No. 8526-VCS
(the “Litigation™). In connection with the Litigation, on January 23, 2019, the parties entered into a Stipulation and Agreement
of Settlement (the “Settlement Agreement™) pursuant to which the parties agreed, subject to approval by the Delaware Court of
Chancery, to settle and resolve the Litigation pursuant to the terms set forth in the Settlement Agreement (the “Litigation
Settlement™). On April 5, 2019, the Delaware Court of Chancery determined that the Litigation Settlement was fair, reasonable,
adequate and in the best interest of the plaintiffs, the class and the Company and awarded to plaintiffs’ counsel attorneys’ fees
and expenses in the sum of $19.65 million, payable by the Company within 20 days, and entered an Order and Final Judgment
{the “Order") approving the Litigation Scttlement. The Order provides for full settlement, satisfaction, compromise and release
of all claims that were asserted or could have been asserted in the Litigation, whether on behalf of the class or the Company.
The Order is publicly available for inspection at the Office of the Register in Chancery, and on the Court's online electronic
filing system, File & ServeXpress. The Settlement contains no admission of wrongdoing or liability, and may not be deemed io
be a presumption as to the validity of any claims, causes of action or other issues. The Settlement was fully paid on May 2,
2019.

The Company is involved in various other ¢laims and legal actions arising in the ordinary coursc of business, which in the

opinion of management, the ultimate likely disposition of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

Ttem 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II

Ttem 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

At December 31, 2020, the principal market for the Company’s common stock was the Nasdaq Global Capital Market.
The Company’s common stock trades under the symbol “EBIX.”

As previously disclosed, on March 2, 2021, the Company received a notification letter from Nasdaq stating that,
because the Company had not yet filed its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 (the “2020
Form 10-K™), the Company was no longer in compliance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5250{c)(1), which requires listed companies
to timely file all required periodic financial reports with the SEC. Nasday’s nolification letter states that the Company has 45
calendar days, or until April 16, 2021, to submit to Nasdag a plan to regain compliance with the Nasdaq Listing Rules, and the
Company has provided such a plan to Nasdaq within this timeline.

If Nasdaq accepts the Company’s plan, then Nasdaq may grant the Company up to 180 days from the prescribed due
date for filing the 2020 Form 10-K to regain compliance. If Nasdaq does not accept the Company’s plan, then the Company
will have the opportunity to appeal that decision to a Nasdaq hearings panel. At this time, this matter has not affected the listing
of the Company’s common stock on the Nasdag Global Capital Market.

Holders

As of April 23, 2021, there were 30,942,871 shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding. As of April 23,
2021, there were 136 registered holders of record of the Company’s common stock.

Dividends

While the Board of Directors intends to continue to pay quarterly dividends, the Board will make the determination of
the amount of future cash dividends, if any, to be declared and paid based on, among other things, the Company's financial
condition, funds from operations, the Jevel of its capital expenditures and iis future business prospects.

Sales or Issuances of Unregistered Securitics
None
Recent Repurchases of Equity Securities

There were no share repurchases made by the Company during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, During the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, the Company repurchased 93,000 shares of common stock for a total aggregate purchase
price of $4.15 million. The Company has approximately $80.1 million remaining under its current Board of Directors-approved
share repurchasc program.

(8]
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PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The line graph below compares the yearly percentage change in cumulative total stockholder return on our Common
Stock for the last five fiscal ycars with the Nasdag Stock Market (U.8)) stock index and the Nasdaq Computer Index. The
following graph assumes the investment of $100 on December 31, 2015, and the reinvestment of any dividends (rounded to the

nearest dollar).
Comparison of Five Year Cumulative Total Return
12/31/2015  12/31/20016  12/31/2017  12/31/2018 12/31/2019  12/31/2020
EBIX, INC. 5 100 3 176 § 247 3 140§ 108 3 120

NASDAQ STOCK MARKET (U.S.) $ 100 § 108§ 138§ 133 8 179 8 257
NASDAQ COMPUTER $ 100 $ 112§ 156 $ 150 § 226 $ 338
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DNasdag Stock Market (US)
~Nasdag Computer
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34



Table of Contents

Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following data for fiscal vears 2020, 2019, 2018, 2017, and 2016 should be read in conjunction with
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations™ and with our consolidated financial
statements and the related notes and other financial information included herein.

Consolidated Financial Highlights

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Results of Operations:
Revenue $ 625609 § 580,615 & 497826 § 363,971 3 298,294
Operating income 125,802 155,673 152,979 113,221 100,281
Net income from continuing operations g 92,377 % 96,720 & 93,139 § 100,618 § 93,847
Net income per share:

Basic b 303 % 317 % 297 % 319 % 2.88
Diluted $ 302 8 3.16 § 295 % 317 % 2.86
Shares used in computing per share

data:

Basic 30,510 30,511 31,393 31,552 32,603
Diluted 30,571 30,594 31,534 31,715 32,863
Cash dividend per common share $ 030 $ 030 3% 030 % 036 § 0.30

Financial Positien:

Total assets $ 1,569,853 § 1,591,619 § 1,610,947 § 1,113,013 $ 803,755
Short-term debt* 25,260 23,650 19,053 14,500 12,500
Long-terma debt* 672,269 693,498 700,709 385,779 260,279
Redeemable common stock — — — — —
Stockholders’ equity § 612,979 § 599,445 § 544437 § 533,759 § 438,636

*Excluding amounts related to deferred financing costs
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Ttem 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS ("MD&A") OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

As used herein, the terms “Ebix,” “the Company,” “we,” “our” and “us” refer to Ebix, Inc., a Delaware corporation,
and its consolidated subsidiaries as a combined entity.

The information contained in this section has been derived from our historical financial statements and should be read
together with our historical financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this document. The discussion below
contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 274 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These forward-looking stalements involve risks and
uncertainties including, but not limited to: demand and acceplance of sevvices offered by us, our ability to achieve and
maintain acceptable cost levels, pricing levels and actions by competitors, regulatory matters, general economic conditions,
and changing business strategies, Forward-looking statemenis are subject to a number of factors that could cause actual
vesults to differ muterielly from vur expressed or implied expectations, including, but not mited to our performance in future
periods, our ahbility to generate working capital from operations, the adequacy of owr insurance coverage, and the results of
litigation or investigations. Our forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of terminology such as “anticipates,”
“expects,” “intends,” “believes,” “will” or the negative thereof or variations thereon or comparable terminology. Except as
required by law, we undertake no obligarion to publiclv update ov revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of
new information, future events or otherwise.

OVERVIEW

Ebix endeavors to provide on-demand software and e-commerce services 1o the insurance, financial, healthcare and e-
learning industries. In the Insurance sector, the Company’s main focus is to develop and deploy globally a wide variety of
insurance and reinsurance exchanges on an on-demand basis, while also providing SaaS enterprise solutions in the area of
CRM, front-end & back-end systems, outsourced administrative and risk compliance, The P&C exchanges operate primarily in
Australia, New Zcaland and the UK. With a "Phygital” strategy that combines over 320,000 physical distribution outlets in
India and many (“ASEAN™) countries, to an Omni-channel online digital platform, the Company’s EbixCash Financial
exchange portfolio encompasses leadership in the areas of domestic and international money remittance, Forex, travel, pre-paid
& gift cards, utility payments, software solutions for fending and wealth management etc., in India and other markets. The
Company’s Forex Exchange has the leading market share within India’s airport foreign exchange business and encompasses 20
international airports, such as Delhi, Mumbai, Hyderabad, Chennai and Kolkata International airports, all of which combined
conducting over $4.8 billion in gross transaction value annually (pre-COVID-19). EbixCash’s inward remittance business in
India conducts gross annual remittance of approximately $5 billion annually (pre-COVID-19) and is the clear market leader,
EbixCash, through its travel portfolio of Via and Mercury, is one of Southeast Asia’s leading travel exchanges, with over
200,000 agents, 25 branches and over 9,800 comorate ¢lients, combined processing an estimated $2.5 billion in gross
merchandise value per annum (pre-COVID-19). Through its various SaaS-based software platforms, Ebix employs thousands of
domain-specific technology professionals to provide products, support and consultancy to thousands of customers on six
continents.

Ebix provides application software products for the insurance industry, including carrier systems, agency systems and
cxchanges, as well as custom software development. Approximately 88% of the Company’s revenues are either recurring or
repeating (transaction-based) in nature. Rather than license our products in perpetuity, we typically either license them for
multiple years with ongoing support revenucs or license them on a limited term basis using a subscription hosting or
Application Service Provider ("ASP") model. Combined subscription-based and transaction-based revenues of $552 million
comprised 88% of the Company's total revenucs in 2020, as compared to 84% of total revenues in 2019. In 2020, subscription-
hased revenues decreased by approximately $14 million to $164 million, and as a percentage of the Company's total revenues
was 26% in 2020 versus 31% in 2019, The Company has modified the classification of certain revenues in 2020, which
impacts the presentation of 2019 revenues and percentages above versus the 2019 10-K presentation.

The Company’s technology vision is Lo converge processes in a manner such that data can scamlessly flow between
entities after an initial data entry has been made. Our customers include many of the top insurance and financial sector
companies in the world.

The insurance and financial markets continue to focus on initiatives to reduce paper-based processes and facilitate
improvements in efficiency, both on the back end of transactions as well as at the consumer-involved front cnd of transaction
processes. This drive for efficiency involves all entities and dircctly impacts the manner in which insurance and financial
products are distributed. Management believes that both the insurance and financial services industrics will continue to
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experience significant change and increased efficiencics through online exchanges as reduced paper-based processcs arc
becoming increasingly the norm across the world insurance and financial markets.

Trends and Uncertainties Related to the COVID-19 Pandemig

In December 2019, COVID-19 was reported and has spread globally, including to every state in the U.S. On March 11,
2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a pandemic, and on March 13, 2020 the U.S. government declared a
national emergency with respect to COVID-19.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, many state, local, and foreign governments implemented travel restrictions,
quarantines, shelter-in-place orders, and similar government orders and restrictions, in an attcmpt to control the spread of the
discasc. Such restrictions or orders, or the perception that such restrictions or orders could be implemented, resulted in business
closures, work stoppages, slowdowns and delays, work-from-home policies, and the cancellation or postponement of events.

Beginning in March 2020, in an effort to protect our employees and comply with applicable government orders, we
restricted non-essential employee travel and transitioned our employees 10 a remote work environment. We have not
experienced a material impact from shifting our employees to a remote work environment, which we primarily attribute to the
professionalism of our workforce and our extensive use of technology throughout our business. However, COVID-19 could
negatively impact the productivity of our workforce if the pandemic requires prolonged remote working conditions,

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, particularly beginning in March, we expericrced a decrease in
demand for certain of our solutions and services, particularly those related to the Company's travel, foreign exchange,
remittance, c-learning and consulting business areas, after certain government restrictions were implemented. This decreased
demand continued throughout 2020 in varying degrees for each business area, and even persists through the date of this filing
for all of the above mentioned business areas, but most notably in the travel and foreign exchange businesses. We expect that
demand variability for cur products and services will continue as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, and cannot predict with
any certainty when demand for these solutions/services will return to pre-COVID-19 levels,

We continue to monitor developments related to COVID-19 and remain flexible in our response to the challenges
presented by the pandemic. Along with the measures mentioned above to protect the health and safety of our employees, we
have also taken steps to strengthen our financial position to mitigatce the adverse impact that COVID-19 has had or may have on
our business and aperations, including amending our Credit Facility, reducing salaries for certain employees, furloughing
employees in the most negatively impacted business areas, eliminating certain employce positions, and eliminating, reducing, or
deferring non-essential expenditures. Additionally, we have taken steps to preserve cash balances, including a temporary
cessation to our share repurchase program.

Our reported results for the year ended December 31, 2020 may not be reflective of current market conditions, or of
our results for any futurc periods, which may be negatively impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic to a greater extent than the
reported period. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic may also exacerbate other risks discussed in this Annual Report. Refer
to Item 1A. “Risk Factors™ in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a complete description of the material risks that the
Company currently faces.

Keyv Performance Indicators

Management focuses on a variety of key indicators to monitor the Company's operating and financial performance,
These performance indicators include measurements of revenue growth, operating income, operating margin, income from
continuing operations, diluted earnings per share, and cash provided by operating activities. We monitor these indicators, in
conjunction with our corporate governance practices, to ensure efficient management of our business and maintenance of
effective controls.

The MD&A discusses year-to-year comparisons between 2020 and 2019. Discussions of year-to-year comparisons
between 2019 and 2018 are not included in this Form 10-K, but can be found in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2019 filed with the SEC on March 2, 2020.

The key performance indicators for the twelve months ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 were as follows:
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Key Performance Indicators
Twelve Months Ended December 31,

(In thousands except per share data) 2020 2019 2018
Revenue $ 625,609 $ 580,615 $ 497,826
Revenue growth 8 % 17 % 37 %
Operating income $ 125802 $ 155,673 § 152,979
Net income attributable to Ebix, Inc. $ 92,377 3 96,720 b 93,139
Diluted earnings per share 5 302 % 3.16 $ 2.95
Cash provided by operating activities $ 100,356 § 60,793 b 83,455
RESULTS OF QOPERATIONS
Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018
(In thausands)
Operating revenue: h 625,609 § 580,615 $ 497,826
Operating expenses:
Costs of services provided 343,262 205,165 168,415
Product development 35,267 45,302 39,078
Sales and marketing 13,835 19,578 17,587
General and administrative, net 87,537 140,429 108,475
Amortization and depreciation 13,738 14,468 11,202
Impainment of intangible asset 6,168 — —
Total operating expenses 499,807 424,942 344,847
Operating income 125,802 155,673 152,979
Interest expense, net (31411) (41,703) (26,665)
Other non-operating income 153 337 60
Non-operating expense - securities litigation — (21,140) —
Foreign exchange loss, net (387 {2,376) (792)
Income before taxes 94,157 94,791 125,582
Income 1ax expense {5,330) (220) (32,501)
Net income including noncontrolling interest $ 88,827 § 90,571 § 93,031
Net income atiributable to noncontrolling interest (3,550) % (6,149) $ (58)
Net income attributable to Ebix, Inc. $ 92,377 § 96,720 $ 93,139

TWELVE MONTHS ENDED DECEMBLER 31, 2020 AND 2019

Operating Revenue

The Company derives its revenues primarily from subscription and transaction fees pertaining to products or services
delivered over our exchangcs or from our ASP, fees for business process outsourcing services, and fees for software
development projects, including fees for consulting, implementation, training, and project management provided to customers
with installed systems, e-governance solutions to governmental agencics in the health and education sectors, as well as foreign
exchange, remittance {both inward and outward) and travel services from our financial exchanges.

Ebix’s revenue streams come from three product/service channels. Presented in the table below is the breakout of our
revenues for each of those product/service channels for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
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For the Year Ended

December 31,
(In thousands) 2020 2019
EbixCash Exchanges 388,293 319,953
Insurance Exchanges 178,111 190,067
Risk Compliance Solutions 59,205 70,595
Totals $ 625609 § 580,615

In the table abave for the year ending December 31, 2020 and 2019 there arc $13.1 mitlion and $17.5 million,
respeclively, of Insurance Exchange revenues derived in India that are being reported within the EbixCash Exchange channel
above.

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2020, our total revenue increased $45.0 million, or 8%, to $625.6
million compared to $580.6 million in 2019. On March 11, 2020, COVID-19 was declared a global pandemic by the World
Health Organization, Across the U.S, and the world, governments and municipalities instituted measures to control the spread
of COV1ID-19, including quarantines, shelter-in-place orders, school closings, travel restrictions and the closure of non-essential
businesses. Countries across the world arc re-opening cconomies, but are doing so in phases that differ in each country and, in
many cases, within individual countries. While our travel, foreign exchange, remittance and e-learning businesses continue to
be materially negatively impacted by COVID-19, the increase in 2020 total revenue year-over-year was due primarily to strong
demand for the Company's payment solutions offerings in India (primarily prepaid gift cards), which increased by more than
$200 million year-over-year to approximately $256 million, or 590% year-over-year growth. The increased demand for
prepaid gift cards in India was primarity due to: (i) changes in regulations by the Reserve Bank of India related to debit cards,
which has shifted demand in the market towards prepaid gift cards; (ii) COVID-19, which has facilitated increased online and
clectronic commerce due to restrictive lockdowns in 2020; and (iii) the Company's increased marketing efforts around the
prepaid gift card business. The Company’s travel, foreign exchange, remittance and e-learning businesses had a year-over-year
decline in revenues in 2020 in excess of $150 million, an approximately 65% decline year-over-year, which offsct the growth in
the payments solutions busincss.

The impact from fluctuations of the exchange rates for the foreign currencies in the countries in which we conduct
operations also adversely affected reported revenue. During each of the years 2020 and 2019 the change in foreign currency
exchange rates decreased reported consolidated operating revenue by $(21.9) million and $(9.3) million, respectively, Thus, on
a constant currency basis total revenue for the fiscal year 2020 increased approximately 12% year-over-year.

The specific components of our revenue based on our three main business lines and the changes experienced during
the past year are discussed immediately below.

Overall Exchange revenues increascd $56.4 million, or 11%, as explained below:

+ Insurance Exchange division revenues decreased by $12.0 million, or 6%, principally due to challenges faced
in our health content scrvices channel, and the negative effect of foreign exchange losses associated with the
strengthening U.S. dollar

+ EbixCash Exchange division revenues increased $68.3 million, or 21%, due to a mix of organic growth and
business acquisitions in the travel, foreign cxchange, and software solulions sectors, offset by forcign exchange
losses associated with the strengthening of the US Dollar.

+ Risk Compliance Solutions division revenues decreased by $11.4 million, or 16%, primarily due 1o a decline

in our U.8. professional consulting services associated with some major realignments in the sector.

Intermational revenue accounted for 73% and 69% of the Company’s total revenue for the fiscal years ended December
31, 2020 and 2019, respectively,

Costs of Services Provided
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Costs of services provided, which includes costs associated with product sales, customer support, consulting,
implementation, and training services increased $138.1 million, or 67%, from $205.2 million in 2019 to $343.3 million in 2020
and the Company's gross margin decreased to 45.1% in 2020 from 64.7% in 2019. The increase in costs of services provided
and the decrcase in gross margin from fiscal year 2019 to 2020 is directly related to the increase in over $200 million in revenue
within the Company’s payment solutions busincss (primarily gift card revenue) in fiscal years 2020 versus 2019. Payment
solutions gross margins are significantly lower than other solutions and services the Company provides its customers. In fiscal
years 2020 and 2019, the payment solutions gross marging for the Company were approximately 1% and 9.5%, respectively,
Excluding the payment solutions business, gross margins for the Company in fiscal years 2020 and 2019 were approximately
76% and 68%, respectively. The increase in gross margins, excluding the payment solutions business, in fiscal year 2020
versus 2019 was driven by the revenue mix differences for the Company, with the Company’s highest margin solutions/scrvices
{c.g. insurance exchange software and services) expericncing less relative negative impact from COVID-19 during 2020 versus
ather solutions/services {e.g. travel, foreign exchange and remittance busincsses).

Product Development Expenses

The Company’s product development efforts are focused on the development of new technologies for insurance
carriers, brokers and agents, and the development of new data exchanges for use in domestic and international insurance
markets, as well as the Forex and travel sectors. Product development expenses decreased $10.0 million, or 22%, from $45.3
million in 2019 to $35.3 million in 2020. The decrease is duc to reduced personnel costs and is directly related to actions taken
by management to reduce overall corporate expenditures in fiscal year 2020 versus 2019 in response to COVID-19,

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Sales and marketing expenses decreased $5.7 million, or 29%, from $19.6 million in 2019 to S13.8 million in 2020.
This decrease is primarily duc to reduced advertising and marketing costs in response to COVID-19.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative ("G&A™ expenses decreased $52.9 million, or 38%, from $140.4 million in 2019 to $87.5
million in 2020. This decrease was driven mostly by management’s strategic response to COVID-19 to reduce overall corporate
costs, as well as material rent reductions and abatements as a result of COVID-19. Specifically, personnel-related costs
decreased approximately $28 million in fiscal year 2020 as compared to 2019, and rent expense in fiscal year 2020 was
approximately $23 million less than in fiscal year 2019. Other items impacting the year-to-ycar comparison of G&A expenses
include a reduction in bad debt expense of approximately $12 million in fiscal year 2020 as compared to 2019 due to the $12.1
million accounts receivable reserve that was recognized in the third quarter of 2019 as a precautionary measure in regards to
receivables that are due from a public sector entity in India and that were billed during the 2016 through 2019 operating
periods.  Additionally, in 2619 the Company reduced the acquisition earn out accrual for the ItzCash acquisition by $15.4
million, which served to decrease overall G&A expenses in 2019, The one-time accounts receivable reserve of S12.1 million
(increased G&A expense) and the $15.4 million earn out accrual reduction (reduced G&A cxpense} largely offset the impacts to
overall G&A expense in fiscal ycar 2019,

Amortization and Depreciation Expenses

Amortization and depreciation expenses decreased $730 thousand, or 5%, to $13.7 million in 2020 from $14.5 million
in 2019 primarily due to lower amortization in 2020 versus 2019 related to definite lived intangibles resulting from prior

acquisition activity, primartly in India.
Interest Income
Interest income decrcased $462 thousand, or 73%, from $629 thousand in 2019 to $167 thousand in 202¢ primarily

due to decreases in the comparative balances in interest bearing accounts and overall lower interest rates in 2020 compared 1o
2019.
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Interest Expense

Interest expense decreased $10.8 million, or 25% from $42.3 million in 2019 to $31.6 million in 2020, primarily duc t¢
decrease LIBOR interest rates in 2020 versus 2019. Additionally, The Company’s working capital facilities in India had
average balances that were approximately $30 million lower in 2020 versus 2019. Thesc working capital facilities generally
carry interest rates of between 6.75% and 9.45%. The decrease in working capital facilities was associated with both

COVID-19's impact on opcrations and rencgotiated customer agreements that improved the Company’s payment terms in 2020
relative to 2019.

Foreign Exchange Loss

Net foreign exchange loss of $387 thousand in 2020 which consisted of net losses realized and unrealized upon the
scttlement of receivables or payables and re-measurement of cash balances denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the respective operating division recording the instrument. In fiscal year 2019, a net foreign currency exchange
loss of $2.4 miilion was recorded.

Income Taxes

The Company recognized imcome tax expense of $5.3 million in 2020 compared to $0.2 million of income tax expense in
2019, representing an in¢rease of $3.1 million. Our effective tax rate increased to 5.7% in 2020, compared with 0.2% in 2019.
The increase in the effective tax rate in 2020 is due to a decrease in the availability of tax credits in 2020 as compared to 2019,
as well as a Jower tax holiday benefit available in 2020 compared to 2019 and a lower benefit from state tax deductions.

The pre-tax income from and the applicable statutory tax rates in each jurisdiction in which the Company had
operations for the year ending December 31, 2020 are as follows:

(In thousands) Pre-tax income Statutory tax rate
United States (27,528) 21.0 %
Canada 29 26.5 %
Brazil 3,708 34.0 %
Australia 2,332 30.0 %
Singapore 2,654 17.0 %
New Zealand %99 28.0 %
India 47,925 34.6 %
Mauritius (3,358) 150 %
United Kingdom 5,056 19.0 %
Sweden 1,977 220 %
Thailand (19) 20.0 %
Dubai 60,540 ---%
Total 94,157

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our principal sources of liquidity are the cash flows provided by our operating activities, and cash and cash
equivalents on hand.

We intend to continue to utilize cash flows generatcd by owr ongoing operating activities, in combination with the
possible issuance of additional debt or equity, to fund capital expenditures and organic growth initiatives, to make strategic
business acquisitions, to retire outstanding indebtedness, and to repurchase shares of our common stock if and as market and
operating conditions warrant.
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We believe that anticipated cash flows provided by our operating activitics, together with current cash balances and
access to credit and the capital markets, if required, will be sufficient to meet our projected cash requirements for the next
twelve months, although any projections of future cash needs, cash flows, and the general market conditions for credit and
equity securities is subject to substantial uncertainty. In the event additional liquidity needs arise, we may raise funds from a
combination of sources, including the potential issuance of debt or equity sccuritics. However, there are no assurances that such
financing will be available in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at all. In addition, the covenants in our Credit Facitity
could adversely affect our ability to obtain such financing and our ability to make strategic acquisitions, fund investments,
repurchase shares of our common stock or engage in other business activities that could be in our interest,

We rcgularly cvaluate our liquidity requirements, including the need for additional debt or equity offerings, when
considering potential business acquisitions, or the development of new products or services. During fiscal year 2021, the
Company intends to utilize its cash and other financing resources to fund organic growth initiatives, strategic business
acquisitions, and new product development initiatives and service offerings.

Our cash and cash equivalents were $105.0 million and $73.2 million at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively,
The Company holds material cash and cash equivalent balances overseas in foreign jurisdictions. The free flow of cash from
certain countries where we hold such balances may be subject to repatriation tax effects and other restrictions. Furthermore, the
repatriation of earnings from some of our foreign subsidiaries would result in the application of withholding taxes at source and
taxation at the U.S. parent level upon receipt of the repatriation amounts. The approximate cash, cash equivalents, restricted
cash, and short-term investments balances held in our domestic U.S. operations and cach of our foreign subsidiaries as of
April 19, 2021 is presented in the table below (figures denominated in thousands):

Cash,
Restricted

Cash and ST

investments
India $ 66,879
United States 15,164
Philippines 7,352
Australia 7,245
Singapore 3,980
Canada 2,079
United Arab Emirates 1,373
New Zealand 1,224
Latin America 1,206
Indonesia 1,077
Europe 505
Mauritias 10
Total b 108,094

Our current ratio increased from 1.55 at December 31, 2019 to 1.89 at December 31, 2020, and our working capital
position increased to $170.5 million at December 31, 2020 as compared to $129.0 million at the end of 2019. The increase in
our shart-term liguidity position is primarily due to the following factors: (a) an approximately $91 million reduction in cash
used for acquisitions in 2020 as compared to 2019; (b) a decrease in trade accounts receivable and accounts receivable from
service providers at December 31, 2020 versus December 31, 2019 of approximately $24 million; and (c) partially offset by an
approximately $44 million decrease in current liabilities during 2020, an increase in short-term investments of approximately
$21 million at December 31, 2020 compared to December 31, 2019, and a decrease in the Company's warking capital facilities
at December 31, 2020 as compared to December 31, 2019 of approximately $12 million. We believe that our ability to
generate sustainable robust cash flow from operations will cnable the Company to continue to meet its debt obligations and to
fund its current liabilities from current assets, including available cash balances.

Business Combinations

42



Table of Contents

The Company seeks to execute aceretive business acquisitions in combination with organic growth iniliatives as part
of its comprehensive business growth and expansion strategy. The Company looks te acquirc businesses that arc
complementary to Ebix's existing products and serviccs.

During the twelve months ending December 31, 2020, the Company completed twe business acquisition as follows:

Effective May 4, 2020, Ebix acquircd from bankruptcy India-based Trimax, which provides IT and integration services
to state-owned transport corporations, operates data centers, and is an IT infrastructure selution provider, for approximately
$9.9 million of upfront consideration. Additionally, Ebix issued preferred shares in Trimax to the selling sharcholders that can
be sold five years from the closing of the acquisition based on an independent valuation performed by a Big 4 valuation firm.
The maximum value of the preferred shares upon sale is approximately $9.9 million. The valuation and purchase price
allocation remains preliminary and will be finalized as soon as practicable but in no cvent longer than one year from the
effective date of this transaction,

In October 1, 2020 the Company acquired a 70% interest in AssureEdge Global Services (“AssurcEdge”) for a total
purchase price of approximately $3.0 million, including net working capital acquired. AssurcEdge is a pan-India based BPO
company, with a variety of BRO offerings via six contact centers across the country. It serves a number of industries and clients
that have cross-selling value for EbixCash services. The valuation and purchasc price allocation remains preliminary and will
be finalized as soon as practicable, but in no event longer than onc year from the effective date of this transaction.

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2019, the Company completed three business acquisitions, as follows:

Effective August 23, 2019, Ebix acquired Canada based Wallstreet Canada foreign exchange and outward remittance
markets for approximately §2.1 million of upfront consideration plus net working capital.

Effective January 1, 2019, Ebix acquired the assets of India based Essel Forex, for approximately $8.7 million, plus
possible future contingent eam-out payments of up to $721 thousand based on earned rcvenues. Ebix funded the entire
transaction in cash, using its internal cash reserves. Essel Forex is a large provider of foreign exchange services in India with a
wide spectrum of related products including sales of all major currencies, travelers’ checks, demand drafts, remittances, money
transfers and prepaid cards primarily for corporate clients. The earn-out period expired on December 31, 2019 and the acquired
business did not meet the requisite revenue target, o no earnout payment was due or paid.

Effective January 1, 2019, Ebix acquired an 80% controlling stake in India based Zillious for $10.1 million plus
possible future contingent earn-out payments of up to $2.2 million based on agreed milestones in the acquisition agreement.
Zillious is an on-demand Saa$ travel technology solution in the corporate travel segment in India. Zillious is an on-demand
Saal travel technology solution in the corporate travel segment in India. The Company determined that the fair valuc of the
contingent earn-out consideration was zero as of September 30, 2020 and at December 31, 2020.

A significant component of the purchase price consideration for many of the Company's business acquisitions is a
potential subsequent cash carn-out payment based on reaching certain specified future revenue targets. The terms for the
contingent carn-out payments in most of the Company's business acquisitions typically address the GAAP recognizable
revenues achieved by the acquired entity over a one-, two-, and/or three-year period subsequent to the effective date of their
acquisition by Ebix. These terms typically cstablish a minimum threshold revenue target to achieve over the agreed upon period
post acquisition to earn the specified cash earn-out payment. The Company applies these terms in its calculation and
determination of the fair value of contingen! earn-out liabilities for purchased businesses as part of the related valuation and
purchase price allocation exercise for the corresponding acquired assels and liabilities. The Company recognizes these potential
obligations as contingent liabilities and are rcparted as such on its Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. As discussed in
more detail in Note 1 of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, these contingent consideration
liabilities are recorded at fair valuc on the acquisition date and are re-measured quarterly based on the then assessed fair value
and adjusted if necessary. As of December 31, 2020, the total of these contingent liabilities was $0.0 million. As of December
31, 2019, the total of these contingent liabilities was $10.1 million, of which $1.5 million was reported in long-tcim liabilities,
and $8.6 million was included in current liabilities in the Company's Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Operating Activities

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2020, the Company generated $100.4 million of net cash flow from
operating activities compared to $60.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, representing an increase of $39.6 million,
or 65%. The major sources of cash provided by our operating activitics during 2020 included net income of $92.4 million,
adjusted for $3.6 million of net loss attributable to non-controlling intercst, $13.7 million of depreciation and amortization, $6.1
million of amortization of right-of-use assets, $6.2 million related to a non-cash intangible impairment loss, $4.8 million of non-
cash share-bascd compensation, $3.4 million of amortization expense for capitalized software development costs, $(19.9)
million of working capital requirements, $(6.5) million of cash used to pay the Miles acquisition earn out, and $(3.1) million of
non-cash gains recognized when reducing certain earn-out contingent liabilities. The increase in our operating cash flow in
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2020 as compared to 2019 is primarily due to increased cash flow from reductions in accounts receivable from trade and service
providers as COVID-19 reduced revenues and resulted in comparatively more accounts reeeivable conversion to cash in 2020
versus 2019, Additionally, in 2019 the acquisition earn-out accrual was reduced by $16.5 million (primarily related to the
ItzCash acquisition earn out accrual) as compared to a reduction of the same acerual in 2020 of $3.1 million (primarily rclated
to the Miles and Zillious acquisitions), both of which served to reduce operating cash flow given the non-cash nature of the
gains from earn-out adjustments.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2019, the Company generated $60.8 million of net cash flow from
operating activities compared to $87.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, representing a decrease of $26.5 million,
or 30%. The major sources of cash provided by our operating activities during 2019 included net income of $96.7 million, less
$6.1 million of net income attributable to a non-controlling interest, and net of $(16.5) million of non-cash gains rccognized
when reducing certain earn-out contingent liabilities, ${15.5) million of deferred tax benefits, $14.5 million of depreciation and
amortization, $7.1 million of amortization of right-of-usc asscts, $3.4 million of non-cash share-based compensation, $2.7
million of amortization expense for capitalized softwarc devclopment costs, and $(26.5) million of working capital
requirements. The primary cause for the decrease in our operating cash flow was the cash required to fund our substantially
increased gross merchandise value ("GMV") transactions for our travel and foreign exchange business and the $19.7 million
paid to settle the derivative litigation matter discussed in Item 3 "Legal Proceedings”.

Investing Activities

Net cash used for investing activities during the twelve months ended December 31, 2020 totaled $44.8 million,
primarily related to a $21.0 million decrease in investment in marketable securities (specifically bank certificates of deposits),
$14.3 miilion used for the acquisitions during the year (net of cash acquired), $5.3 million of capital expenditures to support our
operations, and $4.2 million used and capitalized in connection with the development of software to be sold/marketed or used
internally.

Net cash used for investing activities during the twelve months ended December 31, 2019, totaled $36.7 million and
consisted of $105.5 million used for acquisitions during the year {net of cash acquired), 35.3 million to reacquire Paul
Merchant's 10% equity interest in Ebix’s combined international remittance business in India, $4.9 million of capital
expenditures mainly in India to support our growing operations, and $8.0 million used and capitalized in connection with the
development of software (o be sold and marketed, or used internally. Partially offsctting these outflows was $27.0 million from
the net maturities of marketable securities (specifically bank certificates of deposit).

Financing Activities

Net ¢ash used by financing activities during the twelve months ended December 31, 2020, was $42.0 million, and
primarily consisted of a $10.9 miilion decrease in the year-end balances in our working capital facilities in India, $20.7 million
used to make scheduled payments against the Company’s outstanding Credit Facility term loan, and $9.2 million used to pay
quarterly dividends to the holders of our common stock.

Net cash provided by financing activities during the twelve months ended December 31, 2019 was $905 thousand, and
primarily consisted of $13.0 million used to reacquire 295 thousand shares of the Company's common stock, $9.2 million used
to pay quarterly dividends to the holders of our common stock, and $15.1 million used to make scheduled payments against the
Credit Facility term loan, Partially offsetling this cash outflow was $13.5 million provided via borrowings under the Company's
revolving credit facility, repayment of a $6.5 million short term loan that had been made to a third party, and $19.1 million net
funds provided by the EbixCash working capital facilities in India.

Credit Facility

The Company maintains a senior secured syndicated credit facility, dated August 5, 2014, among Ebix, Inc., as
borrower, its subsidiaries party thereto from time to time as guarantors, Regions Bank (as administrative agent and collateral
agent) and the lenders party thereto from time to time (as amended from time to time, the “Credit Facility™) that provides a $450
million revolving line of credit as well as a term loan, which at December 31, 2020 had a balance of $255.5 million. The Credit
Facility matures in February 2023.

On May 7, 2020, Ebix entered into Amendment No. 10 to the Credit Facility. Amendment No. 10 provides for, among

other things, increascd flexibility under financial maintenance covenants, which the Company sought in part due to the
unforescen negative effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.
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On March 30, 2020, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into a waiver related to the Credil Facilily (the
"Waiver"). The Waiver provided that so long as the Company’s leverage ratio is below 5.0 to 1.0 for the Company’s fiscal
quarter ending March 31, 2020 pursuant to the terms of its compliance certificate required by the Credit Facility, the existing
leverage ratio requirement of 3.50 to 1.0 was waived.

On September 27, 2019, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into Amendment No. 9 to the Credit
Facility, which amended the definition of “Consolidated EBITDA" and “Indcbtcdness™, and modified the maximum
consolidated dcbt leverage ratios allowed.

At December 31, 2020, the outstanding balance on the revolving line of credit under the Credit Facility was $439.4
million and the facility carried an interest rate of 3.50%. The outstanding balance is included in the long-term liabilities section
of the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. During 2020, The company drew $1.4 million on its revolving line of credit.
During 2020, the averagc and maximum outstanding balances on the revolving line of credit were $3438.9 million and $439.4
million, respectively, and the weighted average interest rate was 4.04%.

At December 31, 2020, the outstanding balance on the term loan was $255.5 million, of which §22.6 million is duc
within the next twelve months. $20.7 million of scheduled amortization payments were made on the term loan during 2020.
This term loan also carried an interest rate of 3.50% at December 31, 2020. The current and tong-term portions of the term loan
are included in the respective current and long-term liabilities sections of the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, the
amounts of which were $22.6 million and $232.9 million, respectively, at December 31, 2020. During 2020, the weighted
average interest rate on the term loan was 4.04%

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following table summarizes our known contractual debt and lease obligations as of December 31, 2020. The table
excludes commitments that are contingent based on events or factors uncertain at this time.

Payment Due by Period

Less Than More than
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5Years 5 years
(In thousands)

Revolving line of credit § 439,402 % — § 439402 % — 8 —
Short and long-term debt 258,127 25,260 232,867 — —
Operating leases 14,248 4,669 6,455 1,605 1,519
Capital leases 526 190 259 77 —-
Non-Cancellable operating leases 56,279 20,251 36,028 — —
Total $ 768582 § S0,370 § 715,011 § 1,682 § 1,519

Off Balance Sheet Transactions
We do not engage in off-balance sheet financing activitics.

Inflation

We do not believe that the rate of inflation has had a material cffect on our operating results. However, inflation
could adverscly affect our future operating results.
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Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The Company is subject to certain market risks, including forcign currency exchange rates and interest rates. The
Company’s cxposure to foreign currency exchange rates risk is related to our forcign-bascd opcrations where transactions are
denominated in foreign currencies and are subject to market risk with respect to fluctuations in the relative value of those
currencies. A significant portion of the Company’s operations are based in the U.S., and the functional currencies in our
Singapore and Dubai product development centers is the U.S. dollar. However, the Company has operations in Australia, India,
New Zealand, Great Britain, Canada, Brazil, Philippincs, and Indonesia where we conduct transactions in the local currencies of
cach of these locations. There can be no assurance that fluctuations in the value of those foreign currencies will not have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results, revenues or financial condition. During the years of 2020
and 2019 the net change in the cumulative foreign currency translation account, which is a component of stockholders’ equity,
was unrealized losses of $23.1 million and $15.0 million, respectively. The Company considered the historical trends in
currency exchange rates and determined that it was reasonably possible that adverse changes in our respeclive foreign currency
exchange rates of 20% could possibly be cxperienced in the near term future. Such an adverse change in currency exchange
rates would have resulted in a reduction to pre-tax income of approximately $11.7 million and $14.8 million for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The Company’s exposure 10 interest rate risk relates 1o its interest expense on outstanding debt obligations and to its
interest income on cxisting cash balances. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had $697.5 million of outstanding dcbt
obligations, cxcluding amounts rclated to deferred financing costs, which consisted of a §255.5 million term loan, a
$439.4 million balance on our revolving line of credit under the Credit Facility, a $1.8 million note due to THC by the
EbixHealth TV, and $894 thousand of remaining debt pertaining to the Weizmann acquisition. As of December 31, 2020, the
Company’s term loan and outstanding balance on the revolving line of credit under the Credit Facility accrued interest at a rate
per annum equal to 3.50%, calculated as LIBOR plus 3.00% with a 0.50% LIBOR floor rate. The Company is exposed to
markel risk in relation to this secured revolving line of credit and secured term loan in regards to the potential increase to
interest expense arising from adverse changes in the LIBOR interest rates. This interest rate risk is estimated as the potential
decrease in earnings resulting from a hypothetical 30% increase in the LIBOR rate. Such an adverse change in the LIBOR rate
would have resulted in a reduction to pre-tax income of approximately S1.8 million and $5.7 million for the years ending
Pecember 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The Company’s average cash balances and short term investments during 2020
were $119.8 million and its existing cash balances and short term investments as of December 31, 2020 was $105.0 million and
$25.0 miltlion, respectively. The Company is exposed to market risk in relation to these cash balances in regards to the potential
loss of interest income arising from adverse changes in interest rates. This interest rate risk is estimated as the potentiaf decrease
in earnings resulting from a hypothetical 20% decrease in interest rates earned on deposited funds. Such an adverse change in
these interest rates would have resulted in a reduction to pre-tax income of approximately $261 thousand and $359 thousand for
the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

See Part 11, Item &, "Note 1 Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” for detailed
description of Recent Accounting Pronouncements.

APPLICATION OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP, as promulgated in the U.S., requires our
management to make estimates and assumptions that affeet the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses
and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. We
believe the most complex and sensitive judgments, because of their significance to the consolidated financial statements, result
primarily from the need to make estimates ard assumptions abourt the effects of matters that are inherently uncertain. The
following accounling policies involve the use of “critical accounting estimates” because they are particularly dependent on
estimates and assumptions made by management about matters that are uncertain at the time the accounting estimates are made.
In addition, while we have used our best cstimates based on facts and circumstances available to us at the time, different
estimates reasonably could have been uscd in the current period, or changes in the accounting cstimates that we used are
reasonably likely to occur from period to period, which may have a material impact on our financial condition and results of
operations. For additional information about these policies, see Note 1 "Description of Business and Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies" of the notes to the consolidated financial statements in this Form [0-K. Although we believe that our
estimates, assumptions and judgments arc reasonable, they are limited based upon information presently available. Actual
results may differ significantly from these estimates under different assumptions, judgments or conditions,

COVID-19 has created and may continue to create significant uncertainty in global financial markets, which may
reduce demand for our services, impact the productivity of our workforce, reduce our access to capital, and harm our business
and results of operations. As of the datc of our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, we are not aware of any specific
event or circumstarnce that would require us to update our estimates or judgments, or to revise the carrying value of our assets or
liabilities. However, these estimates may change as new cvents occur and additional information is obtained, which may result
in changes being recognized in our consolidated financial statcments in fulure periods. While we considered the cffects of
COVID-19 in our estimates and assumptions, due to the current level of uncertainty over the economic and operational impacts
of COVID-19 on our business, there may be other judgments and assumptions that were not currently considered. Such
judgments and assumptions could result in a meaningful impact to our financial statements in future periods. Actual results
could differ from those estimates and any such differences may have a materjal impact on our financial statements.

Revenue Recognition and Contract Liabilities—The Company derives its revenues primarily from software
subscription and transaction fees, software license fecs, financial transaction fees, risk compliance selution services fees, and
professional service fees, including associated fees for consulting, implementation, training, and project management provided
to customers with installed systems and applications, Sales and value-added taxes arc not included in revenues, but rather are
recorded as a liability until the taxes assessed are remitted to the respective taxing authorities.

The Company determines revenue recognition by applying the following steps:
+ identificatior: of the contract, or contracts, with a customer;
+ identification of the performance obligations in the contract;
+  dctermination of the transaction price;
»  allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
= recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisfy a performance obligation.

The Company analyzes its different services individuatly to determine the appropriate basis for revenue recognition, as
further described below. Additionally, certain services exist in multiple channels. As Ebix derives revenues from three product/
service channels—EbixCash Exchanges, Insurance Exchanges, and Risk Compliance Solutions—for policy disclosure
purposes, contracts are discussed in conjunction with the channel to which they are most significant.

The Company assesses the terms of customer contracts including termination rights, penalties (implicd or explicit), and
rencwat rights,
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EbixCash Exchanges (*'EbixCash")

EbixCash revenues are primarily derived from consideration paid by customers for prepaid gift cards, financial
transaction (foreign exchange, remittance, other payment solutions) and travel transaction services. The significant majority of
EbixCash revenue is for a single performange obligation and is rccognized at a point in time. These revenucs vary by
transaction bascd upon channel, send and receive locations, the principal amount sent, whether the money transfer involves
different send and receive enrrencies, and speed of service, as applicable.

EbixCash also offers several other scrvices, including payment services and ticketing and travel services, for which

revenue is impacted by varying factors. EbixCash acts as the principal in most transactions and reports revenue on a gross basis,
as EbixCash controls the service at all times prior to transfer to the customer, is primarily responsible for fulfilling the customer
contracts, has the risk of loss, and has the ability to estabhsh transaction prices.

The main services from which EbixCash derives revenue are as follow:
Gift Cards

EbixCash issues general purpose gifl cards to corporate customers and consumers that can be later redeemed at
various merchants. The gift cards are co-branded betweens EbixCash and its card-issuing banking partner(s) and are affiliated
with major payment associations such as VISA, Mastercard, and Rupay. The gift cards are branded EbixCash cards, but are
affiliated with major payment associations such as VISA, Mastercard, and Rupay. The gift cards arc sold to a diversified set of
corporate customers from various industries. The gift cards are used by corporate customers to disburse incentives to the end
users, which are primarily their employees, agents and business associates. The gift cards sold by EbixCash are not reloadable,
cannot be used at ATMs or for any other cash-out or funds transfer transactions, and are subject to maximum limits per card
(currently TINR 10,000 or approximately $140). Gift cards issued by EbixCash are valid for a period of 15 months from the date
of issuance for virtual cards and three years for physical cards. EbixCash has entered into arrangements with banks and
financial institutions to settle payments to merchants based on utilization of the gift cards.

The Company has end-to-cnd responsibilities related to the gift cards sold, from the activation and ongoing utilization
of the gift cards to customer service responsibilities to risk of loss due to fraud on the gift cards sold. EbixCash acts a principal
in the sale of gift cards and, thus, gift card revenue is recognized on a gross basis (full purchasc value at the time of sale) with
the corresponding cost of the gift cards recorded as cost of services provided. Unredeemed gift cards at December 3£, 2020 are
not significant to the financial results of the Company and are recorded as deferred revenues in the financial results.

EbixCash Travel Exchanges

EbixCash Travel revenues are primarily derived from commissions and transaction fees received from various
travel praviders and international exchanges involved in the sale of travel to the consumer, EbixCash Travel revenue is for a
single performance obligation and is recognized at a point in time. Travel revenues include reservaiion commissions, scgment
fees from global travel cxchange providers, and transaction net revenues (i.e., the amount charged to travelers less the amount
owed to travel service providers) in connection with our reservation services; ancillary fees, including travel insurance-related
revenues and certain reservation booking fees; and credit card processing rebates and customer processing fees. EbixCash
Travel services include the sale of hotel rooms, airline tickets, bus tickets and train tickets, EbixCash’s Travel revenue is also
derived from ticket sales, wherein the commissions payable to EbixCash Travel, along with any transaction fees paid by travel
providers and travel exchanges, is recognized as revenue after completion of the service. The transaction price on such services
is agreed upon at the time of the purchase.

EbixCash Travel revenue for the corporate meetings, incentives, conferences, and exhibitions ("MICE") packages is
recognized at full purchase value at the completion of the obligation with the correspanding costs recorded as cost of services
provided, For MICE revenues, EbixCash Travel acts as the principal in transactions and, accordingly, reports revenue on 4
aross basis, EbixCash Travel controls the service at all times prior to transfer to the customer, is responsible for fulfilling the
customer contracts, has the rtsk of loss, and has the ability to establish transaction prices.
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EbixCash Mongy Transfer

For the EbixCash money transfer business, EbixCash has one performance obligation whereupon the customer
engages EbixCash to perform one integrated service. This typically occurs instantaneously when the beneficiary entitled to
receive the money transferred by the sender visits the EbixCash outlet and collects the money. Accordingly, EbixCash
recognizes revenue upon completion of the following: (i) the customer’s acknowledgment of EbixCash’s terms and conditions
and the receipt of payment information, {ii} thc moncy transfer has been processed, (iif) the customer has received a unique
{ransaction identification number, and (iv) funds are available to be picked up by the beneficiary. The transaction price is
comprised of a transaction fee and the diffcrence between the exchange rate set by EbixCash 1o the customer and the rate
available in the wholesale foreign exchange market, as applicable, both of which arc readily determinable at the time the
transaction 1s initiated

Foreign Exchange and Outward Remittance Seirvices

For EbixCash’s foreign exchange and payment services, customers agree to terms and conditions for all
transactions, either at the time of initiating a transaction or signing a contract with EbixCash to provide payment services on the
customer’s behalf. In the majority of EbixCash’s foreign exchange and payment services, EbixCash makes payments to the
recipient to satisfy its performance obligation to the customer and, therefore, EbixCash recognizes revenue on foreign exchange
and payment when this performance obligation has been fulfilled.

Consumer Payment Services

EbixCash offers several different bill payment services that vary by considerations such as: (i) who pays the fee to
EbixCash (consumer or biller); (ii) whether the service is offered to all consumers; (iil) whether the service is restricted to
existing biller relationships of EbixCash; and (iv) whether the service utilizes a physical agent network offered for consumers’
convenience, among other factors. The determination of which party is EbixCash’s customer for revenue recognition purposes
is based on these considerations for each of EbixCash’s bill payment services. For all transactions, EbixCash’s customers agree
to EbixCash’s terms and conditions, either at the time of initiating a transaction (where the consumer is determined to be the
customer for revenue recognition purposes) or upon sigaing a contract with EbixCash to provide services on the biller’s behalf
{where the biller is determined to be the customer for revenue recognition purposes). As with consumer money transfers,
customets engage EbixCash to perform one integrated service, collect money from the consumer and process the bill payment
transaction, thereby providing the billers real-time or near real-time information regarding their customers’ payments and, thus,
simplifying the billers’ collection efforts. EbixCash’s revenues from bill payment services are generated from contracts to
process transaclions at any time during the duration of the contract. The transaction price on bill payment services is contractual
and determinable. Certain biller agreements may include per-transaction or fixed periodic rebates, which EbixCash records as a
reduction to revenue.,

EbixCash Technology Services

EbixCash also offers on-demand technology to various providers in the area of lending, wealth and asset
management, and travel across the world.

Insurance Exchanges

Insuranice Exchanges revenues are primarily derived from consideration paid by customers related to cur Saa8
platforms, related services and the licensing of software. A typical contract for our SaaS platform will also include services for
setup, customization, transaction processing, maintenance, and/or hosting. Determining whether products and services arc
considered distinct performance obligations that should be accounted for separately may require significant judgement. Scet-up
and customization services, related to our SaaS platforms, are not considered to be distinet from the usage fees associated with
the Saa$ platform and, accordingly, are accounted for as a single performance obligation. These services along with the usage
or transaction fees arc recognized over the contract duration which considers the significance of the upfront fees in the context
of the contract and which may, therefore, exceed the initial contracted term.

Contracts generally do not contain a right of return or refund provisions. Our contracts often do contain overage fees,
contingent fees, or service level penalties which are accounted for as variable consideration. Revenue accounted for as variable
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consideration is immaterial and is recognized using the “right to invoice” practical expedient when the invoiced amount equals
the value provided to the customer.

Software-as-a-Service

The Company allocates the transaction price Lo each distinct performance obligation using the relative stand-alone
selling price. Determining the stand-alone selling price may require significant judgement. The stand-alone selling price is the
price at which the Company has sold or would sell a promised good or service scparately to a customer. The Company
determines the stand-alone selling price based on observable price of products or services sold separately in comparable
circumstances when such observable prices are available, When standalonc selling price is not directly observable, the
Company estimates the stand-alone selling price using the market assessment approach by considering historical pricing and
other market factors,

Software Licenses

Software license revenues attributable to a software license that is a separate performance obligation are recognized at
the point in time that the customer obtaing control of the license.

Subscription Services

Subscription services revenues are associated with performance obligations that are satisfied over specific time periods
and primarily consist of post-contract support scrvices. Revenue is generally recognized ratably over the contract term. Our
subscription contracts are generally for an initial three-year period with subsequent one-year automatic renewals.

Transaction Fees

Transaction revenue is comprised of fees applied to the volume of transactions that are processed through our SaaS
platforms. These are typically based on a per-transaction rate and are invoiced for the same period in which the transactions
were processed and as the performance obligation is satisfied. The amount invoiced generally equals the value provided to the
customer, and revenue is typically recognized when invoiced using the as-invoiced practical expedient.

Professional Services

Professional service revenue primarily consists of fees for setup, customization, training, or consulting. Professional
service fees are generally on a time and materials basis or a fixed fee. Revenues for time and materials are recognized as such
services are rendered whilc fixed fee revenues are recognized based on the input method driven by the cxpected hours to
complete the project measured against the actuai hours completed to date. Professional services, particularly related to SaaS
platforms, may have significant dcpendencies on the related licensed software and may not be considered a distinct
performance obligation,

Risk Compliance Services {"RCS8'Y)

RCS revenues consist of two revenue streams - Certificates of Insurance ("COI") and consulting services. COI
revenues are derived from consideration paid by customers for the creation and tracking of certificates of insurance. These are
transactional-based revenues. Consulting services revenues are driven by distinct consulting service engagements rendered to
customers for which revenues arc rccognized using the output method on a time and material basis as the services are
performed.

COI Creation and Tracking

The Company provides services (o issue and track certificates of insurance in the U.S. and Australian markets.
Revenue is derived from transaction fees for each certificate issued or tracked. The Company recognizes revenue at the issuance
of cach certificate or over the period the certificate is being tracked.

Consulting Services

The Company provides consulting services to clients around the world for project management and development.
Consulling services fees are generally on a time and materials basis or a fixed fee. Revenues for time and materials are
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recognized using an outpyt method as the services arc rendered while fixed fee revenues arc recognized based on the input
method driven by the expected hours to complete the project measured against the actual hours completed to datc.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Receivable

Management specifically analyzes the aging of accounts receivable and historical bad debts, write-offs, customer
concentrations, customer credit-worthiness, current economic trends, and changes in our customer payment patterns when
cvaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts receivable.

Valuation of Goodwill

Goodwill rcpresents the cost in excess of the fair value of the identifiable net asscts from the businesses that we
acquire. In accordance with the relevant FASB accounting guidance, goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit
level on an annual basis or on an interim basis if an event occurred or circumstances change that would indicate that fair value
of a reporting unit decreased below its carrying value. Potential impairment indicators include a significant change in the
business climate, legal factors, operating performance indicators, competition, customer retention and the sale or disposition of
a significant portion of the business. The Company first assesses certain qualitative factars to determine whether the existence
of events or circumstances would indicate that it is more likely than not that the fair value of our reporting unit was less than its
carrying amount.

The aforementioned quantitative testing process involves comparing the reporting unit carrying values to their
respective fair values. We determine fair value of our reporting unit by applying the discounted cash flow method using the
present value of future estimated net cash flows, as wetl as applying the market capitalization method. If the fair value of a
reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, then no further testing is requircd. However, if a reporting unit’s fair value were Lo be
less than its carrying value, we would then determine the amount of the impairment charge, if any, which would be the amount
that the carrying value of the reporting unit’s goodwill exceeded its implied value. We perform our annual goodwill impairment
evaluation and testing as of October st of each year or when events or circumstances dictate more frequently.

The Company has considered the guidance within ASC 350 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” and ASC 280
“Segment Reporting” in concluding that Ebix effectively operates as one reporting unit. There have been no goodwill
impairments at the reporting unit level during the periods presented herein.

Projections of cash flows are based on our views of revenue growth rates, operating costs, anticipated futurc cconomic
conditions, the appropriate discount rates refative to risk, and estimales of residual values and terminal values. We believe that
our estimates are consistent with assumptions that marketplace participants would use in their estimates of fair value, The use of
different estimates or assymptions for our projected discounted cash flows (e.g., revenuc growth rates, future economic
conditions, discount rates, and estimates of terminal values) when determining the fair value of our reparting unit could result in
different values and may result in a goodwill impairment charge.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxcs in accordance with FASB accounting guidance on the accounting and disclosure of
income taxes, which involves estimating the Company’s current tax exposurc together with assessing temporary differences
resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes. These differences result in deferred tax assets and
liabilities, which are included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. We then assess the likelihood that our net deferred tax assets
will be recovered from future taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or
settled, and, to the extent we believe that recovery is not likely, we establish a valuation allowance.

On December 22, 2017, the TCJA was enacted, substantially changing the U.S. tax system and affecting the Company
in a number of ways. Notably, the TCJA: establishes a flat corporate income tax rate of 21.0% on U.S. earnings; imposes a
one-time tax on unremitted cymulative non-U.S. earnings of foreign subsidiaries (“Transition Tax”);imposes a new minimum
tax on certain non-U.S. eamnings, irrespective of the territorial system of taxation, and gencrally allows for the repatriation of
future earnings of foreign subsidiaries without incurring additional U.S. taxes by transitioning to a territorial system of taxation;
subjects certain payments made by a U.S. company to a relaled foreign company to certain minimum taxes (Base Erosion Anti-
Abuse Tax); climibates cértain prior tax incentives for manufacturing in the United Statcs and creates an incentive for U.S.
companies te sell, leasc or license goods and services abroad by allowing for a reduction in taxcs owed on earnings related to
such sales; allows the cost of investments in certain depreciable assets acquired and placed in service after September 27, 2017
to be immediately expensed; and reduces deductions with respect to certain compensation paid to specified executive officers.
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In March 2018, the FASB Issued ASU No. 2018-05, Income Taxes (Topic 740); Amendments to SEC Paragraphs
Pursuant to SEC SAB No. 118. ASU 2018-05 was issued to incorporate into Topic 740 recent SEC guidance related to the
income tax accounting implications of the TCJA. Due to the complexilies involved in accounting for the enactment of the
TCIA, the SEC Staff had issued SAB No. 118 which allowed the Company to record provisional amounts in carnings for the
year ended December 31, 2017, ASU 2018-05 became effective immediately and permitted companies to use provisional
amounts for certain income tax effects of the TCJA during a one-year measurement period. The Transition Tax is based on the
Company’s total post-1986 earnings and profits that were previously deferred from U.S. income taxes. The Company
completed its tax accounting for the TCJA during Q4 2018 and recorded an adjustment of $24.53 million related to the
transition tax after taking inta consideration carried forward NOLs and other tax attributes available for set-off.

The Company does not recognize a deferred U.S. tax liability and associated income tax expense for the undistributed
carnings of its foreign subsidiaries, which are considered indefinitely invested because those foreign earnings will remain
permanently reinvested in those subsidiaries to fund ongoing operations and growth.

The Company follows the provisions of FASB accounting guidance on accounting for uncertain income tax positions.
This guidance clarified the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes by prescribing the minimum recognition threshold a tax
position is required to meet before heing recognized in the financial statements. The guidance utilizes a two-step approach for
evaluating tax positions, Recognition (“Step 17) occurs when an enterprise concludes that a tax position, based solely on ils
technical merits is more likely than not 1o be sustained upon examination. Measurement (“Step 2”) is only addressed if Step 1
has been satisfied. Under Step 2, the tax benefit is measured at the largest amount of benefit, determined on a cumulative
probability basis that is more likely than not to be realized upon final settlement. As used in this context, the term “more likely
than not” is interpreted to mean that the likelihood of occurrence is greater than 50%.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency for the Company's main foreign subsidiaries in Dubai and Singapore is the U.S. doliar,
because the intellectual property research and developiment activities provided by its Singapore and Dubai subsidiaries support
of Ebix's operating divisions across the world, which are primarily transacted in U.S. dollars.

The functional currency of the Company's other foreign subsidiaries is the local currency of the country in which the
subsidiary operates. The assets and liabilities of these foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at the rates of
exchange at the balance sheet dates. Income and expense accounts are translated at the average exchange rates in effect during
the period. Gains and losses resulting from translation adjustments are included as a component of accumulated other
comprehensive income in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Foreign exchange transaction gains and losses that are
derived from transactions denominated in a cumrcncy other than the subsidiary's functional currency are included in the
determination of net income.

52



Table of Contents

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Ebix, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Ebix, Inc. and its subsidiaries {the Company) as of December
31, 2020, the related consolidated siatements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders' cquity, and cash flows for the
year then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements and schedule (collectively, the ‘financial
statcments’). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as of December 31, 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2020,
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAQB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in
Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(2013 framewaork), and our report dated April 2, 2021 expressed an unqualified opinion on the cffectiveness of the Company's
internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’s financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rulcs
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstaternent, whether due to
error or fraud. Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial staternents,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a
test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

For KG Somani & Co.

Anuj Somani

Partner

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2021,

New Delhi, India
April 27, 2021
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Iirm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Ebix, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Ebix, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the Company) as of December
31, 2019, the related consolidated statements of income, comprchensive income, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for the
year then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements and schedule (collectively, the financial
staternents). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as of December 31, 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019,
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’s financial statements based on our andit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonabic assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud.

Cur audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether duc
to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting

principles used and significant estimates madc by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s RSM US LLP

We served as the Company's auditor from 2018 to 2021.

Allanta, Georgia
March 2, 2020
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT RECISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Ebix, Tne.

Opinion en the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Ebix, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December
31, 2018, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprchensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for
the year ended as of December 31, 2018, and related notes {collectively referred to as the “financial statements™). In our
opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the company as of December
31, 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2018, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the Uniled States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards af the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
{PCAQB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO), and our report dated March 1, 2019 expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's internal control
over financial reporting.

Basis of Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’s financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal sccurities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Sccurities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards requirc that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
etror or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a rcasonable basis for our opiniorn.

T R Chadha & Co LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2018.

New Delhi, India

March 1, 2019
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Operating revenue:

Operating expenses:

Costs of services provided
Product development

Sales and marketing

General and administrative, net
Amortization and depreciation
Impairment of intangible asset

Total operating expenses

Operating income
Interest income
Interest expense
Non-operating income

Ebix, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Income

Non-operating expense - litigation settlement (see Note 5)

Foreign currency exchange loss
Income before income taxes

Income tax provision

Net income including noncontrolling interest

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest (see Note 17)

Net income attributable to Ebix, Inc.

Basic earnings per common share
Diluted earnings per common share

Basic weighted average shares outstanding
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
{In thousands, except per share amounts)

$ 625,609 § 580,615 $ 497,826
343,262 203,165 168,415
35,267 45,302 39,078

13,835 19,578 17,587

87,537 140,429 108,475

13,738 14,468 11,292

6,168 — —

499,807 424,942 344,847
125,802 155,673 152,979

167 629 436
(31,578) (42,332) (27,101

153 337 60

— (21,140) —
(387) (2,376) (792)

94,157 90,791 125,582
{(5,330) (220) (32,501)

$ 88,827 § 90,571 % 93,081
(3,550) {6,149) (58)

$ 92,377 § 96,720 $ 93,139
$ 3.03 317 § 2.97
$ 302 § 316 % 2.95
30,510 30,511 31,393

30,571 30,594 31,534
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Ebix, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018
(In thousands)
Net income including noncontrolling interest b 88,827 % 90,571 § 93,081
Other comprehensive loss:
Foreign currency translation adjustments (23,105} (15,021} (39,354)
Total other comprehensive loss (23,105) (15,021) {39,354)
Comprehensive income 5 65,722 % 75,550 § 53,727
Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontroliing intercst (see Note 17) (3,550) (6,149) (58)
Comprehensive income attributable to Ebix, Inc. $ 68,272 § 81,699 § 53,785

Sece accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Ebix, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Shects

Decernber 31,

2020

2019

(In thousands, except share
and per share amounts)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 105,035 % 73,228
Receivables from service providers 4,711 25,607
Short-term investments 25,019 4,443
Restricted cash 8,519 35,051
Fiduciary funds - restricted 4,106 4966
Trade accounts receivable, less allowances of $22,691 and $21,696, respectively 142,847 153,565
Other current assets 71,661 67,074
Total current assets 361,898 363,934
Property and equipment, net 52,521 48,421
Right-of-use asscts 12,372 19,544
Goodwill 944,037 952,404
Intangibles, net 50,880 46,955
Indefinite-lived intangibles 21,647 42,055
Capitalized software development cosis, net 19,389 19,183
Deferred tax asscts, net 63,402 69,227
Other assets 38,707 29,896
Total assets $ 1,569.853 § 1,591,619
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3 64,764 § 84,735
Payables to service agents 5,281 12,196
Accrued payroll and related benefits 11,792 8,755
Working capital facilities 16,643 28,352
Fiduciary funds - restricted 4,106 4,966
Short-term debt 294 1,167
Contingent liability for earn-out acquisition consideration — 8,621
Current portion of long-term debt, net of deferred financing costs of $920 and $575,
respectively 23,621 22,091
Contract liabilitics 32,898 28,712
Lease Liability 3,905 5,955
Other current liabilities 27,486 29,335
Total current liabilities 191,390 234,885
Revolving line of credit 439,402 438,037
Long-term debt, less current portion, net of deferred financing costs of $1,062 and $1,534, 232,140 254,467
respectively
Contingent liability for earn-out acquisition consideration — 1,474
Contract liabilities 8,033 8,541
Lease liability 8,540 13,196
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Deferred tax liability, net 1,235 1,235
Other liabilities 29,009 40,339
Total liabilities 909,749 992,174

Commitments and Contingencies, Note 5

Stockholders® equity:

Preferred stock, $0.10 par value, 500,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2020 and 2019 — —

Series Y Convertible preferred stock, $0.10 par value, 350,000 shares authorized, no shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 and no shares authorized, issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2019

Common stock, $0.10 par value, 220,000,000 shares authorized, 30,515,334 issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2020 and 30,492,044 issued and outstanding at December 31,

2019 3,052 3,049
Additional paid-in capital 11,126 6,960
Retained earnings 700,304 618,503
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (101,503} (78,398)
Total Ebix, Inc. stockhelders® equity 612,979 550,114
Noncontrolling interest (see Note 17) 47,125 49,331
Total stockholders’ equity 660,104 599,445
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 1,569,853 & 1591619

See accompanying notes to the consalidated financial statements.
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Ebix, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018
{In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income attributable to Ebix, Inc. 3 92,377 § 96,720 § 93,139
Net (Inss) income attributable to noncontrolling interest (3,550} (6,149) (58)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating

activities:

Depreciation and amortization 13,738 14,468 11,292
Provision for doubtful accounts 1,749 12,325 3,571
Provision for deferred taxes, net of acquisitions and effects of currency

translation 5,114 (15,525) (13,043)
Unrealized foreign exchange losses — 1,104 606
Amortization of right-of-use assets 6,100 7,144 —
Amortization of capitalized software development costs 3,367 2,696 2,233
Share-based compensation 4,792 3,397 2,811
Reduction of acquisition earn-out contingent liability (3,105) {16,543) (1,391)
Cash paid for acquisition earn-out (6,453) — (3,831)
Intangible asset impairment 6,168 — —
Changes in current assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:

Accounits receivable 3,258 (22,977 15,839
Receivables from service providers 20,896 10,950 (36,557)
Payables to service agents (6,915) (13,455) 25,651
Other assets (10,487) (8,351) (8,486)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (14,569) (19,624) (11,787
Accrued payroll and related benefits 2,100 (661) (788)
Lease liabilities (5,700) {6,878) (360}
Reserve for potential uncertain income tax return positions — (95) 149
Other liabilities (12,204) 30,396 13,205
Contract liabilities 3,680 (8,149) (8,740)
Net cash provided by operating activities 100,356 60,793 83,435
Cash flows from investing activities:

Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired (14,276} (105,466) (232,557)
Cash (paid to) received from Paul Merchants for 10% stake in MTSS

combined business and other investment — (5,348) 4,996
Maturities (purchases) of marketable securities (20,964) 27,015 (4,087)
Capitalized software development costs (4,229} {7,989 (8,079)
Capital expenditures (5,337) (4,908) (8,032)
Net cash used in investing activities (44,806) (96,696) (247,759)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from / (payment) to revolving line of credit, net 1,364 13,500 150,008
Proceeds from term loan — m 175,500
Principal payments on term loan obligation (20,711) (15,063) (10,016)
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Payments on short-term notes, net — 6,450 (8,341)
Working capital facilities (10,927) 19,079 (8,054)
Repurchase of common stock — (12,952) (40,820)
Payments of long term debt {271) (686) (80)
Payments for capital lease obligations (210) — {6)
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options 636 — 439

Forfeiture of certain shares to satisfy exercise costs and the recipients (2,589) (230) (467)
income tax obligations related to stock options exercised and restricted

stock vested

Dividends paid (9,245) (9,193) (9,316)
Net cash (used) provided by financing activities (41,953) 905 248,807

Effect of foreign exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents (4,753) (3,314) (5,689)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash 8,844 (38,312) 78,814

Cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash at the beginning of the year 111,369 149,681 70,867

Cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash at the end of the year $ 120,213 § 111,369 § 149,681

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:

Interest paid A 29498 % 41,143 % 25,690

Income taxes paid $ 21,321 § 24,041 8 10,149

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Ebix, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Supplemental schedule of noncash financing activities:
As of December 31, 2020, there were 75,214 shares, totaling $2.6 million, used to satisfy exercise costs and the
recipients’ income tax obligations related Lo stock options exercised and restricted stock vesting.

As of December 31, 2018, there was $77.6 million of the upfront cash consideration and contingent consideration
included in Other current liabilities in the Company's Consolidated Balance Shect.

As of December 31, 2018, there were 200,000 shares totaling $8.8 million of share repurchases that were not settled
until January 2019,

During 2018, there were 8,875 shares, totaling $467 thousand, used to satisfy cxercise costs and the recipients' income
tax obligations related to stock optiens exercised and restricted stock vesting.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Ebix, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

[Tl

Description of Business— Ebix, Inc. and its subsidiaries, (“Ebix” or the “Company”, "we", "us", and "our") is a
leading international supplier of on-demand infrastructure exchanges to the insurance, financial, travel, payment remittances
and healthcare industries. In the insurance industry, the Company’s main focus is to develop and deploy a wide variety ol
insurance and reinsurance exchanges on an on-demand basis using SaaS enterprise solutions in the arca of customer
relationship management ("CRM"), front-end and back-cnd systems, and outsourced administrative and risk compliance. The
Company's products feature fully custamizable and scalable software solutions designed to streamline the way insurance and
financial industry professionals manage distribution, marketing, sales, customer service, and accounting activities. With a
"Phygital” strategy that combines physical distribution outlets in India and many Association of Southeast Asian Nations
(ASEAN) countries to a Omni-channel online digital platform, the Company’s EbixCash Financial exchange portfolio of
software and services encompasses domestic and infernational money remittance, foreign exchange ("Forex"), travel, pre-paid
gift cards, utility payments, lending, and wealth management in India and other Southeast Asian markets. The Company has its
headquarters in Johns Creek, Georgia and also conducts operating activities in Australia, Canada, India, New Zealand,
Singapore, the U.K., Brazil, Philippines, Indonesia, Thailand and United Arab Emirates. [nternational revenue accounted for
73.4%, 68.6%, and 60.4% of the Company’s total revenue in 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively,

EbixCash Exchanges ("EbixCash")

EbixCash revenues are primarily derived from consideration paid by customers for financial transaction services,
including services like transferring or exchanging monegy. The significant majority of EbixCash revenue is for a single
performance obligation and is recognized at a point in time. These revenues vary by transaction based upon channel, send and
receive locations, the principal amount sent, whether the money transfer involves different send and receive curencies, and
speed of service, as applicable,

EbixCash also offers several other services, including payment services and ticketing and travel services for which
revenue is impacted by varying factors. EbixCash acts as the principal in most transactions and reports revenue on a gross basis,
as EbixCash controls the service at all times prior to transfer to the customer, is primarily responsible for fulfilling the customer
contracts, has the risk of loss, and has the ability to establish transaction prices.

The main services from which EbixCash derives revenue are as follow:

Gift Cards

EbixCash sells general purpase prepaid gift cards to corporate customers and consumers that can be later redeemed at
various merchants. The gift cards are co-branded between EbixCash and its card-issuing banking partner(s) and are affiliated
with major payment associations such as VISA, Mastercard, and Rupay. The gift cards are sold to a diversified set of corporate
customers from various industries. The gift cards are used by corporate customers to disburse incentives to the end users,
which are primarily their employees, agents and business associates. The gift cards sold by EbixCash are not reloadable,
cannot be used at ATMs or for any other cash-out or funds transfer transactions, and are subject to maximum limits per card
(currently INR 10,000 or approximately $140). Gift cards issued by EbixCash are valid for a period of 15 months from the date
of issuance for virtual cards and three years for physical cards. EbixCash has entered into arrangements with banks and
financial institutions (o settle payments to merchants based on utilization of the gifi cards.

The Company has end-to-end responsibilities related to the gift cards sold, from the activation and ongoing utilization
of the gift cards to customer service responsibilities to risk of loss due to fraud on the gift cards sold.  EbixCash acts a
principal in the sale of gift cards and, thus, gift card revenue is recognized on a gross basis (full purchase value at the time of
sale) with the corresponding cost of the gift cards recorded as cost of services provided. Unredeemed gift cards at December
31, 2020 are not significant to the financial results of the Company and are recorded as deferred revenues in the financial
results.

EbixCash Travel Exchanges
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EbixCash Travel revenues are primarily derived from commissions and transaction fees received from various travel
previders and international exchanges involved in the sale of travel 1o the consumer. EbixCash Travel revenue is for a single
performance obligation and is recognized at a point in time. Travel revenues include reservation commissions, segment fees
fram global travel exchange providers, and transaction net revenues (i.e., the amount charged to travelers less the amount owed
to travel service providers) in connection with our reservation services; ancillary fees, including travel insurance-related
revenues and certain reservation booking fees; and credit card processing rebates and customer processing fees. EbixCash
Travel services include the sale of hotel rooms, airline tickets, bus tickets and train tickets. EbixCash’s Travel revenue is also
derived from ticket sales, wherein the commissions payable to EbixCash Travel, along with any transaction fees paid by travel
providers and travel exchanges, is recognized as revenue after completion of the service. The transaction price on such services
is agreed upon at the time of the purchase.

EbixCash Travel revenue for the corporate MICE (Mcetings, Incentives, Conferences, and Exhibitions) packages is
recognized at full purchase value at the completion of the obligation with the corresponding costs recorded under cost of
services provided. For MICE revenues, EbixCash Travel acts as the principal in transactions and, accordingly, reports revenue
on a gross basis. EbixCash Travel controls the service at all times prior to transfer to the customer, is responsible for fulfilling
the customer contracts, has the risk of loss, and has the ability to establish transaction prices.

EbixCash Money Transfer

For the EbixCash money transfer business, EbixCash has one performance obligation whercupon the customer
engages EbixCash to perform onc integrated service. This typically occurs instantancously when the beneficiary entiticd to
receive the money transferred by the sender visits the EbixCash outlet and collects the money. Accordingly, EbixCash
recognizes revenue upon completion of the following: 1) the customer’s acknowledgment of EbixCash’s terms and conditions
and the receipt of payment information, 2) the money transfer has been processed, 3) the custommer has received a unique
transaction identification number, and 4) funds are available to be picked up by the beneficiary. The transaction price is
comprised of a transaction fee and the difference between the exchange rate set by EbixCash to the customer and the ratc
available in the wholesale foreign exchange market, as applicable, both of which are readily determinable at the time the
transaction is initiated

Foreign Fxchange and Qutward Remittance Services

For EbixCash’s foreign exchange and payment services, customers agree to terms and conditions for all transactions,
cither at the time of initiating a transaction or signing a contract with EbixCash to provide payment services on the customer’s
behalf. In the majority of EbixCash’s foreign exchange and payment services, EbixCash makes payments to the recipient to
satisfy its performance obligation 1o the customer and, therefore, EbixCash recognizes revenue on forcign exchange and
payment when this performance obligation has been fulfilled.

Consumer Payment Services

EbixCash offers several different biil payment services that vary by considerations such, as: 1) who pays the fec to
EbixCash (consumer or biller); 2) whether the service is offered to all potential consumers; 3) whether the service is restricted
to existing biller relationships of EbixCash; and 4) whether the service utilizes a physical agent network offered for consumers’
convenience, among other factors. The determination of which party is EbixCash’s customer for revenue recognition purposes
is based on these considerations for each of EbixCash’s bill payment services. For all transactions, EbixCash’s customers agree
to EbixCash’s terms and conditions, either at the time of initiating a transaction (where the consumer is dctermined to be the
customer for revenue recognition purposes) or upon signing a contract with EbixCash to provide services on the biller’s behalf
(where the biller is determined to be the customer for revenue recognition purposes). As with consumer money transfers,
customers engage EbixCash to perform one integrated service, collect money from the consumer and process the bill payment
transaction, thereby providing the billers real-time or ncar real-time information regarding their customers’ payments and, thus,
simplifying the billers’ collection efforts. EbixCash’s revenues from bill payment services are generated from contracts to
process transactions at any time during the duration of the contract. The transaction price on bill payment services is contractual
and determinable. Certain bilier agreements may include per-transaction or fixed periodic rebates, which EbixCash records as a
reduction to revenue,

EbixCash Technology Services
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Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 506
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Robin Raina, state and attest that:

(1} Tam the Chief Executive Officer of Fbix, Inc. (the “Registrant™).

(2) Ihereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Scction 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge the Annual Report on Form [0-K of the Registrant for the year
ended December 31, 2020 (the “periodic report”) containing financial statements fully complies with the
requircments of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d)); and
the information contained in the periodic report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition
and results of operations of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented.

Name: /s/ Robin Raina
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Date: April 27,2021



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Steven M. Hamil, state and attest that:

(1) I am the Chief Financial Officer of Ebix, Inc. (the “Registrant”).

(2)  Thereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Scction 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge the Annual Report on Form [0-K of the Registrant for the year
ended December 31, 2020 (the “periodic report™) containing financial statements fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780{d}); and
the information contained in the periodic report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition
and results of operations of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented.

Name:
s/ Steven M. Harmil

Title: Chief Fiancial Officer
Date: April 27, 2021



Exhibit 31.2
Certification Pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
for the Chief Financial Officer
I, Steven M. Hamil, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form [0-K of Ebix, Inc.;

2. Based an my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based an my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules [3a-15(e) and [5d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting {as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosurc controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, io ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) designed such intemmal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting prineiples;

(¢) evaluated the effectivencss of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
canclusions about the effectivencss of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report
based on such evaluation; and

(¢) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal
coatrol over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and 1 have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal cantrol
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors:

(a) all significant deficiencies and matcrial weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management ar other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant's internat control over financial repotting.

Date: By: /s/ Steven M. Hamil
April 27, 2021 Steven M. Hamil
Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial and accounting officer)




Exhibit 31.1
Certification Pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
for the Chief Executive Officer
I, Robin Raina, certify that:

1. T have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Ebix, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to stale a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the periad covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in afl material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and [ are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal contro! over financial reporting (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15()) for the registrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of finaneial statements for extermal purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

{c) evaluated thc cffectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report
based on such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and 1 have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors:

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employecs who have a significant role in the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: By: /s/ Robin Raina
April 27, 2021 Robin Raina
Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)




Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Form §-8 NO. 333-128086, 333-64664,
333-174369 and Form S-4 No. 333-235963) of our reporis dated March 1, 2019 included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K
of Ebix, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) relating to the consolidated financial statements of thc Company as of December
31, 2018 and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of the Company for the year ended December 31,
2018.

/si TRCHADHA & COLLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm reg. no.: 06711N/N500028

New Delhi, India
April 27, 2021



Exhibit 23.2

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 {Nos. 333-128086, 333-64664, and
333-174369) of our report dated March 2, 2020, relating to the consolidated financial statements and the financial statement
schedule of Ebix, Inc. as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Ebix,
Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2020.

/s RSM USLLP

Atlanta, Georgia
April 27, 2021



Exhibit 23.3

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 333-128086, 333-64664, and
333-174369 and Form S-4 No. 333-235963) of our reports dated April 27, 2021, relating to the consolidated financial
statements, the financial statement schedule and the effectiveness of infernal control over financial reporting of Ebix, Inc.,
appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Ebix, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2020,

/8/ KG Somani &Co.
Chartered Accountants
ICATI FRN: 006591NN

New Delhi, India
April 27, 2021



DESCRIPTION OF EBIX CAPITAL STOCK

Shares Authorized and Qutstanding

Ebix is authorized to issue 220,500,000 sharcs of capital stock, divided into two classes consisting oft (i) 220,000,000
shares of common stock, par value $0.10 per share, and (ii) 500,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.10 per share. Ebix
has designated 350,000 shares of Ebix’s preferred stock as a serics designated “Series Y Convertible Preferred Stock™. As of
April 23, 2021, there were 30,942,871 shares of Ebix common stock issued and outstanding, and no shares of Ebix’s preferred
stock were issued and outstanding.
Common Stock
Voting Rights

Except as otherwise provided by law or as set forth in the Ebix amended and restated certificate of incorporation (“Ebix
certificate of incorporation”) or as otherwise provided by any outstanding series of preferred stock, the holders of Ebix common
stock have general voting power on all matters as a single class. On each matier to be voted on by the holders of Ebix common
stock, each outstanding share of Ebix common stock is entitled to one vote per share. Holders of Ebix common stock are not
entitled to cumulative voting of their shares in elections of directors.
Liguidation Rights

In the event of a voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of Ebix, the prior rights of Ebix’s creditors
and the liguidation preference of any preferred stock then outstanding, with the exception of the Ebix Preferred Stock, must first
be satisfied. The holders of Ebix common stock will be entitled to share in the remaining assets of Ebix on a pro rata basis.

Dividends

Shares of Ebix common stock are entitled to participate equally in dividends when and as dividends may be declared by
the Ebix Board out of funds legally available for the payment of dividends.

Preferred Stock

Preferred stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series, each of which is to have the voting powers,
designation, prefercnces, and relative, participating, optional, or other special rights and qualifications, limitations, or
restrictions thereof as are stated and expressed in the Ebix certificate of incorporation, or in a resolution or resolutions providing

for the issue of that series adopted by the Ebix Board.

The Ebix Board has the authority to create one or more serics of preferred stock and, with respect to each scries, to fix or
alter as permitted by law, among other things:

the number of shares and the distinctive designation of the series;

= the voting powgr, if any;
» dividend rights;

+  redemption rights;

« liquidation preferences;
»  conversion rights; and

+ any other relative rights, preferences and Limitations.



Transfer Agent and Registrar
The transfer agent and registrar for Ebix common stock is Computershare.
Preemptive Rights

No holder of shares of any class or series of capital stock of Ebix will have any preemptive right to subscribe for, purchase
or otherwise acquire shares of any class or serics of capital stock of Ebix.

Certain Matters of Corporate Governance

The Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL™), the Ebix certificate of incorporation, and the Ebix bylaws contain
provisions that could discourage or make more difficult a change in control of Ebix, including an acquisition of Ebix by means
of a tender offer, an acquisition of Ebix by means of a proxy contest and removal of Ebix’s incumbent officers and directors,
without the support of the Ebix Board. A summary of these provisions follows.

Section 203 of the DGCL

Ebix is governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL. In general, Section 203 prohibits a public Delaware
corporation from cngaging in a “business combination™ with an “interested stockholder” for a period of three years after the
date of the transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder, unless:

»  the transaction was approved by the board of directors prior to the time that the stockholder became an interested
stockholder;

= upon consummation of the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the
interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the
transaction commenced, excluding shares owned by directors who are also officers of the corporation and shares
owned by employee stock plans in which employee participants do not have the right to determine confidentially
whether shares held subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or

= at or subsequent to the time the stockholder became an interested stockholder, the business combination was
approved by the board of directors and authorized at an annual or special meeting of the stockholders, and not by
written consent, by the affirmative vote of a majority of at least two-thirds of the outstanding voting stock which
is not owned by the interested stockholder.

In general, Scction 203 defines a “business combination” to include mergers, asset sales and other transactions resulting in
financial benefit to a stockholder and an “interested stockholder” as a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns,
ot within three years did own, 15% or more of the corporation’s outstanding voting stock.

Stockholder Meetings

Under the Ebix bylaws, the Ebix Board or a committee of the Ebix Board duly designated by the Ebix Board to call a
mecting and holders of not less than ten percent of common stock able to cast votes at a special meeting may call special
meetings of stockholders, and any business conducted at any special meeting will be limited to the purpose or purpases
specified in the order calling for the special meeting.

Stockholder Action by Written Consent

The Ebix certificate of incorporation allows stockholder action to be taken not only at an annual or a special meeting of
stockholders but also permits stockholders to act by written consent.

Advance Notice Requirements for Stockholder Proposals
The Ebix bylaws generally permit stockholders to bring business (other than nominations of persons for election as

directors) before a meeting of the stockholders if the stockholder intending to bring such business gives timely notice thereof in
proper written form to Ebix’s corporate secretary.



To be timely, a stockholder’s notice to Ebix’s corporate secretary must be delivered to or be mailed and received at 1'bix’s
principal office not fewer than 90 days nor more than 120 days prior to the anniversary date of the immediately preceding
annual mecting of stockholders. Tf the annual meeting is called for a date that is not within 25 days before or after the
anniversary date, then notice, in order to be timely, must be received no later than the close of business on the 10th day
following the day on which the notice of the date of the annual meeting was mailed or public disclosure of the date of the
annual meeting was made, whichever accurs first.

To be in proper written form, a stockholder’s notice to Iibix’s corporate sceretary must set forth certain information. As to
each matter the stockholder proposes to bring before the annual meeting, the stockholder’s notice must include:

» a bricef description of the business desired to be brought before the annual meeting and the proposed text of any
propaosal regarding the business (including the text of any resolutions proposed for consideration and, if the
business includes a proposal to amend the Ebix bylaws, the text of the proposed amendment); and

+  the reasons for conducting the business at the annual meeting.

Further, as to the stockholder giving notice and the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the proposal is being made,
the stockholder’s notice must inchude:

+  the namc and address of the person;

+  (A) the class or series and number of all shares of Ebix stock which arc owned beneficially or of record by such
person aad any affiliates or associates of such person, (B) the name of each nominee holder of shares of all Ebix
stock owned beneficially but not of record by such person or any affiliates or associates of such person, and the
number of such shares of Ebix stock held by each such nominee holder, (C) whether and the extent to which any
derivative instrument, swap, option, warrani, short interest, hedge or profit interest or other transaction has been
entered into by or on behalf of such person, or any affiliates or associates of such person, with respect to Ebix
stock and (D) whether and the extent to which any other transaction, agreement, arrangement or understanding
(including any short position or any borrowing or lending of shares of Ebix stock) has been made by or on behalfl
of such person, or any affiliates or associatcs of such person, the effect or intent of any of the foregoing being to
mitigate loss to, or to manage risk or benefit of stock price changes for, such person, or any affiliates or associates
of such person, or to increase or decrease the voting power or pecuniary ar economic interest of such person, or
any affiliates or associates of such person, with respect to Ebix stock;

+ adescription of all agreements, arrangements, or understandings {whether written or oral) betwecn or among such
person, or any affiliates or associates of such person, and any other person or persons (including their names) in
connection with or relating to (A) Ebix or (B) the proposal, inciuding any material interest in, or anticipated
benefit from the propesal to such person, or any affiliates or associates of such person;

+  arepresentation that the stockholder giving notice intends to appear in person or by proxy at the annual meeting
to bring such business before the meeting; and

= any other information relating to such person or proposal that would be required to be disclosed in a proxy
statement or other filing required to be made in connection with the solicitation of proxies by such person with
respect to the proposed business to be brought by such person before the annual meeting pursuant to Section 14 of
the Exchange Act, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

Advance Notice Requirements for Divector Nominations

The Ebix bylaws generally permit stockholders to nominate persons for election as directors if the stockholder intending to
make such nomination gives limely notice thereof in writing in proper form.

To be timely, a stockhelder’s notice must be received by Lbix’s corporate secretary no less than 90 days nor more than
120 days prior to the first anniversary of the immediately preceding year’s annual meeting of stockholders. If the annual



meeting is called for a date that is not within 25 days before or after such anniversary date, then notice, in order to be timely,
must be received no later than the 10th day following the day on which notice of the date of the annual meeting was mailed or
the date of such meeting is publicly announced, whichever occurs first. In the case of a special meeting of stockholders called
for the purposc of electing directors, a stockholder’s notice must be received no later than the 10th day following the day on
which the date of such special meeting is publicly announced.

To be in proper form, the notice must set forth certain information. As to each person whom the stockholder proposes to
nominate for election as a director, the stockholder’s notice must include:

»  the name, age, business address and residence address of such person;

+  the principal occupation or employment of such person;

*  {A) the class or series and number of all shares of Ebix stock which are owned beneficially or of record by
such person and any affiliates or associates of such person, (B) the name of each nominee holder of shares of
all Ebix stock owned beneficially but not of record by such person or any affiliates or associates of such
person, and the number of such shares of Ebix stock held by each nominee holder, (C) whether and the extent
to which any derivative instrument, swap, option, warrant, short interest, hedge or profit interest or other
transaction has been entered into by or on behalf of such person, or any affiliates or associates of such person,
with respect to Ebix stock and (D) whether and the extent to which any other transaction, agreement,
arrangement or understanding (including any short position or any borrowing or lending of shares of Ebix
stock) has been made by or on behalf of such person, or any affiliates or associates of such person, the effect
or intent of any of the foregoing being to mitigate loss to, or to manage risk or benefit of stock price changes
for, such person, or any affiliales or associates of such person, or to increase or decrease the voting power or
pecuniary or economic interest of such person, or any affiliates or associates of such person, with respect to
Ebix stock;

»  such person’s written representation and agreement that such person (A) is not and will not become a party to
any agreement, arrangement or understanding with, and has not given any commitment or assurance to, any
person or entity as to how such person, if elected as a director of Ebix, will act or vote on any issue or
question, (B) is not and will not become 2 party to any agreement, arrangement or understanding with any
person or entity other than Ebix with respect to any direct or indircct compensation, reimbursement or
indemnification in conncction with service or action as a director of Ebix that has not been disclosed to Ebix
in such representation and agreement and (C) in such person’s individual capacity, would be in compliance, if
elected as a director of Ebix, and will comply with, all applicable publicly disclosed confidentiality, corporate
governange, conflict of interest, Regulation FD, code of conduct and ethics, and stock ownership and trading
policies and Ebix guidelines; and

« any other information relating to such person that would be required to be disclosed in a proxy statement or
other filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies for election of directors pursuant
to Section 14 of the Exchange Act, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

Further, as to the stockholder giving the notice, and the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination is being
madc, the stockholder’s notice must include:

« the name and record address of the stockholder giving the notice and the name and principal place of
busincss of such beneficial owner;

+  {A) the class or series and number of all shares of Ebix stock which are owned beneficially or of record by
such person and any affiliates or associates of such person, {B) the name of each nominee holder of shares of
Ebix stock awned beneficially but not of record by such person or any affiliates or associates of such person,
and the number of shares of Ebix stock held by each such nomince holder; {C) whether and the extent to
which any derivative instrument, swap, option, warrant, short interesi, hedge or profit inlerest or other
transaction has been entered into by or on behalf of such person, or any affiliates or associates of such
person, with respect to Ebix stock and {D) whether and the extent to which any other transaction, agrecment,
arrangement or understanding (including any short position or any borrowing or lending of shares of Ebix



stock) has been made by or on behalf ol such person, or any affiliates or associates of such person, the effect
or intent of any of the forcgoing being to mitigate loss to, or to manage risk or benefit of stock price changes
for, such person, or any affiliates or associates of such person, or to increase or decrease the voting power or
pecuniary or economic interest of such person, or any affiliates or associates of such person, with respect to
Ebix stock;

« adescription of (A) all agreements, arrangemenls, or understandings (whether written or aral) between such
person, or any affiliates or associates of such person, and any proposed nominee, or any affiliates or
associates of such proposed nominee, (B) all agreements, arrangements, or imderstandings (whether written
or oral) between such person, or any affiliates or associates of such person, and any other person or persons
(including their names) pursuant to which the nomination(s) are being made by such person, or otherwise
relating to Ebix or their ownership of Ebix capital stock, and (C) any material interest of such person, or any
affiliates or associates of such person, in such nomination, including any anticipated benefit therefrom to
such person, or any affiliates or associates of such person;

«  areprescntation that the stockholder giving notice intends to appear in person or by proxy at the annual or
special meeting to nominate the persons named in its notice; and

»  any other information relating to such person that would be required to be disclosed in a proxy statement or
other filings required to be made in connection with the solicitation of proxies for election of directors
pursuant to Section 14 of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. Such
notice must be accompanied by a written consent of each propesed nominee to being named as a nominee
and to serve as a director if elected.

Undesignated Preferred Stock

The Ebix certificate of incorporation authorizes the issuance of undesignated or “blank check™ preferred stock. The
authorization of blank check preferred stock makes it possible for the Ebix Board to issue preferred stock with voting or other
rights or preferences that could impede the success of any attempt to change control of Ebix, These and other provisions may
have the effect of deferring hostile takeovers or delaying changes in control or management of Ebix.

Amendment of Charter or Bylaw Provisions

The amendment of any of the above provisions would require approval by holders of at least a majority of the outstanding
Ebix common stock.
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EbixCash also offers on-demand technology to various providers in the arca of lending, wealth and asset management,
and travel across the world.

Insurance Exchanges

Insurance Exchanges revenucs are primarily derived from consideration paid by customers related to our SaaS
platforms, related services and the licensing of software. A typical contract for our SaaS platform will also include services for
setup, customization, transaction processing, maintenance, and/or hosting. Determining whether products and services are
considered distinct performance obligations that should be accounted for separately may require significant judgement. Set-up
and customization services related to our Saa$S platforms are not considered to be distinct from the usage fees associated with
the Saa8 platfarm and, accordingly, are accounted for as a single performance ebligation. These services, along with the usage
or transaction fees, are recognized over the contract duration, which considers the significance of the upfront fees in the context
of the contract and which may, therefore, exceed the initial contracted term. A customer's transaction volume tends to remain
fairly consistent during the contract period without significant fluctuations. The inveiced amount is a reasonable approximation
of the revenue that would be allocated to the related period under the variable consideration guidelines in ASC 606-10-32-40.
To the extent that a SaaS contract includes subscription services or professional services, apart from the upfront custamization,
these arc considered separate performance obligations. The Company also has separate software licensing (on premise/
perpetual), unrelated to the Saa8 platforms, which s recognized at a point in time when the license is transferred to the
customer.

Coniracts generally do not contain a right of return or refund provisions. Qur contracts often do contain overage fees,
contingent fees, or service level penaltics which are accounted for as variable consideration. Revenue accounted for as variable
consideration is immaterial and is recognized using the “right to invoice” practical expedient when the invoiced amount cquals
the value provided to the customer.

Sofiware-as-a-Service

The Company allocates the transaction price to each distinct performance obligation using the relative stand-alone
selling price. Determining the stand-alone selling price may require significant judgement. The stand-alone selling price is the
price at which an entity has sold or would sell a promised good or service separately to a customer. The Company determines
the stand-alone selling price based on observable price of products or services sold separately in comparable circumstances,
when such observable prices are available. When standalone selling price is not directly observable, the Company estimates the
stand-alone sclling price using the market assessment approach by considering historical pricing and other market factors.

Software Licenses

Software license revenues attributable to a software license that is a separate performance obligation are recognized at
the point in time that the customer obtains control of the license.

Subscription Services

Subscription services revenues are associated with performance obligations that are satisfied over specific time periods
and primarily consist of post-contract support services. Revenue is generally recognized ratably over the contract term. Our
subscription contracts are generally for an initial three-year period with subsequent one-year aulomatic renewals.

Transaction Fees

Transaction revenue is comprised of fees applied to the volume of transactions that are processed through our SaaS
platforms. These are typically based on a per-transaction rate and are invoiced for the same period in which the transactions
were processed and as the performance obligation is satisfied. The amount invoiced generally equals the value provided to the
customer, and revenue is typically recognized when invoiced using the as-invoiced practical expedient.

Professional Services
Professional scrvice revenue primarily consists of fees for setup, customization, training, or consulting services.
Professional service fees are generally on a time and materials basis or a fixed fee basis. Revenucs for time and materials arc

recognized as such services are rendered, while fixed fee revenues are recognized based on the input method that is driven by
the expecied hours to complcte the project measured against the actual hours completed to date. Professional services,
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particularly related to SaaS platforms, may have significant dependencics on the related licensed soflware and may not be
considered a distinct performance obligation.

Risk Compliance Services ("RCS")

RCS revenues consist of two revenue streams - Certificates of Insurance ("COI") and Consulting Services. COl
revenues are derived {rom consideration paid by customers for the creation and tracking of certificates of insurance. These are
transactional-based revenues. Consulting Services revenucs are driven by distinct consulting service cngagements rendered 1o
customers for which revenues are recognized using the output method on a time and material basis as the services are
performed.

COI Creation and Tracking

The Company provides services to issue and track certificates of insurance in the U.S. and Australian markets.
Revenue is derived from transaction fees for each certificate issucd or tracked. The Company recognizes revenuc at the issuance
of each certificate or over the period the certificate is being tracked.

Consulting Services

The Company provides consulting services to clients around the world for project management and development.
Consulting services fees are generally on a time and materials basis or a fixed fee basis. Revenues for time and materials are
recognized using an output method as the services are rendered, while fixed fee revenues are recognized bascd on the input
method driven by the expected hours to complete the project measurcd against the actual hours completed to date.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation— The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Ebix and its wholly and
majority-owncd subsidiaries. Non-controlling interests in net income or losses, and net equity are reported in amounts that
reflect the non-controlling party(s) percentage ownership in the respect subsidiaries. The effect of intercompany balances and
transactions has been eliminated.

Use of Estimates—The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP") requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial
statements and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during those reporting periods. Management has made material
estimates primarily with respect to revenue recognition and contract liabilities, accounts receivable, acquired intangible assets,
annual impairment reviews of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets, investments, contingent earnout liabilities in
connection with business acquisitions, and the provision for income taxes. Actual results may be different from those estimates.

Reclassification—Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to be consistent with current year presentation
within our financial staternent.

Segment Reporting—Since the Company, from the perspective of its chief operating decision maker, allocates
resources and evaluates business performance as a single entity on a worldwide basis, the Company reports as a single segment.
The applicable enterprise-wide disclosurcs arc included in Note 14.

Cash and Cash Equivalents—The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three
months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents. Such investments are stated at cost, which approximates fair
value. The Company does maintain cash balances in banking institutions in excess of federally insured amounts and therefore is
exposed to the related potential credit risk associated with such cash deposits.

The Company deposited $30.0 million with a third party bank in a trust account with commingled funds of its outside
legal counsel in contemplation of a potential acquisition on December 31, 2020. The funds are included under the heading 'Cash
and Cash Equivalent' in the consolidated balance sheet due to the nature of the satd account, as the account had neither a
restriction on the Company's ability to access the funds at its discretion nor did the account have restrictions associated with the
potential acquisition that would limit the Company's control over and access to the cash. The contemplated acquisition did not
occur as of December 31, 2020 or through the filing of this Form [0-K, and on February 2, 2021 the Company had the cash
returned (o its primary U.S. operating bank account.
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Short-terin Investments—The Company’s primary short-term 1nvestments consist of certificates of deposits with
established commercial banking institutions in India that have readily determinable fair valucs. Ebix accounts for such
investments that are reasonably expected to be realized in cash, sold or consumed during the year as short-term investments that
are available-for-sale. The carrying amount of investments in marketable securities approximates their fair valuc. The carrying
value of our short-term investments was $25 million and $4.4 million at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Restricted Cash— The carrying valuc of our restricted cash was $8.5 miliion and $35.1 million at December 31, 2020
and 2019, respectively. The Company holds fixed deposits pledged with banks for issuance of bank guarantees and letters of
credit related to its India operations for our working capital facilities.

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported within the
statement of financial position that sum to the total of the same such amounts shown in the statement of cash flows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
{In thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents b 105,035 § 73,228 137,858
Restricted cash 8,519 35,051 8,317
Restricted cash included in other long-terrn assets 6,659 3,650 3,506
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash
shown in the statement of cash flows $ 120,213 § 111,369 § 149,681

Fiduciary Funds - Restricted—Due to the Ebixllealth JV being a third party administrator (“TPA™), the Company
collects premiums from insureds and, after deducting its fees, remits these premiums to insurance companies. Unremitied
insurance premiums and/or ¢laim funds established for the benefit of various carriers are held in a fiduciary capacity until
disbursed by the Company. The use of premiums collected from insureds but not yet remitied to insurance companies is
restricled by law in certain states. The total asscts held on behalf of others, $4.1 million, are recorded as an asset and offsetting
fiduciary funds - restricted liability.

Fair Value Measurements—The Company follows the relevant GAAP guidance regarding the determination and
measurement of the fair value of assets/liabilities in which fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for
an asset or paid to transfer a liability {an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an
orderly transaction valuation hierarchy which requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs when measuring fair
value. The guidance describes the following three levels of inputs that may be used in the methodology to measure fair value:

»  Level 1 — Unadjusted quated prices available in active markets for identical investments to the reporting
entity at the measurement date.

»  Level 2 -— Other than quoted prices included in Level 1 inputs, which are observable for the asset or liability,
¢ither directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

+ Level 3 — Unobservable inputs, which arc uscd to the extent that observable inputs are not available, and
used in srtuations where there is little or no market activity for the asset or liability and wherein the reporting
entity makes estimates and assumptions related to the pricing of the asset or liability including assumptions
regarding risk,

A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant
to the fair value measurement.

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company has the following financial instruments for which it had to consider
fair values and had to make fair valuc assessments:

+  Short-term investments (commercial bank certificates of deposits and mutual funds), for which the fair values
are measured as a Level | instrument.

s Contingent accrued earn-out business acquisition consideration liabitities for which fair values are measured
as Level 3 instruments. These contingent consideration liabilities were recorded at fair value on the
acquisition date and are remeasured quarterly bascd on the then assessed fair valuc and adjusted if necessary.
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The increases or decreases in the fair value of contingent consideralion can result from changes in anticipated
revenue levels and changes in assumed discount periods and rates. As the fair value measure is based on
significant inputs that are not observable in the market, they are categorized as Level 3.

Other financial instruments not measured at fair value on the Company's consolidated balance sheets at December 31,
2020 and 2019 but which require disclosure of their fair values include: cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable,
accounts payable and accrued expenses, accrued payroll and rclated benefits, finance lease obligations, and the revolving line of
credit and term loan debt . The Company believes that the estimated fair value of such instruments at December 31, 2020 and
2019 reasonably approximates their carrying value as reported on the consolidated balance sheets.

Additional information regarding the Company's assets and liabilitics that arc measured at fair value on a recurring
basis is presented in the following tables:

Fair Values at Reporting Date Using*®
Quoted Prices

in Active
Markets for Significant
Identical Other Significant
Balance at Assets or Observable Unobservable
December 31, Liabilities Inputs Inputs
Descriptions 2020 (Level 1) (Level 2} (Level 3)

(In thousands)

Assets

Commercial bark certificates of deposits
($7.4 million is recorded in the long term
asset section of the consolidated balance
sheets in "Other Assets™ b 32,072 § — S 32,072 § —

Mutual funds 381 381 — —

Total assets measured at fair value $ 32,453 § 381 & 32,072 & —

Liabilities
Contingent earn-out acquisition
consideration —_ — — —

Total liabilities measured at fair value $ — % — & — § —

* During the year ended December 31, 2020 there were no transfers between fair value Levels 1, 2 or 3.
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Descriptions

Assets

Commercial bank certificates of deposits
{$50 thousand is recorded in the long term
asset section of the consolidated balance
sheets in "Other Assets")

Mutual Funds

Total assets measured at fair value
Liabilities

Contingent earn-out acquisition

consideration (a)

Total liabilities measured at fair value

Fair Values at Reporting Date Using*

Quoted Prices

in Active
Markets for Significant

Identical Other Significant

Balance at Assets or Observable  Unobservable
December 31, Liabilities Inputs Inputs
2019 {Level 1) {Level 2) {Level 3)
(In thousands)

b 4,493 — 4,493 —
1,058 1,058 — —
$ 5,551 % 1,058 3 4,493 § —
10,095 — — 10,095
p 10,095 § — § — ¥ 10,095

(a) The income valuation approach is applied and the valuation inputs include the contingent payment arrangement
terms, projected cash flows, rate of return, and probability assessments.

* During the year ended December 31, 2019, there were no transfers between fair value Levels 1, 2 or 3.

For the Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobscrvable
inputs (Level 3), the following table provides a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for each category therein,

and gains or losses recognized during the year:
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Fair Value Measurements Using Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)

Contingent Liability for Acerued Earn-out Balance at Balance at
Acquisition Consideration December 31,2020  December 31, 2019

{In thousands)

Beginning balance 5 10,095 24,976

Total remeasurement adjustments:
{Gains) or losses included in earnings ** (3,105) (16,543)
Reductions recorded against goodwill — —
Foreign currency translation adjustments *#*#* (537) (260)

Acquisitions and settlements

Business acquisitions — 1,922
Settlements (6,453) —
Ending balancc § — $ 10,095

The amount of total (gains) or losses for the year
included in earnings or changes to nct assets,
attributable to changes in unrealized (gains) or
losses relating to assets or liabilities still held at
year-end. § (3,105) 8 {16,543)

** recorded as a component of general and administrative expenses

*** recorded as a component of other comprehensive income within stockholders' equity

Quantitative Information about Level 3 Fair Value Measuremenis

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurernent of the Company's contingent consideration
liabilities designated as Level 3 are as follows:
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Fair Value at
December 31, Valuation Tech  Significant Unobservable
(In thousands) 2020 nique Input

Expected future annual
revenue streams and

Contingent acquisition consideration: $— Discounted cash flow  probability of achievement
Fair Value at Significant
December 31, Unobservable
(In thousands) 2019 Valuation Technique Input
Contingent acquisition consideration: Expected future annual
(Wdev, MileS, Zillicus and Essel revenue streams and
acquisitions) $10,095 Discounted cash flow  probability of achievement

Sensitivity to Changes in Significant Unobservable Inputs

As presented in the table above, the significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of contingent
consideration related to business acquisitions are forecasts of expected future annual revenues as developed by the Company's
management and the probabitity of achievement of those revenue forecasts. The discount rate used in these calculations is
12.6%. Significant increases {decreases) in these unobservable inputs in isolation would likely result in a significantly (lower)
higher fair value measurement.

Revenue Recognition and Contract Liabilities—The Company derives its revenues primarily from software
subscription and transaction fees, software license fees, financial transaction fees, risk compliance solution services fees, and
professional service fees including associated fees for consulting, implementation, training, and project management provided
to customers with installed systems and applications. Sales and value-added taxes are not included in revenues, but rather are
recorded as a liability until the taxes assessed are remitted to the respective taxing authorities.

The Company determines revenue recognition by applying the following steps:

. identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer;

. identification of the performance obligations in the contract;

. determination of the transaction price;

. allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
. recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisfy a performance obligation.

The Company analyzes its different services individually te determine the appropriate basis for revenue recognition, as
further described below. Additionally, certain services exist in multiple channels. As Ebix derives revenues from three product/
service channels, EbixCash Exchanges, Insurance Exchanges, and Risk Compliance Solutions, for policy disclosure purposcs,
contracts are discussed in conjunction with the channel to which they are most significant,

The Company asscsses the terms of customer contracts, including termination rights, penalties {implied or explicit),
and renewal rights.

Contract Liabilities

Contract liabilities includes payments or billings that have been received or made prior to performance. In certain
cases, cash collections pertain to maintenance and support fees, initial setup or registration fees under hosting agreements,
software license fees received in advance of delivery and acceptance, and software development fees paid in advance of
completion and delivery. Approximately $7.2 million and $6.4 million of contract Jiabilities were included in billed accounts

receivable at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Disaggregation of Revenue
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The following tables preseut tevenue disaggregated by primary geographical regions and product channels for the
years ended December 31, 2020 , 2019 and 2018:

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
(In thousands)
India* § 378,660 3 300,678 $ 196372
United States $ 166,320 182,530 196,984
Australia $ 33,846 33,268 35,770
Latin America $ 14,801 19,755 19,866
Europe $ 13,145 14,695 15387
Canada b 4,383 4,805 5,611
Singapore* § 3,969 6,549 7,674
Indonesia* $ 3,206 9,706 7,482
Philippines* $ 2,140 5,991 6,483
United Arab Emirates® $ 3,335 683 1,042
New Zealand 3 1,804 1,955 2,015
Mauritius* $ — — 3,140

$ 625609 $ 580,615 3§ 497826

*Primarily India led businesses for which total revenue was $388.3 miilion,
$320.0 million and $217.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2020,
2019, and 2018, respectively,

The Company’s revenues are derived from three product/service groups. Presented in the table below is the breakout
of our revenue streams for each of those product/service groups for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018,

For the Year Ended

December 31,
(In thousands) 2020 2019 2018
EbixCash Exchanges $ 388,293 § 319953 § 217457
Insurance Exchanges 178,111 190,067 192,604
Risk Compliance Solutions 59,205 70,595 87,765
Totals $ 625,609 § 580,615 §$ 497,826

Costs to Obtain and Fulfill a Contract

The Company’s capitalized costs are primarily derived from the fulfilliment of SaaS related setup and customizations
from which the customer receives benefit through continued access to and use of the SaaS product platforms. In accordance
with the guidance in ASC 340-40-25-5, we capitalize the costs directly related to the setup and development of these
customizations, which satisfy the Company’s performance obligation with respect to access to the Company’s underlying
product platforms. The capitalized costs primarily consist of the salaries of the developers directly involved in fulfilling the
project and arc solely based on the time spent on that project. The Company amortizes the capitalized costs ratably over the
expected useful life of the related customizations, matching our treatment for the related revenue, and the capitalized costs are
recoverable from profit margin included in the contract. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had 5646 thousand of contract
costs in “Other current assets” and $985 thousand in “Other asscts” on the Company's Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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(In thousands) December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

Balance, beginning of period $ 1,897 §% 2,238

Costs recognized from beginning balance (743) {(708)

Additions, net of costs recognized 476 367

Balance, end of period p 1,630 § 1,897
Contract Liabilities

The Company records contract liabilities when it reccives payments or invoices in advance of the performance of
services. A significant portion of this balance relates to contracts where the customer has paid in advance for the use of our
Saa$ platforms over a specified period of time. This portion is recognized as the related performance obligation is fulfilled
(generally less than one ycar). Part of our performance obligation for these contracts consists of the requirement to provide our
customers with continued access to, and use of, our Saa$ platforms and associated customizations., Without continued access to
the SaaS platform, the customizations have no separate benefit to the customer. Our customers simultaneously receive and
consume the benefits as we provide access over time. The remaining portion of the contract liabilitics balance consists primarily
of customer-specific customizations that are not distinet from related performance obligations that transfer over time. This
portion is recagnized over the expected useful life of the customizations.

{In thousands) December 31,2020  December 31, 2019
Balance, beginning of period b 37,253 % 44,660
Revenue recognized from beginning balance (32,783) (31,507)
Additions from business acquisitions — 769
Additions, net of revenue recognized and currency

translation 36,460 23,331
Balance, end of period $ 40,930 $ 37,253

Revenue Allocated to Remaining Performance Obligations
The following table presents our estimated revenue allocated to remaining performance obligations for contracted

revenue that has not yet been recognized, representing our “contractually committed” revenue as of December 31, 2020 that we
will transfer from contract liabilities and recognize in future periods:

Estimated Revenue (In thousands):

For the year ending December 31, 2021 $ 3,99
For the year ending December 31, 2022 2,791
For the year ending December 31, 2023 2,188
For the year ending December 31, 2024 1,123
For the year ending December 31, 2025 208

$ 10,306

Our contractually committed revenue, for purposes of the tabular presentation above, is generally limited to service
customer contracts with significant programming, setup, and implementation activities related to our SaaS offerings. Our
contractually committed revenue amounts generally exclude, based on the following practical expedients that we elected to
apply, remaining performance obligations for: (1) contracts with an original expected duration of one year or less; and (ii)
contracts for which we recognize revenue at the amount for which we have the right to invoice for services performed.

Accounts Receivable and the Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Receivable—Reported accounts receivable as of
December 31, 2020 include $97.6 million of trade receivables stated at invoice billed amounts and $45.2 million of unbilled
receivables (net of a $22.7 million estimated allowance for doubtful accounts receivable). Reported accounts receivable at
December 31, 2019 include $118.3 million of trade receivables stated at invoice billed amounts and $35.3 million of unbilled
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receivables (net of a $21.7 million estiimaled allowance for doubtful accounts receivable). The Company records a contract asset
when revenue recognized on a contract exceeds the billings. The contract asset is transferred to receivables when the
entitlement to payment becomes unconditional. These contract assets are primarily related to project-based revenue where we
recognize revenue using the input method calculated using expected hours to complete the project measured against the actual
hours completed to date. Management specifically analyzes accounts receivable and historical bad debts, write-offs, customer
concentrations, customer credit-worthiness, current economic trends and changes in our customer payment terms when
evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts. Bad debt expense was $1.7 million, $12.3 million, and $3.6
million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.

Costs of Services Provided—Costs of services provided consist of data processing costs, customer support costs,
including personnel costs to maintain our proprietary databases, costs to provide customer call center support, hardware and
software expense assaciated with transaction processing systems and exchanges, telecommunication and computer network
expense, and occupancy costs associated with facilitics where these functions are performed. Cost of services provided also
include the direct expenses associated with our services businesses, including the cost of prepaid gift cards, the cost of travcl
services provided and the cost of foreign exchange and remittance transactions. Depreciation expense is not included in costs
of scrvices provided.

Capitalized Software Development Costs—In accordance with ASC 350-40 “Internal-Use Software” and ASC
350-985 “Software” the Companty expenses costs as they are incurred until technological feasibility has been established, at and
after which time those costs are capitalized until the product is available for general release to customers. Costs incurred to
enhance our software products, after general market release of the services using the products, is expensed in the period they are
incurred. The periodic expense for the amortization of previously capitalized software development costs is included in costs of
services provided.

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets—Goodwill represents the cost in excess of the fair value of the
identifiable net assets from the businesses that we acquire. In accordance with ASC 330, “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets"” and ASU No. 2011-08, “Testing Goodwill for Impairment”, goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level
on an annual basis or on an interim basis if an event occurred or circumstances change that would indicate that fair vatue of our
reporting unit decreased below its carrying value. Potential impairment indicators include a significant change in the business
climate, legal factors, operating performance indicators, competition, customer retention and the sale or disposition of a
significant portion of the business. The Company applies the accounting guidance concerning goodwill impairment evaluation,
whereby the Company first assesses certain qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of events or circumstances
would indicate that it is more Hkely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit was less than its carrying amount. If after
assessing the totality of events and circumstances, we were to determine that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then we would perform quantitative impairment testing.

We perform our annual goodwill impairment cvaluation and testing as of October 1st of each year or, when events
or circumstances dictate, more frequently. No goodwill impairments have occurred nor recognized in 2019 or 2020.

The Company has considered the guidance within ASC 350 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” and ASC 280
“Segment Reporting” in concluding that Ebix effectively operates as one operating and reportable segment and one reporting
unit.

Changgs in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:
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December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
{In thousands)
Beginning Balance $ 952,404 $ 946,685
Additions for current year acquisitions 11,241 17,931
Adjustments for final purchase accounting 725 741
Foreign currcncy translation adjustments (15,333) {12,953)
Ending Balance $ 949,037 § 952,404

The Company’s indefinite-lived assets arc primarily associated with the cstimated fair value of the contractual
customer relationships existing with the property and casualty insurance carriers in Australia using the Company's property and
casualty ("P&C") data exchange. Indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized, but rather are tested for impairment
annyally and tested on &n interim basis if a triggering event has occurred.

We perform our annual impairment testing of indefinite-lived intangible assets as of October 1st of each year. The
anmual impairment testing of indefinite-lived intangible assets is perform by comparing the asset's fair value to its carrying
value. An impairment charge is recognized if the asset's estimated fair value is less than its carrying value.

To estimate the fair value, we utilize cash flow projections. Prajections of cash flows are based on our views
of revenue growth rates, operating costs, anticipated future economic conditions, the appropriate discount rates relative to risk,
and cstimates of residual values and terminal values. We believe that our estimates arc consistent with assumptions that
marketplace participants would use in their estimates of fair value. The use of different estimates or assumptions for our
projected discounted cash flows (e.g., revenue growth rates, future economic conditions, discount rates, and estimates of
terminal values) when determining the fair valuc of our reporting unit could result in different values and may result in a
goodwill impairment charge.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, as a result of the analysis performed the Company concluded that the IHC
customer relationship indefinite-lived intangible asset associated with the Company's Ebixliealth JV has been impaired, the
Company recorded a $6.2 million impairment charge within the asset impairment line on the consolidated statement of
operations. [n addition, the Company has concluded that they THC customer relationship intangible is no longer considered
indefinite-lived. The Company will amortize this intangible over the remaining estimated life of ten years. During the years
ended December 2019, and 2018, we had no impairments to the recorded balances of our indefinite-lived intangible assets.

Finite-lived Intangihle Assets—TFinite-lived intangible asscts represent the estimated acquisition date fair value of
customer relationships, developed technology, trademarks, non-compete agreements and other intangibles described below
obtained in connection with the businesses we acquire. We amortize these intangible assets on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Life

Category (years)

Customer relationships 7-20
Developed technology 3-12
Afrport contract 9
Store networks 5
Dealer networks 15-20
Brand 15
Trademarks 3-15
Non-compete agreements 5
Database 10
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Intangible assets as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, are as follows:

December 31,

2020 2019
(In thousands)

Finite-lived intangible assets:

Customer relationships $ 96,616 § 83,012
Developed technology 19,867 19,979
Dealer networks 6.653 6,726
Airport Contract 4,523 4,635
Store Networks 2,440 2,500
Trademarks 2,700 2,689
Brand 896 918
Non-compete agreements 759 764
Backlog 140 140
Database 212 212
Total intangibles 134,806 121,575
Accumulated amortization (83,926) (74,620)
Finite-lived intangibles, net $ 50,880 § 46,955

Indefinite-lived intangibles:
Customer/territorial relationships g 21,647 § 42,055

As a part of the 2009 acquisition of E-Z Data Ebix recognized a $14.2 million indefinite-lived intangible asset
associated with acquired corporate customer relationships. During the third quarter 2020, the Company identified a potential
indicator of impairment and performed a quantitative analysis to test for impairment. The Company determined the fair value of
the intangible assets exceeded its carrying value, however the Company determined that the intangible asset no longer had an
indefinite life. The Company has reclassified the $14.2 million to finite-lived and will amortize the value of this intangible over
an estimated remaining useful life of 15 years. In the third quarter of 2020 and each quarter subsequent, Ebix will recognize
approximately $237 thousand of amortization related to the E-Z Dala corporate customer relationships acquired.

Income Taxes— The Company follows the asset and liahility method of accounting for income taxes pursuant to the
pertinent guidance issued by the FASB. Decferred income taxes are recorded to reflect the estimated future tax effects of
differences between the financial statcment and tax basis of assets, liabilities, operating losses, and tax credit carry forwards
using the tax rates expected to be in effect when the temporary differences reverse. Valuation allowances, if any, are recorded to
reduce deferred tax assels to the amount management considers more likely than not 1o be realized. Such valuation allowances
are recorded for the portion of the deferred tax assets that are not expected to be realized based on the levels of historical
taxable income and projections for future taxable incomec over the periods in which the temporary differences will be
deductible.

The Company applies the rclevant FASB accounting guidance on accounting for uncertainty in income taxes positions.
This guidance clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes by prescribing the minimum recognition threshold a tax
position is required to meet before being reccognized in the financial statements. In this regard we recognize the tax benefit from
uncertain tax positions only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing
authorities, based on the technical merits of the position.

Foreign Currency Translation— The functional currency is the U.S. dollar for the Company's foreign subsidiaries in
Dubai and Singapore, and its product development and information technology enabled services activities for the insurance
industry provided by its India subsidiary. For Dubai and Singapore, because both the intellectnal property research and
development activities provided by its Dubai and Singapore subsidiaries, and the product development and information
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technology enabled services activities for thc insurance industry provided by its India subsidiary arc in support of the
Company's operating divisions across the world, which are primarily transacted in U.S. dollars.

The functional currency of the Company's other foreign subsidiaries is the local currency of the country in which the
subsidiary operates. The assets and liabilities of these foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at the rates of
exchange at the balance sheet dates. Income and expense accounts are translated at the average exchange rates in effect during
the period. Gains and losses resulting from translation adjustments are included as a component of accumulated other
comprehensive income in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, and are included in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income. Foreign exchange transaction gains and losses that are derived from transactions denominated in a
currency other than the subsidiary's functional currency are included in the determination of net income.

Advertising—With the exception of certain direct-response costs in connection with our business services of
providing medical continuing education to physicians, dentists and healthcare professionals, advertising costs are expensed as
incurred. Advertising costs amounted to $4.8 million, $9.7 million, and 7.5 million in 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively, and
are included in sales and marketing expenses in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Incomc.

Effective January 1, 2018 Subtopic 340-40 replaced that guidance to require the costs of direct-response advertising to
be expensed as they are incurred or the first time the advertising takes place. The Company was required to recognize a
cumulative effective change 1o opening retained eamings in the year of adoption of the standard. The Company recorded a one-
time $1.9 million adjustment to retained earnings on January 1, 2018 and is expensing all future costs from this date forward.
Under the new guidance Subtopic 340-40, the Company’s expense decreased by $522 thousand during 2018 from what would
have been recorded under legacy UUS GAAP 340-20.

Sales Commissions —Certain sales commission paid with respect to subscription-based revenues are deferred and
subscquently amortized into operating expenses ratably over the term of the related customer subscription contracts, As of
December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 $650 thousand, $652 thousand, and $641 thousand, respectively, of sales cammissions
were deferred and included in other current assets on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. During the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company amortized $763 thousand and $1.0 miliion, respectively, of previously deferred
sales commissions and included this expense in operating expenses on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income.

Property and Equipment—Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization.
Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-line method over the assets' estimated useful lives. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the shorter of the expected life of the improvements or the remaining lease term. Repairs and
maintenance are charged to expense as incurred and major improvements that extend the life of the asset are capitalized and
depreciated over the cxpected remaining life of the related assct. Gains and josses resulting from sales or retirements are
recorded as incurred, at which time related costs and accumulated depreciation are removed from the Company’s accounts,
Fixed assets acquired in acquisitions are recorded at fair value. The estimated useful lives applied by the Company for property
and equipment are as follows:

Life

Asset Category (years)
Buildings 39
Building Tmprovements 15
Computer equipment 5
Furniture, fixtures and other

Software 3
Land Improvements 20
Land Unlimited life
Leasehold improvements Shorter of asset life or

life of the lease

Recent Accounting Pronouncements—The following 18 a brief discussion of recently released accounting
pronouncements that are pertinent to the Company's business:

[n December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): "Simplifving the Accounting for
Income Taxes". ASU 2019-12 is expected to reduce the cost and complexity related to the accounting for income taxes by
eliminating the need for an entity to analyze whether the following apply to a given reporting period:
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» Exception to the incremental approuch for inlra period Ltax allocation;
« Exceptions to accounting for basis differences when there are ownership changes in foreign investments; and
 Exception in interim period income tax accounting for year-to-date losscs that exceed anticipated losses.

For public business entities, the amendments in this Update are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within
those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2020. The Company not yet assessed the impact that the adoption of this
guidance will have on its statement of finarcial position or its statement of income.

In March 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board {("FASB™} 1ssued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform
(Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting, which provides optional expedients
and exceptions to the current guidance on contract modifications and hedging relationships to case the financial reporting
burdens of the capected market transition frow the London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR"} and other interbank offered rates
to alternative reference rates, such as the Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR"). The guidance was effective upon
issuance and may be applied prospectively to contract modifications made and hedging relationships entered inio or evaluated
on or before December 31, 2022, The adoption of this guidance has had no impact on the consolidated financial statements as
the Company has not yet modified any of the existing contracts in response to the reference rate reform. The impact of this
ASU will ultimately depend on the terms of any future contract modification related to a change in reference rate, including
patential future modifications Lo the Company’s Credit Facility.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Mcasurement (Topic 820): "Disclosure Framework-
Changes ro the Disclosure Reguirements for Fair Value Measurement”. ASU 2018-13 is intended to improve the effectiveness
of ASC 820°s disciosure requirements. The amendments in this ASU are effective for public business entities for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within that fiscal year.

In February 2018, the FASE issued 2018-02, Income Statement-Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220):
"Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income”. The ASU provides that the stranded
tax effects from the Tax Act in accumulated othcr comprehensive loss may be reclassified to retained earnings. The
amendments in thts ASU are effective for all entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods
within those fiscal years.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): "Simplifving the Test
Jor Goodwill Impairmeni”. To simplify the subsequent measurement of goodwill, the FASB ecliminated Step 2 from the
goodwill impairment test. In computing the implied fair value of goodwill under Step 2, an entity had to perform procedures to
determine the fair value at the impairment testing date of its assets and liabilities {including unrecognized assets and liabilities).
Instead, under the amendments in this ASU, an entity should perform its annual, or interim, goodwill impairment test by
comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount. A public business entity filer should adopt the
amendments in this ASU for its annual or any interim goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2019.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-01, Business Combinations (Topic 803): "Clarifying the Definition of a
Business" which amended the existing FASB ASC. The standard provides additional guidance to assist entities with evaluating
whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions {or disposals) of asscts or businesses. The definition of a business
affects many areas of accounting, including acquisitions, disposals, goodwill, and consolidation. ASU 2017-01 is effective for
fiscal 2019 with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted this guidance in 2019 and it had an effect classification
certain of its recent acquisitions.

In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-16, Taxes (Topic 740); "Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets Other Than
Inventory"”. Current GAAP prohibits the recognition of current and deferred income taxes for an intra-entity asset transfer until
the asset has been sold to an outside party. This prohibition on recognition is an exception to the principle of comprehensive
recognition of current and deferred mcormne taxes in GAAP. The amendments specified by ASU 2016-16 require an entity to
recognize the income tax consequences of an intra-entity transfer of an asset other than inventory when the transfer occurs. The
amendments eliminate the exception for an intra-cntity transfer of an assetl other thaa inventory. Two common examples of
assets included in the scope of the amendments are intellectual property, and property, plant and equipment. The amendments
do not include new disclosure requirements; however, existing disclosure requirements might be applicable when accounting
for the current and deferred income taxes for an intra-entity transfer of an asset other than inventory. The amendments align the
recognition of income tax consequences for intra-entity transfers of assets other than inventory with International Financial
Repoarting Standards. TAS 12, Income Taxes, requires recognition of current and deferred income taxes resulting from an intra-
entity transfer of any asset (including inventory) when the transfer occurs. The amendments are effective for public business
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entities for annual reporting periods beginning afier December 15, 2017, including inlerim reporting periods within those
annual reporting periods. Early adoption is permitted for all entities in the first interim period if an entity issues interim
financial statements. The amendments should be applied on a modified retrospective basis through a cumulative-effect
adjustment directly 1o retained earnings as of the beginning of the period of adoption. The Company adopted this new standard
and it did not have a material effect on its consolidated statement of financial position or statement of income.

In Junic 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13. Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326). The main objective
of this ASU is to provide financial statement users with more decision-useful information about the expected credit losses on
financial instruments and other commitments to extend credit held by a reporting entity at each reporting date. The
measurement of expected credit losses is based on relevant information about past events, including historical expericnce,
current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the collectability of the reported amount. An entity must
use judgment in determining the relevant information and estimation methods that are appropriate in its circumstances. For
public business entities that are U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) filers, the amendments in this Update arc
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company
adopted this new standard and it did not have a material effect on its consolidated statement of financial position or statement of
income.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). This new accounting guidance is intended to
improve financial reporting about leasing transactions. The ASU affects all companies and other organizations that lease assets
such as real estate, airplanes, and manufacturing equipment. The ASU will require organizations that lease assets referred to as
“Lessees” to recognize on the balance sheet the assets and liabilities for the rights and obligations created by those leases. An
orgapization is to provide disclosures designed to enable users of financial statements to understand the amount, timing, and
uncertainty of cash flows arising from leascs. These disclosures include qualitative and quantitative requirements concerning
additional information about the amounts recorded in the financial statements. Under the new guidance, a lessee is required to
recognizc assets and liabilities for leases with lease terms of more than twelve months. Consistent with current GAAP, the
recognition, measurement, and presentation of expenses and cash flows arising from a lease by a lessee primarily will depend
on its classification as a finance or operating lease. However, unlike current GAAP which requires only capital leases to be
recognized on the balance sheet, the new ASU requires both types of leases (i.e., operating and capital) to be recognized on the
balance sheet. The capital lease is accounted for in substantially the same manner as capital leases are accounted for under
existing GAAP. For operating leases, there now is the recognition of a lease liability and a lease asset for all such leases greater
than one year in term. Public companics are required to adopt the new leasing standard for fiscal years, and interim periods
within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2018. We adopted Topic 842 effective January 1, 2019 using a
modified retrospective method and will not restate comparative periods. As permitted under the transition guidance, we camried
forward the assessment of whether our contracts contain or are leases, classification of our leases and remaining lease terms.
See Note 19.

Note 2. Earnings per Share

The basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS™), and the basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding for all
periods as presented in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income are shown below:
For the year ended
December 31,
(In thousands, except per share

amounts)
Earnings per share; 2620 2019 2018
Basic earnings per common share $ 303§ 317 § 2.97
Diluted earnings per comrnon share $ 302 % 3.l6 § 2.95
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 30,510 30,511 31,393
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 30,571 30,594 31,534

Basic EPS is equal to net income attributable to Ebix, Inc. divided by the weighted average number of shares of
common stock outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS takes into consideration common stock equivalents which for the
Company consist of stock options and restricted stock. With respect to stock options, diluted EPS is calculated as if the
Company had additional commeon stock outstanding from the beginning of the year or the date of grant or issuance, net of
assumed repurchased shares using the treasury stock method. With respect to restricted stock, diluted EPS is calculated as if the
Company had additional commen stock oulstanding from the beginning of the year or the date of grant or issuance. Diluted
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LIPS is equal o el incotne atltibutable 1o Ebix, Ine divided by the combined sum of the weighted average number of shares
outstanding and common stock equivalents. At December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 there were 181,875, 181,875, and 42,000
respectively of potentially issuable shares with respect to stock options which could dilute EPS in the future but which were
excluded from the diluted EPS calculation because presently their effect is anti-dilutive. Diluted shares outstanding arc
determined as follows for each year ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018:

For the year ended
December 31,

(In thousands)

2020 2019 2018
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 30,510 30,511 31,393
Incremental shares for common stock equivalents 61 83 141
Dilutcd sharcs outstanding 30,571 30,594 31,534

Note 3. Business Acquisitions

The Company’s business acquisitions are accounted for under the purchase method of accounting in accordance with
ASC 805 ("Business Combinations"}). Accordingly, the consideration paid by the Company for the businesses it purchases is
allocated to the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities acquired based upon their estimated fair values as of the datc of the
acquisition. The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded
as goodwill. Recognized goodwill pertains in part to the value of the expected synergies to be derived from combining the
operations of the businesses we acquire including the value of the acquired workforce. While we use our best estimates and
assumptions to accuratcly vafue asscts acquired and liabilitics assumed at the acquisition datc as well as contingent
consideration, where applicable, our estimates arc inherently uncertain and subject to refinement. As a result, during the
measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, we may record significant adjustments to the
asscts acquired and liabilities assumed with the corresponding offsct to goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the mcasurement
period or final determination of the values of assets acquired or liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent
adjustments are recognized in our consolidated statements of income.

The Company's practice is to immediately integrate all functions including infrastructure, sales and marketing,
administration, product development after a business acquisition is consummated, so as to ensure that synergistic efficiencies
are maximized, redundancies elinminated, and to leverage cross-selling opportunities. Furthermore, the Company centralizes
certain key functions such as information technology, marketing, sales, human resources, finance, and other general
administrative functions after an acquisition, in order to realize cost efficiencies. By executing this integration strategy, it
becomes neither practical nor feasible to accurately and separately track and disclose the eamings from the business
combinations we have executed after they have been acquired.

A significant component of the purchase price consideration for many of the Company's business acquisitions is a
potential future cash earnout based on reaching certain specified future revenue targets. The terms for the contingent earn-out
payments in most of the Company's business acquisitions typically address revenues achieved by the acquired entity over a one,
two, and/or three year period subsequent to the effective date of their acquisition by Ebix. These terms typically cstablish a
minimum threshold revenue target with achievement of revenues recognized over thal {arget being awarded in the form of a
specified cash earn-out payment. The Company applies these terms in its calculation and determination of the fair value of
contingent earn-out liabilities for purchased businesses as part of the related valuation and purchase price allecation exercise for
the corresponding acquired assets and liabilities. The Company recognizes these potential obligations as contingent liabilities as
reported on its Consolidated Balance Sheets. As discussed in more detail in Note 1, these contingent consideration liabilities arc
recorded at fair value on the acquisition date and are remeasured quarterly based on the then assessed fair value and adjusted if
necessary. During each of the years ending December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, these aggregate contingent accrucd earn-out
business acquisition consideration liabilities, were reduced by $3.1 million, $16.5 million, and $1.4 million, respectively, due
to remeasurcments as based on the then assessed fair value and changes in the amount and timing of anticipated future revenue
levels. These reductions to the contingent accrued earn-out liabilities resulted in corresponding reduction to general and
administrative expenses as reported on the Consolidated Statements of Income. As of December 31, 2020, there were no
outstanding contingenl earn-out liability in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet. As of December 31, 2019, the total of
thesc contingent liabilitics was $10.1 million, of which $1.5 million was repotied in long-term liabilities and $8.6 million was
included in current liabilities in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet.
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2020 Acquisitions

Trimax- Effective May 4, 2020, Ebix acquired from bankruptcy India-based Trimax, which provides IT and
integration services to state-owned transport corporations, operates data centers, and is an IT infrastructure solution provider,
for approximately $9.9 million of upfront consideration, Additionally, Ebix issued preferred shares in Trimax to the selling
shareholders that can be sold five years from the closing of the acquisition based on an independent valuation performed by a
Big 4 valuation firm. The maximum potential value of the preferred shares is approximately $9.9 million. The valuation and
purchase price allocation remains prefiminary and will be finalized as soon as practicable but in no event longer than one year
from the effective date of this transaction.

AssureFdge- Effective Qctober 1, 2020 the Company acquired a 70% interest in AssureBdge Global Services
(“AssureRdge™) for a total purchase price of approximately $5.0 million, including net working capital acquired. AssureEdge is
a pan-India bascd business process outsourcing ("BPO") company, with a variety of BPO offerings via six contact centers
across the country. It serves a number of indusiries and clients that have cross-selling value for EbixCash services. The
valuation and purchase price allocation remains preliminary and will be finalized as soon as practicable but in no event longer
than one year from the effective date of this transaction.

2019 Acquisitions

Wallstreet Canada- Effective August 23, 2019, Ebix acquired Canada based Wallstreet Canada, a forcign exchange
and outward remittance service provider for approximately $2.1 million inclusive of net acquired working capital.

Essel Forex- Effective January 1, 2019, Ebix acquired the assets of India based Essel Forex, for approximately $8.7
million, plus possible future contingent earn-out payments of up to $721 thousand based on earned revenues. Ebix funded the
entire transaction in cash using its internal cash reserves. Essel Forex is a provider of foreign exchange services in India, with a
wide spectrum of related products including sales of all major currencies, travelers’ checks, demand drafts, remittanccs, money
transfers and prepaid cards primarily for corporate clients.

Zillious- Effective January 1, 2019, Ebix acquired an 80% controlling stake in India based Zillious for $10.1 million
plus possible future contingent eamn-out payments of up to $2.2 million based on agreed milestones in the acquisition
agreement. Zillious is an on-demand Saa$ travel technology sclution in the corporate travel segment in India.

The following table summarizes the recognized intangible asscts, goodwill and earn-out provisions, as a result of the
cumulative valuation and purchase price allocations on effective date of acquisition, for the 2020 and 2019 acquisitions:

Contingent
Date Intangibles Earn-Out
Company acquired acquired Goodwill Assets Provision
(In thousands)

Essel Forex Jan-19 8,372 1,163 407
Zillious Jan-19 9,489 1,875 1,515
Wallstreet Canada Aug-19 71 o —
Total for 2019 acquisitions $ 17,932 § 3,038 % 1,922
Trimax* May-20 8,243 — —
AssurcEdge* QOct-20 3,678 — —
Total for 2020 acquisitions $ 11,921 8§ — § —

*The valuation and purchase price allocation remains preliminary and will be finalized as soon as
practicable but in no event longer than one year from the effective date of this transaction.
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The following table suminanices the fan valug of the consideration transferred, net asscts acquired and habihitics
assumed, as of the acquisition date, for acquisitions closed during 2020 and 2019:

(In thousands) 2020 2019
Fair value of total consideration transferred

Cash $ 13,774 % 105,391
Consideration payable 1,827 —
Contingent earn-out consideration arrangement (net) — 1,922
Total consideration transferred 15,601 107,313
Fair value of equity components recorded (not part of consideration)

Recognition of noncontrolling interest of joint ventures 1,350 (10,258)
Total equity components recorded 1,350 (10,258)
Total consideration transferred and equity components recorded $ 16,951 % 97,053
Fair value of assets acquired and labilities assumed

Cash, net of adjustment b 1,358 % (75)
Other current assets 2,812 5,175
Property, plant, and equipment 4,021 231
Other long term assets 103 3,023
Intangible assets, definite lived - 6,296
Capitalized software development costs — —
Deferred tax liability — 12
Current and other liabilities, net of consideration transferred (3,264) 63,721
Net assets acquired, excludes goodwill 5,030 78,383
Goodwill 11,921 18,672
Total net assets acquired 3 16,051 $ 97.055

The following table summarizes the separately identified intangible assets acquired as a result of the acquisitions that
occurred during 2020 and 2019:

December 31,

2020 2019

Weighted Weighted

Average Average
Intangible asset category Fair Value Useful Life  Fair Value Useful Life

(In (In

thousands) (In years) thousands)  (In years)
Customer relationships 3 — 0.0 $ 3,042 7.5
Developed technology - 0.0 851 7.0
Agent network e 0.0 582 10.2
Ajrport contracts — 0.0 0.0
Store networks — 0.0 0.0
Brand — 0.0 78 5.0
Branch network — 0.0 1,743 10.0
Purchase accounting adjustments for prior year acquisitions — 0.0 0.0
Total acquired intangible assets 3 — 0.0 § 6,296 8.0
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Estimated aggregate future amortization expense for the intangible assets recorded as part of the business acquisitions
described above and all other prior acquisitions is as follows:

Future Amortization Expenses (In thousands):

For the year ended December 31, 2021 $ 9,359
For the year ended December 31, 2022 8,967
For the year ended December 31, 2023 6,942
For the year ended December 31, 2024 5,155
For the year ended December 31, 2025 3,835
Thereafter 16,622

$ 50,880

The Company recorded $9.5 million, $10.2 million, and $7.5 million of amortization expense related to acquired
intangible assets for the years ended Decernber 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.

Note 4. Credit Facility

The Company maintains a senior secured syndicated credit facility, dated August 5, 2014, among Ebix, Inc., as
borrower, its subsidiaries party thereto from time to time as guarantors, Regions Bank (As administrative agent and collateral
agent) and the lenders party thereto from time to time (as amended from time to time, the "Credit Facility") that provides a
$450 million revolving line of credit (the "Revolver”) as well as a term loan (the "Term Loan"), which at December 31, 2020
had a balance of $255.5 million. The Credit Facility matures in February 2023.

On May 7, 2020, Ebix entered into Amendment No. 10 to the Credit Facility. Amendment No. 10 provides for, among
other things, increased flexibility under financial maintenance covenants, which the Company sought in part due to the
unforeseen negative effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.,

On March 30, 2020, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into a waiver related to the Credit Facility (the
"Waiver"). The Waiver provided that so long as the Company’s leverage ratio is below 5.0 to 1.0 for the Company’s fiscal
quarter ending March 31, 2020 pursuant to the terms of its compliance certificate required by the Credit Facility, the existing
leverage ratio requirement of 3.50 to 1.0 was waived.

On September 27, 2019, the Company and certain of its subsidiarics entered into Amendment No. 9 to the Credit
Facility, which amended the definitions of “Consolidated EBITDA" and “Indebtedness™ and modified the maximum
consolidated debt leverage ratios allowed.

At December 31, 2020, the outstanding balance on the Revolver was $439.4 million and the facility carried an interest
rate of 3.5%. During 2020, the Company drew $1.4 million on its Revolver. This balance on the Revolver is included in the
long-term liabilities section of the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. During 2020, the average and maximum
outstanding balances on the Revolver were $438.9 million and $439.4 million, respectively, and the weighted average interest
ratc on the Revolver was 4.04%. At December 31, 2019, the outstanding balance on the Revolver was $438.0 million and the
facility carried an interest rate of 4.25%. This balance on the Revolver was included in the long-term liabilities section of the
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. During 2019, the average and maximum outstanding balances on the Revolver were
$437.2 million and $438.0 million, respectively.

At December 31, 2020, the outstanding balance on the Term Loan was $255.5 million, of which $22.6 million is due
within the next twelve months. $20.7 million of scheduled amortization payments were made on the Term Loan during 2020.
The Term Loan also carried an interest rate of 3.5% at December 31, 2020, and the weighted average interest ratc on the Term
Loan during 2020 was 4.04%. The current and long-term portions of the Term Loan are included in the respective current and
long-term debt scctions of the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, the amounts of which were $22.6 million and $232.9
million. At December 31, 2019, the outstanding balance on the Term Loan was $276.2 million, of which $20.7 millien was due
within twelve months. This term loan also carried an interest rate of 4.25%.

At December 31, 2020, the Company's Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets include $4.9 million of remaining
deferred financing costs in connection with the Credit Facility, which are being amortized as a component of interest expense
through the maturity of the Credit Facility in February 2023, $2.9 million of such deferred financing costs pertain to the
Revolver and $2.0 million pertains to the Term Loan, of which $919 thousand is netted against the current portion of the Term
Loan and $1 million is netted against the long-term portion of the Term Loan as reported on the Condensed Consolidated
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Balance Sheets. At December 31, 2019, the Company's Condensed Consolidaled Balance Sheets included $5.2 million of
remaining deferred financing costs in connection with the Credit Facility, with $3.1 million pertaining to the Revolver and
$2.1 million pertaining to the Term Loan, of which $575 thousand was netted against the current portion of the Term Loan and
$1.5 million was netted against the long-term portions of the Term Loan as reported on the Condensed Consolidated Balance
Sheets,

Note 5. Commitments and Contingencies

Contingencies— On February 22, 2021, Christine Marie Teifke, a purported purchaser of Ebix, Inc. securities, filed a
putative ¢lass action in the United States Distiict Coutl for the Southern Dislrict of New York on behalf of herself and others
who purchased or acquired Ebix securities between November 9, 2020 and February 19, 2021, The complaint asserts claims
against Ebix, Inc., Robin Raina, and Steven M. Hamil, for purported violations of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, alleging that Ebix, Inc. made false and misleading statements and failed to disclose material adverse facts about an
audit of the company's gift card business in India and its internal controls over the gift and prepaid card revenue transaction
cycle, The complaint alleges that Ebix's stock price fell as a result of the revelation that Ebix's independent auditor, RSM US
LLP, had resigned, citing concernsg with the company's internal controls and disagreements over other accounting issues. The
complaint also asserts a claim against Robin Raina and Steven M. Hamil for purported violations of Section 20({a) of the
Exchange Act arising out of the same facts. The complaint seeks, among other relief, damages and attorneys' fees and costs.

On July 16, 2019, Yatra Online, Inc. ("Yatra"), Ebix, Inc. ("Ebix"), and EbixCash Travels, Inc. ("Merger Sub") enterad
into a Merger Agreement. On May 14, 2020, Yatra cntered into an agreement with Ebix and Merger Sub extending the outside
date of the Merger Agreement (the "Extension Agreement"). On June 5, 2020, Yatra terminated the Merger Agreement and
filed a complaint in the Delaware Court of Chancery against Ebix and Merger Sub (the "Complaint"). On September 25, 2020,
Yatra amended the Complaint and added as a defendant each financial institution (each, a “Defendant Lender™) party our Credit
Facility, which prior to the filing of the original Complaint, had been previously amended on May 7, 2020. The Complaint, as
amended, alleges that Ebix and Merger Sub breached certain representations, warranties, and covenants contained in the Merger
Agreement and the Extension Agreement and that Ebix ncgotiated in bad faith. The amended Complaint also alleges fraudulent

actions by Ebix and the Defendant Lenders arising from certain terms of the Credit Facility and tortious interference with the
closing of the Merger Agreement by Ebix and the Defendant Lenders. The Complaint seeks, among other relief, damages, pre-

Judgment and post-judgment interest, and atterneys' fees and costs. Ebix and Merger Sub deny any liability and intend to
defend the action vigorously.

On May 12, 2017, Ebix Software India Pvt. Ltd. (“Ebixcash™) entered into several agreements with the most
prominent shareholders of Itz Cash Card Limited (“[tz”), the most relevant among these a stock purchase agreement (the
“SPA”™), to purchase a majority ownership stake in Itz. Further, as part of the overall purchase of Itz, a share purchase
agreement between Ebixcash and individual ESOP holders of [tz was entered into on July 7, 2017 (the “ESOP SPA™) (with the
SPA, the ESOP SPA and the other purchase documents, collectively, the “Transaction Documents™), Part of the consideration
for Ebixcash’s purchase of [tz consisted of two individual potential earn-out payments, the first for the period for the year ended
March 31, 2019 (the “First Earn-Out™) and the second for the following year, ending on March 31, 2020 (the “Second Earn-
Out”).  Neither the First Eam-Out nor the Second Fam-Out were achieved pursuant to the terms of the SPA.  Afier
correspondence between the parties beiween September 2019 and May 2020, the former shareholders of Itz (“Sellers™) sent
Ebixcash notices of arbitration (“NOAs”) under which they were availing themselves of Lhe arbitration dispute provisions set
forth in the Transaction Documents. Apart from the amounts claimed owed under the earn-out provisions, the Sellers also
alleged in the NOAs other violations of the terms of the Transaction Documents, including, certain non-competition and
restricted matter approval violations. The matter is under Arbitration in accordance with the rules of the Singapore
International Arbitration Centre. The Company believes that each of the Sellers claims is without merit and continues to defend
its position vigorously. The Company believes that Ebixcash has several viable counterclaims related to improper termination
of the Transaction Documents and violation non-compete provisions.

As the Company previously disclosed, in May 2013, twelve putative class action complaints were filed in the
Detaware Court of Chancery against thc Company and its board of directors challenging a proposed merger between the
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Company and an affiliate of Goldman Sachs & Co. On June 10, 2013, the Court entered an Order of Consolidation and
Appointment of Lead Plaintiffs and a Leadership Structure consolidating the twelve actions and appointing lead plaintiffs
(“Plaintiffs”) and lcad counsel in the litigation, captioned In re Ebix, Inc. Stockholder Litigation, Consol. C.A. No.
8526-VCS (the “Litigation™). Tn connection with the Litigation, on Jannary 23, 2019, the parties entered into a Stipulation and
Agreement of Settlement {the “Seitlement Agrcement™ pursuant to which the parties agreed, subject to approval by the
Delaware Court of Chancery, to settle and resolve the Litigation pursuant to the terms set forth in the Settlement Agreement
{the “Litigation Settlement™), On April 5, 2019, the Delawarc Court of Chancery detenmined that the Litigation Settlement was
fair, reasonable, adequate and in the best interest of the plaintiffs, the class and the Company and awarded to plaintiffs’ counsel
attorneys’ fees and expenses in the swm of $19.65 million, which was paid on May 2, 2019, and entered an Order and Final
Judgment (the “Order™) approving the Litigation Settlement. The Order provided for full settlement, satisfaction, compromise
and releasc of all claims that were asserted or could have been asserted in the Litigation, whether on behalf of the class or the
Company. The Settlement contains ne admission of wrongdoing or liability, and may not be deemed to be a presumption as to
the validity of any claims, causes of action or other 1s3ucs.

The Company is involved in various other claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business, which
in the opinion of management, the ultimate likely disposition of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or liguidity.

Lease Commitments— See Note 19,

Business Acquisition Earn-out Contingencies—A significant component of the purchase price consideration for
many of the Company's busincss acquisitions is a potential future cash camn out based on reaching certain specified future
revenue targets. The terms for the contingent eam-out payments in most of the Company’s business acquisitions typically
address the GAAP recognizable revenues achieved by the acquired entity over a one, two, and/or three year period subsequent
to the effeclive date of their acquisition by Ebix. These terms typically establish a minimum threshold revenue target with
achievement of revenues recognized over that target being awarded in the form of a specified cash earn-out payment. The
Company applies these terms in its calculation and determination of the fair value of contingent earn-out liabilities for
purchascd businesses as parl of the related valuation and purchase price allocation exercise for the corresponding acquired
assets and liabilities. As of December 31, 2020, here were no outstanding contingent liability in the Company's Consolidated
Balance Sheet. As of December 31, 2019, the total of these contingent liabilities was $10.1 million of which $1.5 million was
reported in long-term liabilities, and $8.6 million was included in current liabilities in the Company's Consolidated Balance
Sheet.

Self-Insurance—For some of the Company’s U.S. employees the Company has a self-insured plan for its health
insurance program angd has a stop loss policy that limits the individual liability to $120 thousand per person and the aggregate
liability to 125% of the expected claims based upon the number of participants and historical claims. As of December 31, 2020
and 2019, the amount accrued on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet for the self-insured component of the Company’s
employee health insurance was $345 thousand and $362 thousand, respectively. The maximum potential estimated cumulative
liability for the annual contract period, which ends in September 2021, is $4.1 million. During the years ended December 31,
2020 and 2019, the Company recognized $1.8 million, and $2.6 million of expensc, respectively, associated with claims from
its self-insured health insurance program.

Gratuity Leave—In accordance with Indian law, we pay gratuily to our eligible employees in India. Under our
gratuity plan, an employee is entitled to receive a gratuity payment on the termination of his or her employment if the employee
has rendered continuous service to our company for not less than five years, or if the termination of employment is due to death
or disability. The amount of gratuity payable to an eligible employee is based on number of years of employment and is limited
to a maximum of $28 thousand per employce. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the amount accrued on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheet for gratuity leave was $4.3 million and $3.2 million, respectively.

Note 6. Share-Based Compensation

Stock Optians- The Company accounts for compensation expense associated with stock options issued to employees,
Dircetors, and non-employees bascd on their fair value, which is calculated using an option pricing model, and is recognized
over the service period, which is usually the vesting period. At December 31, 2020, the Company had two equity based
compensation plans. No stock options were granted to employees or non-employees during 2020, 2019, and 2018; however,
options were granted to Directors in 2020, 2019, and 2018. Stock compensation expense of $517 thousand, $537 thousand and

83



Table of Contents

$419 thousand was recognized during the years ending December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively, on outstanding and
unvested options.

The fair value of options granted during 2020 is estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing
maodel. The following table includes the weighted- average assumptions used in estimating the fair values and the resulting
weighted-average fair value of stock options granted in the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Woeighted average fair values of stock options granted 5 15.58 3 12.68 § 11.80
Expected volatility 64.7 % 36.0 % 357 %
Expected dividends 84 % B85 % .70 %
Weighted average risk-free interest ratc 24 % 1.72 % 247 %
Expected life of stock options (in years) 3.5 3.5 35

A summary of stock option activity for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 is as follows:

Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining
Average Contractual Aggregate

FExercise Term Intrinsic
Shares Price (Years) Value
(In

thousands)
Outstanding at January 1, 2018 147,99 5 3 EEE o152
Granted 42000 3 42.56
Exercised (27,999) § 15.65
Canceled — 8 —
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 162,000 § 42.75 305 % —
Granted 66,000 § 46.75
Exercised — 3 —
Canceled (10,125) § 46.66
Qutstanding at December 31, 2019 217,875 § 43.78 260 § —
Granted 36,000 $ 35.70
Exercised (30,0000 % 21.19
Canceled (6,000) 3 28.39
Qutstanding at December 31, 2020 217,875 45.97 257 % .
Exercisable at December 31, 2020 115,125 § 4917 1.63 $ —

The aggregate intrinsic value for stock options outstanding and exercisable is defined as the difference between the
market value of the Company’s stock as of the end of the period and the exercise price of the stock options. The total intrinsic
value of stock options exercised during 2020, 2019, and 2018 was $341 thousand, zero and $900 thousand, respectively.

Cash received or the value of stocks canceled from option exercises under all share-based payment arrangements for
the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, was $127 thousand, zero and $439 thousand, respectively.

A summary of non-vested options and changes for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 is as follows:
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Weighted
Non-Vested  Average
Number of Exercise

Shares Price
Non-vested balance at January 1, 2018 76,500 § 47.99
Granted 42,000 S 42.56
Vested (36,7500 § 43.52
Canceled — 5 —
Non-vested balance at December 31, 2018 81,750 § 47.21
Granted 66,000 § 46.75
Vested (28,875) § 48.46
Canceled (10,125) % 46.66
Non-vested balance at December 31, 2019 108,750 § 46.65
Granted 36,000 % 35.70
Vested (42,000) § 47.66
Canceled — 3 -
Non-vested balance at December 31, 2020 102,750 % 42.40

The following table summarizes information about stock oplions outstanding by price range as of December 31, 2020:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-
Average Weighted- Weighted-
Remaining Average Average
Exercise Number Contractual Excrcise Number of Exercise
Prices Outstanding  Life (Years) Price Shares Price
$35.70 36,000 0.82 3 5.90 — 5 —
$41.60 36,000 0.45 b 6.87 11,250 § 4.07
$42.56 36,000 0.50 $ 7.03 18,000 $ 6.65
$49.22 40,875 0.06 b 9.23 40,875 § 17.48
$52.92 30,000 0.47 3 7.29 11,250 $ 5.17
$53.90 39,000 0.27 $ 9.65 33,750 % 15.80
217,875 2,57 % 45.97 115,125 § 49.17

Restricted Stock—Pursuant to the Company’s restricted stock agreements, the restricted stock granted generally vests
as follows: one third after one year, and the remaining in eight equal quarterly installments. The restricted stock also vests with
respect to any unvested shares upon the applicable employee’s death, disability or retirement, the Company’s termination of the
cmployee other than for cause, or for a change in control of the Company. A summary of the status of the Company’s non-
vested restricted stock grant shares is presented in the following table:
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Weighted-
Average

Grant Date

Shares Fair Value

Non-vested at January 1, 2018 107,095 § 45.74
Granted 5623 § 76.47
Vested (68,788) § 40.67
Forfeited 3,514) § 46.24
MNon-vested at December 31, 2018 40,416 § 58.60
Granted 91,658 % 50.54
Vested (24,120) $ 57.14
Forfeited — § —
Non-vested at December 31, 2019 107,954 & 52.08
Granted 388,089 § 24.37
Vested (68,504) § 52.49
Forfeited — 3 —
Non-vested at December 31, 2020 427,539 § 26.86

In the aggregate the total compensation expense recognized in connection with the restricted grants was $4.3 million,
$2.9 million, and $2.4 million during each of the years ending December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.

As of December 31, 2020, there was $9.1 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested share
based compensation arrangements granted under the 2006 and 2010 Incentive Compensation Program. That cost is cxpected to
be recognized over a weiglted-average period of 2.75 years. The total fair value of shares vested during the years ended
December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 was $3.6 million, $1.4 million, and $2.8 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company has 8.6 million sharcs of common stock reserved for possible future stock
option and restricted stock grants.

Note 7. Income Taxes

The income tax expense (benefit) consists of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018
(In thousands)

Current:
US federal § (249) % 1,378 % 22,353
US state (406) 509 847
Non US 10,681 12,861 15,212

10,026 15,148 38,412
Deferred:
US federal (1,220) {3,781) 5617
US state (657} (3,107) (1,031)
Non US {2,819) (8,040) (10,497)

(4,696) (14,928) (3,911)
Total $ 5330 § 220 § 32,501

Income (loss) before income taxes includes the following components:
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Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
(In thousands)
us $ (27,528) 3§ 47,574) § {36,202)
Non US 121,685 138,365 161,784
Total 3 94,157 § 90,791 §$ 125,582

A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate to the effective income tax rate consists of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018
Statutory US federal income tax rate 21.0 % 210 % 21.0%
US state income taxes, net of federal benefit (0.9% (2.3)% (0.3)%
Non-US tax rate differential {12.2)% (13.6)% (15.2%%
GILTI Related 12,5 % 18.6 % 15.1 %
SubPart F — % — % 0.7 %
Tax holidays (4.0)% (6.0)% (3.4)%
Tax Credits (10.0)% (15.0)% (10.6)%
Passive income exemption (0.4)%% (1.2)% (0.9)%
Acquisition contingent earnout liability adjustments 0.1Y% (4.0)% {0.2)%
Nondeductible items 20% 1.0 % (0.1)%
Effect of valuation allowance (1.2)% 1.2 % (0.1)%
Prior year Transition Tax and related true-ups 0.5 % 0.7 % 19.5 %
Uncertain tax positions (1.0Y% (0.1)% 0.1 %
Other — % (0.1)% 0.3 %
Effective income tax rate 57 % 0.2 % 259 %

The Company's effective tax rate increased to 5.7% in 2020, comparcd with 0.2% in 2019. The increase in effective
tax rate in 2020 is due to a decrease in the availability of tax credits as well as lower tax holiday benefit available in 2020
compared to 2019 and lower benefits from the state taxes deduction.

Deferred tax assets and labilities are comprised of the following:
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December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Deferred Deferred
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilitics
(In thousands)
Depreciation and amortization 3 — % 3450 % — % 3,562
Share-based compensation 451 — 959 —
Accruals and prepaids 6,586 — 6,806 —
Bad debts 2,727 — 2,594 —
Acquired intangible assets — 13,071 . 13,335
Net operating loss carryforwards 33,247 — 27,607 —
Tax credit carryforwards (primarily Minimum Alternative
Tax ("MAT") in India) 48,669 — 50,210 —
91,680 16,521 88,176 16,897
Valuation allowance (2,160) — (3,288) —
Total deferred taxes $ 89,520 §% 16,521 § 84,888 § 16,897
We have UUS Federal, state and foreign operating losses and credit carryforwards as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019
(In thousands)
US Federal loss carryforwards h 55029 § 48,623
US state loss carryforwards 79,907 65,412
Foreign loss carryforwards 73,922 58,660
US Federal credit carryforwards 1,818 3,359
Foreign credit carryforwards 46,851 46,851

The US federal and state operating loss carryforwards expire at varying dates through 2025. The federal credits begin
to expire in 2026. We also have non-U.S. tax credits (primarily MAT paid in India) carried forward of approximately $46.9
million as of December 31, 2020, which is available for set-off against the future tax liability of certain Indian operations on a

staggered basis over a period up-to fifteen years.

On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) was enacted in the United
States, The CARES Act provides numerous tax provisions and other stimulus measures, including temporary changes regarding
the prior and future ulilization of net operating losses, temporary suspension of certain payment requirements for the employer
portion of Social Security taxes, technical corrections from prior tax legislation for tax depreciation of certain qualified
improvement property, and the creation of certain refundable employee retention credits. The Company evaluated the
provisions of the CARES Act and does not anticipate the associated impacts, if any, will have a material effect on the
Company’s provision for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2020.

The Company has not recognized a deferred U.S. tax liability and associated income tax expense for the undistributed carnings
of its foreign subsidiarics which we consider indefinitely invested becausc those foreign eamings will remain permanently
reinvested in those subsidiaries to fund ongoing operations and growth. Upon distribution of those earnings in the form of
dividends or otherwise, we may be subject to income taxes and withholding taxes payablc in various jurisdictions, which could

potentially be partially offset by foreign tax credits. At December 31, 2020 the curnulative amount of the Company’s

undistributed forcign carnings was approximately $767.4 million, inclusive of income previously taxed in the United States.

The following table summarizes the activity related to provision made by the Company in the books for uncertain tax

positions:
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Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
(In thousands)
Beginning Balance 3 9,199 §% 9,294 § 9,144
Additions for tax positions related to current year - — 150
Additions for tax positions of prior years 966 195 —
Reductions for tax position of prior ycars (1.874) (290) —
Ending Balance b 8,291 § 9,199 § 9,294

The Company recognizes estimated interest accrued and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as parl of the
income tax expensc provided for such positions. The Company accrued as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 approximately $3.0
million and $1.0 million, respectively, of estimated interest and penalties. These amounts are included in the December 31,
2020 and 2019 balances in the preceding table of $8.3 million and $9.2 million, respectively, which is included in other long
term liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet.

We file income tax returns in the US federal, many US state and local jurisdictions, and certain foreign jurisdictions.
We have substantially resolved all US federal income tax matters for tax vears prior to 2015. Our state and foreign tax matters
may remain open from 2008 forward.

Note 8. Stock Repurchases

Effective February 6, 2017, the Company's Board of Directors unanimously approved and authorized a share
repurchase plan of $150.0 million. The Board directed that the repurchases be funded with available cash balances and cash
generated by the Company's operating activities. The aggregate amount of repurchases of the Company's equity shares is
limited by restrictive covenants contained in our Credit Facility.

The Company's share repurchase plan’s terms have been structured to comply with the SEC’s Rule 10b-18, and are
subject to market conditions and applicable legal requirements, The program does not obligate the Company to acquire any
specific number of shares and may be suspended or terminated at any time. All purchases are made in the open market.
Treasury stock is recorded at its acquired cost. During 2020, there were no stock repurchases under the plan. During 2019, the
Company repurchased and retired 95,000 shares of its common stock under these plans for total consideration of $4.2 million.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had $80.1 million remaining in its current Board of Directors-approved share
repurchase program.
Note 9. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Accounts payable and accrued expenses at December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019, consisted of the following:

2020 2019
(In theusands)
Trade accounts payable $§ 56,636 § 74,967
Accried professional fees 1,268 2,247
Income taxes payable* 3,429 4,094
Sales taxes payabtle 3,431 3,385
Other accrued liabilities — 42
Total $§ 64764 § 84,735

* Long term portion of income taxes payable pertaining to the 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act one-time transition tax totaling
$15.0 million is included in other liabilities in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Note 10. Other Current Assets
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Other current assets at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 consisted of the following:

2020 2019
(In thousands)
Prepaid expenses $§ 57,017 & 51,021
Other third party receivables 3,530 4,785
Sales taxes receivable from customers 4,588 6,499
Credit card merchant account balance reccivable 848 796
Short term portion of capitalized costs to obtain and fulfill contracts 646 734
Accrued interest receivable 355 176
Other 4,677 3,063
Total $ 71661 § 67,074

Note 11, Other Current Liabilities
Other current liabilitics at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 consisted of the following:

2020 2019
{In thousands)
Acquisition obligations {contingent consideration) § 2,443 § 6,762
Customer advances (deposits}) 25,043 22,573
Total § 27486 $ 29,335
Note 12, Property and Equipient
Property and equipment at December 31, 2020 and 2019 consisted of the following:
2020 2019
(In thousands)
Computer equipment § 26357 § 15,899
Buildings 26,564 26,475
Land 10,386 10,479
Land improvements 7,195 7,195
Leasehold improvements 763 910
Furniture, fixtures and other 7,271 7,307
78,536 68,265
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (26,015) {19,844)

$ 52,521 § 484721

Depreciation expense was $4.2 million, $4.3 million and $3.7 million, for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019,
and 2018, respectively.

Note 13. Cash Option Profit Sharing Plan and Trust

The Company maintains a 401{k) Cash Option Profit Sharing Plan, for our U.S. based employees, which allows
participants to contribute a percentage of their compensation to the Profit Sharing Plan and Trust up to the Federal maximum,
The Company maiches 100% of an employee’s 1% contributed and 50% on the 2% contribuied by an employee. Accordingly,
the Company’s contributions to the Plan were $508 thousand, $557 thousand and 5536 thousand for the years ending

December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.
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We maintain employee benefit plans in the form of certain statutory and incentive plans covering substantially all of
our India based employees. In accordance with Indian law, all of our employecs in India are entitled to receive benefits under
the Employees’ Provident Fund Scheme, 1932, as amended, a retirement benefit scheme under which an amount equal to 12%
of the basic salary of an employee is contributed both by the employer and the employee in a government fund. For the years
ending December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 the aggregate amount set aside or accrued by us to provide for pension or
retirement benefits for all of our cmployees, which amount consists of the Provident Fund was $2.6 million, $4.2 million, and
£4.0 million, respectively.

Note 14. Geographic Information

The Company operates with onc operating and one reportable scgment whose results are regularly reviewed by the
Company's CRO, its chief opcrating decision maker, as to operating performance and the allocation of resources. Extcrnal
customer revenues in the tables below were attributed to a particular country based on whether the customer had a direct
contract with the Company which was executed in that particular country for the sale of the Company's products/services with
an Ebix subsidiary located in that country.

The following enterprise wide information relates to the Company's geographic locations:

Year ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

External Long-lived External Long-lived Externmal Long-lived
Revenues assets Revenues assets Revenues assets

(In thousands)

India* $ 378,660 $§ 698,936 § 300,678 3 700986 $ 196,372 $ 672,699
United States $ 166,320 § 381,782 182,530 395,225 196,984 390,551
Australia $ 33846 § 3,581 33,268 3,541 35,770 1,485
Latin America $ 14801 § 13,723 19,755 17,176 19,866 16,348
Evrope 5 13,145 § 22900 14,695 24,508 15,387 23,880
Canada $ 4383 § 6,930 4,805 7,012 5,611 5,846
Singapore* $ 3,99 § 19336 6,549 18,282 7,674 17,805
Indonesia* % 3,206 § 139 9,706 117 7,482 98
Philippines* $ 2,140 § 661 5,991 729 6,483 448
United Arab Emirates* $ 3,333 § 54,789 683 54,887 1,042 54,249
New Zealand 5 1,804 § 513 1,955 578 2,015 158
Mauritius* 3 — 3 4,665 — 4,643 3,140 —

$ 625,609 51,207,955 $ 580,615 $1,227.684 § 497,826 $1,183,567

*Primarily India led businesses for which total revenue was $388.3 million, $320.0 million and $217.5 million for the
years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.

Note 15. Related Party Transactions

We consider Regions Bank ("Regions”) to be a related party because Regions provides financing to the Company via
our Credit Facility (refer to Note 4 to these Consolidated Financial Statements), for which Regions is the lecad bank, and
because Regions is also a customer to whom the Company sells products and services. Revenues recognized from Regions
were $190 thousand, $193 thousand, and $221 thousand for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.
Accounts receivable due from Regions were $24 thousand and $13 thousand at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

We also consider BMO Bank ("BMO") to be a related party because BMO is a participating bank in our Credit Facility

(refer to Note 4 of these Consolidated Financial Staternents), and because BMO is also a customer to whom the Company sells
products and services. Revenues recognized from BMO were $361 thousand and $351 thousand for the year ended December
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31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and the accounts receivable duce from BMO were $43 thousand and $29 thousand at
December 31, 2020 and 2019 respectively.

As discussed in Note 17 "fnvestment in Joint Ventures”, Vayam Technologies Ltd ("Vayam") is also a customer of the
Ebix Vayam Limited JV, and during the twelve months ending December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Ebix Vayam Limited TV
recognized $667 thousand and $1.4 million of revenue from Vayam, respectively. As of December 31, 2020, Vayam had
$13.6 million of accounts receivable with the Ebix Vayam Limited JV.

Also, as discussed in Note 17 "Jnvestment in Joint Ventures”, an in regards to the EbixHealth JV it was concluded that
the customer relationship with 1HC, our joint venture partner, to be by its nature, a related party.
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Note 16. Quarterly Financial Information (unaudited)

The following is the unandited quarterly financial information for 2020, 2019, and 2018:

Year ended December 31, 2020

Total revenucs

Gross Profit

Operating income

Net income from continuing operations
Net income per common share:

Basic

Diluted

Year ended December 31, 2019

Total revenucs

Gross Profit

Opcrating income

Net income from continwing operations
Net income per common share:

Basic

Diluted

Year ended December 31, 2018

Total revenues

Gross Profit

Operating income

Net income from continuing operations
Net income per common share:

Basic

Diluted

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
(In thousands, except share data)

137,876 § 1,312 % 154,305 § 222,116
80,419 62,219 68,329 71,380
34,313 31,850 31,899 27,740
24,723 § 23475 § 24,682 § 19,497

081 § 077 % 081 $ 0.64
081 % 076 § 080 $ 0.64

142,924 § 144275 § 147,233 & 146,183
96,995 93,321 92,062 93,072
54,131 41,282 26,007 34,253
25,710 28,851 20,509 21,650

084 3% 095 § 0.67 § 0.71
084 $ 094 § 0.67 % 0.71

108,230 $ 124,626 § 128,643 § 136,327
68,639 81,067 85,680 94,025
33,896 38,315 39,238 41,530
26,208 29,180 29,242 8,509

083 § 093 § 093 § 0.27
083 § 092 % 092 % 0.27

In some instances the sum of the quarterly basic and diluted net income per share amounts may net agree to the full
year basic and diluted net income per share amounts reported on the Consolidated Statements of Income because of rounding,.
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Note 17. Investment in Joint Ventures

Effective Fcbruary 7, 2016, Ebix and Vayam Technologics Ltd ("Vayam") formed a joint venture named Ebix Vayam
Limited JV. This joint venture was cstablished to carry out IT projects in the government sector of the country of India and
particularly in regards to the implementation of e-governance projects in the arcas of education and healthcare. Ebix has a2 51%
equity interest in the joint venture, and Vayam has a 49% equity interest in the joint venture. Ebix is fully consolidating the
operations of the Ebix Vayam Limited JV into the Company's financial statements and separately reporting the Vayam
minority, non-controlling, interest in the joint venture's net income and equity. Vayam is also a customer of the Fbix Vayam
Limited JV, and during the twelve months ending December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Ebix Vayam Limited JV recognized $667
thousand and $1.4 million of revenuc from Vayam, respectively. As of December 31, 2020, the Ebix Vayam Limited JV had
$13.6 million of accounts receivable with Vayam, net of the estimated allowance for doubtful accounts receivable in the amount
of $11.7 million. As of December 31, 2019, the Ebix Vayam Limited JV had $22.8 million of accounts receivable with Vayam,
net of the estimaled aliowance for doubtful accounts reccivable in the amount of $12.1 million, this provision for doubtful
account against receivables due from a public sector entity, BSNL, in India.

Effective September 1, 2015, Ebix and IIC formed a joint venture named EbixHealth JV. This joint venture was
established to promote and market a best practices administration data exchange for health and pet insurance lines of business
nationally. Ebix has 2 51% equity interest in the joint venture and IHC has a 49% equity interest the joint venture. IHC is also a
customer of the EbixHealth JV, and during the twelve months ending Dccember 31, 2020 and 2019, the EbixHealth JV
recognized $1.9 million and $2.8 million of revenuc from [HC, respectively. As of December 31, 2020, IHC had $63 thousand
of accounts receivable with the EbixHealth JV. Furthcrmore, as a related party, IHC also has been and continues to be a
customer of Ebix, and during the twelve months ending December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company recognized $10 thousand
and $78 thousand, respectively, of revenue from IHC. As of December 31, 2020 Ebix had $2 thousand of outstanding accounts
receivable from THC. The EbixHealth JV has a $1.8 million note due to THC. Additionally, based on the final purchase price
allocation valuation report for the EbixHealth JV it was concluded that the customer relationship with IHC, our joint venture
partner, to be by its nature, an indefinite-lived customer relationship. For the year ended December 31, 2020, as a result of the
annual impairment analysis performed, the Company concluded that the JHC customer relationship indefimte-lived intangible
asset associated with the Company's EbixHealth TV has been impaired, the Company recorded a $6.2 million impairment
charge. In addition, the Company has concluded that they IHC customer relationship intangible is no longer considered
indefinite-lived and will be amortized over the estimated remaining life of 10 years.

Note 18. Capitalized Software Development Costs

In accordance with ASC 350-40 “Internal-Use Software” and/or ASC 350-985 “Software” the Company has
capitalized certain software and product related development costs associated with the Company’s ceontinuing medical
cducation scrvice offerings, development of Property and Casualty (P&C) underwriting insurance data cxchange platform
servicing the London markets; development of EbixCash’s SaaS based Asset Management and Collection platforms having
global application; development of EbixCash’s new single-sign on agent and customer portal, including mobile application, and
content development work related to E-Learning division of EbixCash. During the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
the Company capitalized $4.2 million and $8.0 million, respectively, of such development costs. As of December 31, 2020 and
2019, a total of $19.4 million and $19.2 million, respectively, of remaining unamortized development costs are reported on the
Company’s consolidated balance sheet. During the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company recognized $3.4
million and $2.7 million, respectively, of amortization expense with regards to these capitalized software development costs,
which is included in costs of services provided in the Company’s consolidated income statement. The capitalized continuing
medical education product costs are being amortized using a three-year to five-year straight-line methodology and certain
continuing medical education products costs are immediately expensed. The capitalized soflware development costs for the
property and casualty underwriting insurance data exchange platform are being amortized over a period of five years. The
capitatized software development costs related to EbixCash products mentioned above shall be amortized over a period of five
years once the platforms / products are rolled out in the market.

Note 19: Leases

In Fecbruary 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases {Topic 842). This accounting guidance is intended to
improve financial reporting about leasing transactions. The ASU requires organizations that lease assets referred to as “Lessees”
to recognize on the balance sheet the assets and liabilities for the rights and obligations created by those leases. An organization
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is to provide disclosures designed o enable users of financial statements to understand the amount, timing, and uncertamty of
cash flows arising flom lecases. These disclosures include qualitative and quantitative requircments concerning additional
information about the amounts recorded in the financial statements. Under the new guidance, a lessee is required to recognize
assets and liabilitics for leases with lease terms of more than twelve months. Consistent with current GAAP, the recognition,
measurement, and presentation of expenses and cash flows arising from a lease by a lessee primarily will depend on its
classification as a finance or operating lease. However, unlike former GAATP, which requires only financing leases to be
recognized on the balance sheet, the new ASU requires both types of leases (i.e., operaling and financing) to be recognized on
the balance sheet. The financing lease will be accounted for in substantially the same manner as capital leases were accounted
for under the previous guidance. For operating leases, there is now the recognition of a leasc liability and a lease asset for all
such leases greater than one year in term.

The Company adopted Topic 842 effective January 1, 2019, using a modified retrospective method and did not restate
comparative periods. The Company elected to adopt the package of practical expedients; accordingly, the Company retained the
lease ciassification and initial direct costs for any lcascs that existed prior to adoption and we did not revisit whether any
existing or expircd contracts contain leases. The Company has operating and financc icases for office space, retail, data centers
and certain office cquipment with expiration dates ranging through 2029, with various renewal aptions. Only renewal aptions
that were reasonably assured to be exercised are included in the lease liability. As of December 31, 2020, the maturity of lease
liabilities under Topic 842 are as follows:

Operating Financing

Year Leases Leases Total
(In thousands)
2021 3 4,667 § 190 § 4,857
2022 3,462 160 3,622
2023 2,993 99 3,092
2024 1,605 77 1,682
2025 1,001 — 1,001
Thereafter 519 — 519
Total 14,247 526 i4,773
Less: present value discount*® (1,802) (49) {1,851)
Pregent value of lease liabilities 12,445 477 12,922
Less: current portion of lease liabilities (3,905) (164) (4,069)
Total long-term lease liabilities $ 8540 § 313 3 8,833

* The discount rate used was the relevant incremental borrowing rate in each of the jurisdictions
wherein the leased properties are located

The company's net assets recorded under operating and finance leases were $12.9 million as of December 31, 2020,
The lease cost recognized in our Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income in the category of General and Administrative,
1s summarized as follows:

December 31
(In thousands) 2020 2019
Operating Iease Cost $ 7,051 § 8,613
Finance Leasc Cost:
Amortization of Lease Assets 161 121
Interest on Lease liabilitics 39 36
Finance Lease Cost 200 157
Sublease Income {476) {654)
Total Net Lease Cost $ 6,775 § 8,116
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Other information about lease amounts recognized in our Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income is summarized

as follows:

December 31,

2020
Weighted Average Lease Term - Operating Leases 3.63 years
Weighted Average Lease Term - Finance Leases 3.18 years
Weighted Average Discount Rate - Operating Leases 8.09 %
Weighted Average Discount Rate - Finance Leases 713 %

Commitments for minimum rentals under non-cancellable leases, under the legacy guidance in ASC 840 as of

Pecember 31, 2020 were as follows:

Year Operating Leases  Financing Leases
(In thousands)
2021 $ 4,667 § 190
2022 3,462 160
2023 2,993 99
2024 1,605 77
2025 1,001 —
Thereafter 519 —
Total $ 14,247 3 526
Less: sublease income (476)
Net lease pavments b 13,771
Less: amount representing interest (39)
Present value of obligations under financing leases 3 487
Less: current portion (164)
Long-term obligations $ 323

As of December 31, 2020, our lease liability of $12.9 million does not include certain arrangements, which are
primarily airport leases that do not meet the definition of a lease under Topic 842. Such arrangements represent further

commitments of approximately $56.3 million as follows:

Year Commitments

(In thousands)
2021 3 20,251
2022 18,271
2023 17,756
Thercafter —
Total $ 56,278

Finance lcases range from three to five years and are primarily for office equipment. Rental expense for office and
airport facilities and certain cquipment subject to operating leases for the period ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was
$4.5 million and $37.8 million, respectively. The year over year decling in this rent expense is a result of COVID-19, in which
airport leases werc subject to force majeure provisions and the cessation of the Company's airport operations during 2020,
Monthly rent payments were temporarily waived until the Company restarted its airport operations.
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Note 20: Working Capital Facilities

The Company maintains working capital debt facilitics with banks in India for working capital funding requirements to
support our foreign exchange, travel and remittance businesses. We are required to extend short term credits to franchisec
networks (B2B) and corporate customers. Additionally, we are required to maintain minimum levels of foreign currency
inventory across branches and airport operations. Typically, these facilities carry interest rafes 6.75% to 9.45% and are rupee
denominated working capital lines and are collateralized against the receivables of thesc busincsses and cxisting foreign
currency inventory on hand.

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the total of these working capital facilities was $16.6 million and $28.4 million,
respectively, and is included in current liabilities in the Company's Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Note 21. Concentrations of Credit Risk

Credit Risk

The Company is potentially subject to concentrations of credit risk in its accounts receivable. Credit risk is the risk of
an unexpected loss if a customer fails to meet its contractual obligations. Although the Company is directly affected by the
finaneial condition of its customers and the loss of or a substantial reduction in orders or the ability to pay from the customer
could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements, management does not believe significant credit risks exist
at December 31, 2020, The Company had one customer whose accounts reccivable balances individually represented 10% or
more of the Company’s total accounts receivable.

Major Customer

As previously disclosed in Note 18, effective February 7, 2016, Ebix and Vayam Technologies Ltd ("Vayam") formed
a joint venture named Ebix Vayam Limiled JV. This joint venture was established to carry out IT projects in the government
scctor of the country of India and particularly in regards to the implementation of ¢-governance projects in the areas of
education and healthcare, Ebix has a 51% equity interest in the joint venture, and Vayam has a 49% equity interest in the joint
venture, Vayam is also a customer of the Ebix Vayam Limited JV, and during the twelve months ending December 31, 2020
and 2019, the Ebix Vayam Limited JV recognized $667 thousand and $1.4 million of revenue from Vayam, respectively, and as
of December 31, 2020, Vayam had $13.6 mitlion of accounts receivable with the Ebix Vayam Limited IV, net of the estimated
allowance for doubtful accounts receivable in the amount of $11.7 million. As of December 31, 2019, the Ebix Vayam Limited
IV had $22.8 million of accounts rcceivable with Vayam, net of the estimated allowance for doubtful accounts receivable in the
amount of $12.1 milhon, this provision for doubtful account against receivables due from a public sector entity, BSNL, in India.

Note 22. Subsequent Events

RSM Resignation

As previously disclosed, by letter dated February 15, 2021, RSM US LLP (“RSM”) notificd the Audit Committee of
the Board of Dircctors of the Company of its resignation as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm. See
Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure for more details on the RSM
resignation. Subsequent to the RSM resignation, the following subsequent events also occurred:

= On February 22, 202 I, Christine Marie Teifke filed a class action lawsuit against Ebix, Inc., Robin Raina and
Steven Hamil claiming violations of the Federal Securities Laws as a result of the announcement that RSM
had resigned. See Itern 3 Legal Proceedings for more details on the class action lawsuit.

» The Company was unable to file this Form 10-K with the SEC by its March 1, 2021 due date and filed a Form
12b-25 notifying the SEC of its late filing.

»  Asarcsult of the filing of the Form 12b-25, Nasdaq notified the Company on March 2, 2021 that it is no
tonger in compliance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5250(¢)(1). See ltem 5. Market For Registrant’s Common
FEquiry, Related Stockholder Matters And Issuer Purchases Of Equity Securities for a description of the
Nasdaq noncompliance. Nasdag’s notification letter provided the Company 45 calendar days, or until April
16, 2021, to submit to Nasdaq a plan to regain compliance with the Nasdaq Listing Rules. On April 16, 2021,
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the Company submilled a plan to Nasdaq to regain comphance with the Nasdaq Listing Rules. The Company
belicves that the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K will substantially bring the Company back into
compliance with Nasdaq Listing Rules.

»  The Company engaged KGS, effective March 3, 2021, as its new independent accountants for the year ending
December 31, 2020 and diligently worked with KGS to complete this Form 10-K filing, 2021. Sce Ttem 9.
Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure for more details on
the engagement of KGS.

+  On March 31, 2021, the Company entered into Amendment No. 11 Credit Agreement and Waiver
(“*Amendment No, 117) relating to the Credit Facility, dated as of August 5, 2014, among Ebix, Inc., as
borrower, its subsidiaries party thereto from time to time as guarantors, Regions Bank as administrative agent
and collateral agent, and the lenders party thereto from time to time (as amended from time to time, the
“Credit Agreement”). The Amendment No. 11 is described in more detail below.

* On April 9, 2021, the Company entered intn Amendment No. 12 to Credit Agreement and Waiver
(“Amendment No. 12”) as described in more detail below,

Amendments and Waivers to the Credit Facility

Amendment No. I1. On March 31, 2021, the Company entered into Amendment No. 11 to its Credit Facility,
Amcndment No. 11 provided for, among other things, a limited waiver through April 10, 2021, of any potential event of default
arising under the Credit Facility from failure to timely dcliver the Company's audited consolidated financial statements and
related compliance certificate for the year ended December 31, 2020. Amendment No. 11 also modified certain covenants
contained in the Credit Facility, including with respect to certain permitted restricted payments and investments. The Company
paid customary consent fees in connection with the closing of Amendment No. 11.

Amendment No. 12, On April 9, 2021, the Company entered into Amendment No. 12 to its Credit Facility.
Amendment No. 12 provides for, among other things, a waiver of any potential event of default arising under the Credit Facility
from the failure to timely deliver the Company's audited consolidated financial statements and related compliance certificate for
the year ended December 31, 2020; provided that (i) such financial statements and related compliance certificale are delivered
in accordance with the requirements set forth in the Credit Facility by May 15, 2021, and (ii) there is no good faith
determination by the requisite lenders under the Credit Facility of a "Material Circumstance" (as defined and further described
in Amendment No. 12), which determination (if any) may only be made within a specified period described in Amendment No.
12 and is subject to certain cure rights of the Company.

Amendment No. 12 modifies the applicable margin that applies from and after the date thereof under the Credit
Facility. Through and including March 31, 2622, the applicable margin is (i) 5.00% per annum for adjusted LIBOR rate loans
and letter of credit fees, (il) 4.00% per annum for base ratc loans, and (iii) 9.50% for unused revolving commitment fees.
Commencing April 1, 2022, the applicable margin for outstanding loans and letters of credit under the Credit Facility will
increase by a per annum rate of 1.00%. Amendment No. 12 also provides for a fee on each of December 31, 2021, and June 30,
2022, equal to 0.20% of the aggregate principal amount of outstanding term loans and used and unused revolving commitments
as of each such date. The Company paid customary consent fees in connection with the closing of Amendment Na. 12.

Amendment No. 12 modifies certain mandatory prepayment provistons in the Credit Facility to provide thal (i) the
annual excess cash flow mandatory prepayment shall commence with the year ending December 31, 2021 (instead of the year
ended December 31, 2020), and such prepayment, if any, shall be calculated without a deduction for the $20 million
prepayiment of term loans made by the Company on April 9, 2021, and (i) the Company shall be required to apply any
available U.S. cash in cxcess of $25 million as of the end of each quarter (commencing June 30, 2021) to prepay outstanding
loans under the revolving line of credit and cash collateralize outstanding letters of credit thereunder (in each case, without any
reduction ta the revolving commitments under the Credit Facility).

Amendment No. 12 alse madifies, among other things, certain covenants contained in the Credit Facility, including
with respect to (i) certain permitted restricted payments and investments, and (i1} certain repotting requirements.

Dividends

The Company declared its quarterly cash dividend to the holders of its common stock, whereby a dividend in the
amount of $0.075 per commeon share will be paid on March 15, 2021 to shareholders of record on March 2, 2021,
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Item 9. CHHANGELS IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

As previously disclosed, by letter dated February 15, 2021, RSM notified the Audit Committee of the Board of
Directors { the "Board") of the Company of its resignation as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm.

RSM was engaged by the Audit Committee on December 21, 2018 to serve as the Company’s independent auditor for
the fiscal year ending December 31, 2019 and was engaged again on June 12, 2020 to serve as the Company’s independent
auditor for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020. RSM’s previously issued reports on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements and the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019
did not contain an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion; nor were they qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope,
or accounting principles. As of February 15, 2021, RSM had not completed its audit procedures or issued any reports on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements and internal controls over financiat reporting for the fiscal year ended December
31, 2020.

From December 21, 2018 when RSM was initially engaged, through RSM’s resignation, other than as provided below,
there were no (i) “disagreements” (as that term is defined in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K) between the Company and
RSM on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedures, which
disagreements, if not resoived to the satisfaction of RSM, would have caused RSM to make reference to the subject matter
thereof in its reports for such fiscal years and interim period, or (ii}, “reportable events™ as that term is described in Jtem
304(a){1)(v) of Regulation S-K.

RSM informed the Company that there was a disagreement under Item 304(a){1)(iv) of Regulation 5-K with respect to
the classification of $30 million. In connection with a pending acquisition, in December 2020 the Company transferred $30
million to a commingled trust account of its outside legal counsel thal was not under the direct control of the Company, and
classified the funds as a cash or cash equivalent on its balance sheet. RSM discussed with the Company RSM’s view that these
funds could not be classified as a cash or cash equivalent but could be classified as other current assets. There was no dispute
that the $30 million was owned by the Company and would be classified as part of current assels included in the financial
statements.

The Company considered this issue to be an initial difference of opinion based on incomplete facts or preliminary
information rather than a “disagreement” pursuant to Item 304(a)( 1){iv).

On February 15, 2021, RSM told the Chairman of the Company’s Audit Committee during a telephone call that RSM
was resigning as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, effective immediately. RSM then advised the
Chairman on the call that it was resigning as a result of heing unable, despite repeated inquiries, to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence that would allow it to evaluate the business purpose of significant unusual transactions that occurred in the
fourth quarter of 2020, including whether such transactions have been properly accounted for and disclosed in the financial
statements subject to the Audit. RSM informed the Chairman that the unusual transactions concerned the Company’s gift card
business in India. RSM asserts that on that call it further advised the Chairman that if this requested information was further
investigated it might materially impact the faimess or reliability of the financial statements subject to the andit or affect RSMs
willingness to be associated with the Company’s financial statements, but that since RSM had resigned, no further investigation
would occur. The Chairman discusscd with RSM the reasons for its resignation.

Promptly foliowing the call between RSM and the Chairman of the Audit Committee, RSM sent the resignation letier
dated February 15, 2021, RSM stated in its resignation letter that it was “resipning as a result of being unable, despite repeated
inquiries, to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence that would allow it to evaluate the business purposc of significant
unusual transactions that occurred in the fourth quarter of 2020, including whether such transactions have been properly
accounted for and disclosed in the financial statements subject to the Audit.” RSM informed the Company that the unusual
transactions concerned the Company’s gift card business in India. RSM also stated in its letter that it believed that the
Company’s “internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2020 due to the identification of a
material weakness. Specifically, management did not design or implement the necessary procedures and controls over the gifi
or prepaid card revenue transaction cycle sufficient to prevent or detect a material misstatement.” RSM further stated in the
letter that, “because we have not complcted the Audit, we cannot conclude on other control deficiencies that may rise to the
level of a material weakness.”

Effective March 5, 2021, the Company engaged KG Somani & Co. (“KGS™), as our independent accountants for the
year ending December 31, 2020. The Audit Committee made the decision to engage KGS. The Company has not consulted
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with the KGS during ow fwu most recenl [iseal years or during any subsequent interim pertod prior to its appomiment as our
new independent accountants regarding either:

(i) the application of accounting principles 1o a specified transaction, either completed or proposed; or the type of audit
opinion that might be rendered on our financial statements, and neither a written report was provided to us nor oral advice was
provided that KGS concluded was an important factor considered by the Company in reaching a decision as to the accounting,
auditing or financial reporting issue; or

(i) any matter that was either the subject of disagrecement (as defined in Item 304(a)(1){iv) of Regulation S-K and the
related instructions) or a reportable event (within the meaning of Item 304(a)1){v) of Regulation S-K).As a result of the
resignation of RSM on February 15, 2021, the Company was unable to timely file its Annual Report on Form 10-K. The
Company has engaged KGS and is now filing its Form 10-K and expects to filc it quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2021 on time.

As referenced in the Company's February 20, 2021 press release following RSM's resignation, the Board engaged
counsel, Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP to, along with accounting experts from the consulting firm, AlixPartners
LLP, assist the Company with respect to matters raised by the former auditor’s resignation. Having reviewed the work
performed by AlixPartners and considered (heir observations, the Board is satisfied that no steps are necessary with respect to
any gift card business issues raised by the former auditor in its resignation.

The audit commiltee of the Company decided to retain KPMG for valuation work and Emst & Young for tax advice,
tax provisioning and SOX internal control evaluation work for the year 2020.
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Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures: We maintain a system of disclosure controls and procedures designed to provide
reasopable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports that we file and submit under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported accurately within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules
and forms. Disclosure controls also are designed to reasonably assure that such information is accumulated and communicated
to management, including (he Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosures. Disclosure controls include components of internal control over financial reporting, which
consists of control processes designated to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles.

We monitor and evaluate on an ongoing basis our disclosure controls and procedures in order to improve their overall
effectiveness. In the course of thesc evaluations, we modify and refine our internal processes and controls as conditions
warrant.

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectivencss of our
“disclosure controls and procedures™ (as defined in Rule 13a-15(c) promulgated under the Exchange Act) as of Deccember 31,
2020. Based on that evaluation, management has concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure
that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accurately recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and to ensure that
information is accumuiated and communicated to our management, including the Chiel Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Report on Tnternal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act). Our internal control system is designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with United States generally accepted accounting principles.

The term “internal control over financial reporting” is defined as a process designed by, or under the supervision of,
our principal execulive and principal financia! officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by our board of
directors, audit committee, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that:

(1) Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect our transactions and
dispositions of asscts;

{2) Provide reasonable assurancc that transactions arc recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and

(3) Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition
of our assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements,

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting cannot provide absolute assurance. It is a
process that involves human diligence and compliance and is subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting from
human failures. Intemal control over financial reporting also can be circumvented by collusion or improper management
override of controls. Because of such limitations, there is a risk that material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis by internal control over financial reporting. However, these inherent limitations arc
known features of the financial reporting process and, thercfore, it is possible to design into the process safeguards to reduce,
though not eliminate, this risk. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting to future periods arc subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In making its assessment of the effectiveness of the Company confrols over financial reporting, management used the
criteria set forth by the 2013 Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, or 2013 COSO Internal
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Control Integrated Tramewaork. Based ou our assesstienl and those criteria, management believes that we maintained cttective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020,

K G Somani & Co, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited our Consolidated Financial
Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, audited the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2020. K G Somani & Co has issued their report which is included in this Annual Report on Form
10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in management’s evaluation during the
year ended December 31, 2020 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control
over financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Ebix, Inc.

Opinion on the Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Ebix, Inc, and subsidiaries® (the Company) intcrnal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020,
based on criteria established in Internal Coniral - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission in 2013. In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated
Framework issued by the Commiittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in 2013,

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Beard (United States)
(PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheet of the Company as of December 31, 2020, and the related consolidated statements of
income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows of the Company for the ycar then ended, and the related
notes to the consolidated financial statements and our report dated April 24, 2021 expressed an unqualified opinion.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control ever financial reporting and for its
asscssment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting, Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting {irm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with 1.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAQOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects, Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on
the assessed risk, Qur audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedurcs
that (1) pertain o the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, usc or
disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements, Because of its inhercnt
limitations, internal contral over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements, Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectivencss to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ K G Somani & Co

New Delhi, India
April 27, 2021
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Item 9B. OTHER INIF'ORMATION
None.

PART III

Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Directors

ROBIN RAINA, 54, has been a director at Ebix since 2000 and Chairman of the Board al Ebix since May 2002, Mr,
Raina joined Ebix in October 1997 as our Vice President-Professional Services and was promoted to Senior Vice President-
Sales and Marketing in February 1998. Mr. Raina was promoted to Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer in
December 1998. Mr, Raina was appointed President effective August 2, 1999, Chief Executive Officer effective September 23,
1999 and Chairman in May 2002, Mr, Raina holds an industrial enginecring degree from Thapar University in Punjab, India

Areas of Relevant Expericnce. Mr. Raina’s strategic direction for the Company and implementation of such direction
has proven instrumental for the Company’s turnaround and growth.

HANS U. BENZ, 75, After receiving a master's degree at the “Swiss Harvard Business School” University of 8t. Gallen
(1SG) in 1970, Hans Benz had a System- and Business-Engineer career for 40 years in many different positions. Mr. Benz
joined Ebix as a director in 2005, From 2001 to 2005 Mr. Benz was President of the holding of the BISON GROUP, a Swiss
corporation that develops and implements process-oriented business solution software in Europe. Prior to this position and from
1995 to 2001 he was President of a Swiss banking software development company belonging to the UBS Group. Previously
Mr. Benz was with the private bank of Coutts & Co., Ziirich as Senior Vice President and was also head of their global IT
organization as a part of their larger worldwide NatWest [T organization.

Areas of Relevant Experience, Mr, Benz’s former business experience extends from wholesale and retail industry to
the Swiss private insurance industry as founding pariner in a national data center. He has extensive experience in the sofiware
ERP and finance sectors, intcrnational marketing, strategic planning, IT planning, executive compensation, and defining
strategic vision.

PAVAN BHALLA, 58, has been a director of Ebix since June 2004, He was a Partner with FCM LLC, a consulting firm
that serves the largest private equity firms in the world, from March 2019 to January 2021, Prior to that, from May 2017 to
March 2019, he was President of Alight Solutions, a global provider of HR outsourced solutions. From September 2011 to
April 2017, he was with Aon Corporation and held 2 number of positions including the CEO of their HR Outsourcing business.
Prior to this role, he was the Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of Harris Interactive Inc., a
position he held since October 2010. Prior to that, Mr. Bhalla served as Vice President for [lewitt Associates, and had been in
this role since August 2006. Before the roles at Hewitt Associates and Harris Interactive, Mr. Bhalla served as the Senior Vice
President-Finance of MCI Inc., a global telecommunications company, and supervised the financial management of MCI’s
domestic business units. Prior to joining MCI in August 2003, Mr. Bhalla spent more than seven years with BellSouth
Corporation, a lelecommunications company, serving in a variety of executive positions, including Chief Financial Officer of
BellSouth Long Distance from 1999 to 2002 and Corporate Controller of BellSouth Cellular Corp. from 1997 to 1999, Mr,
Bhalla holds a master’s degree in busincss administration from the University of Chicago’s Booth Schooel of Business. He is
also a registered Certified Public Accountant from Illinois.

Arcas of Relevant Experience. Mr, Bhalla has extensive hands-on relevant experience in corporate finance and
international business transactions. His extensive accounting and financial background qualifies him as an audit committee
financial expert under applicable SEC and the Nasdaq Stock Market Marketplace Rules (the “Nasdaq Marketplace Rules™).

NEIL D. ECKERT, 58, has been a director of Ebix since 2005. Neil Eckert serves as the Executive Chairman of
IncubEx, a company that specialises in the development of environmental commodity markets. He was also co-founder and
Chief Executive Office of Climate Exchange PLC until the sale of the company to Intercontinental Exchange in July 2010 for
approximately $600 million. Climate Exchange owned Chicago Climate exchange and European Climate exchange which
hosted over 90% of Global Carbon Emissions Trading Scheme volumes. Mr. Eckert was also previously founding Chairman of
Trading Emissions PLC, an Aim listed company that invested in Emissions reduction permits. Mr. Eckert founded Brit
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Insurance in 1995 and served as CCO until 2005. He was founder and Chairman of Aggregated Micropower PLC, an Aim listed
renewable developer until its sale in January 2020

Areas of Relevant Experience. Mr. Hckert has an extensive background with experience of operating as the CEO of
two different public companies and has executive experience in strategic planning, hands-on understanding of insurance
industry, sales and marketing, corporate finance, executive compensation and international matters.

GEQRGE W. HEBARD I{I, 48, has been a director of Ebix since March 2015. Mr. Hebard is the Managing Partner of
Ziba Capital, a New York investment firm. He previously served as a Managing Director of Barington Capital Group, a New
York investment firm, from Janvary 2014 to June 2019. Mr. Hebard was previously Interim Principal Executive Officer and
Interim Chief Operating Officer of Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a position he held as an employee from May 2012 to
December 2013 and as a consultant [rom January 2014 to March 2016, From September 2011 to April 2012, Mr. Hebard was a
Managing Dircctor at Icabn Capitai LP, the entity through which Carl C. Icahn manages investment funds. From January 2005
to September 2011, Mr. llebard served as a Managing Director at Blue Harbour Group, an investment firm in Greenwich,
Connecticut. Prior to Blue Harbour Group, Mr. Hebard served as a Managing Direclor at Ranger Partners from April 2002 to
December 2003, and prior to Ranger Partners, Mr, Hebard was an Associate at Icahn Associates Corp. from August 1998 to
April 2002. Mr. Hebard was also a director of Tuming Point Brands, Inc. (NYSE: TPB) from May 2014 to Scptember 2018
and a director of Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (NASDAQ: ENZN) from February 2012 to November 2013. lle has an MBA
from INSEAD and an A.B. in Economics from Princeton University.

Areas of Relevant Experience. Mr. Hebard brings to the Board over twenty years of expericnce working in finance
and investment management, including a strong record as a financially sophisticated investor with a broad understanding of the

operational, financial and strategic issues facing public and private companices.

ROLF IIERTER, 57, has becn a director of Ebix since 2005. Mr. Herter is the managing partner of Streichenberg,
Attorneys at Law in Zurich, Switzerland. Streichenberg is a mid-sized commercial law firm, and Mr. Herter has been managing
partner since 2004. Mr. Herter’s practice consists, among others, of representation for information technology companies, both
private and publicly held. He has served on the board of directors of several companies and is currently serving as a member of
the board of directors of YSMA AG, Immo Swiss Investments AG in lig,, Bantex AG in lig., Eurotas Trust AG in lig., Invitech
AG in liq., Ostschweizerische Treuhandgesellschaft AG. He also serves as a supervisor of investments for several Swiss and
German companies.

Arcas of Relevant Experience. Mr. Herter has extensive experience in the legal scctor with expertise in managing
multiple companies in terms of investments, capital structure, organization restructuring and governance, and with an expertise

in European affairs.

HANS UELI KELLER, 68, has been a director of Ebix since 2004. Mr. Keller has spent aver 20 years with Zurich-
based Credit Suisse, a global financial services company, serving as Executive Board Member from 1997 to 2000, head of rctail
banking from 1993 1o 1995, and head of marketing from 1985 to 1992, He serves as chairman of the board of Helvetica
Property Investors AG, Zurich, a real cstate fund and asset management company.

Areas of Relevant Experience. Mr, Keller has extensive executive experience in sales and marketing, corporate
finance, strategic planning, executive compensation, arnd international distribution.

Executive Officers

We have five cxecutive officers: Robin Raina, Steven M. Hamil, Graham Prior, Leon d’Apice and James Senge, Sr.
Information as to Mr. Raina is provided above.

STEVEN M. HAMIL, 52, joincd the Company in April 2020 to serve as the Company's Corporate Executive Vice
President and the Company's Global Chief Financial Officer. Prior to joining the Company and since 2013, Mr. Hamil served at
Regions Financial Corporation as a Senior Vice President and Managing Director in the technology, media and
communications and defense and governments services barking group. Prior to this position he served as Senior Vice President
and Senior Client Manager at BBVA USA and its predecessor company, Compass Bancshares Inc., from 2010 to 2013. From
2000 to 2009, Mr. Hamil held multiple positions at Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC, the latest being a Director within the Loan
Syndications/Leverage Finance group. Earlier in his career, Mr. Hamil was the Senior Vice President of Finance and Chief
Accounting Officer at Movie Gallery, Inc., and held positions at Bank of America Corporation and Ernst & Young Global
Limited. Mr. Hamil is a certified public accountant (inactive - State of Alabama) and holds both a B.S. in Business
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Administration (Accounting) o the University o Alubama (summa cum Jaude) and a Masters of Busmess Admumstration
from Duke University's Fuqua School of Business.

GRAHAM PRIOR, 64, was made an executive officer of the Company in 2012. He serves as Corporate Exccutive Vice
President International Business & Intellectual Property. Mr. Prior has been employed by Ebix since 1996 when the Company
acquired Complete Broking Systems Ltd for which Mr. Prior was a part owner. Mr. Prior has been working within the
insurance technology industry since 1990 and is currently responsible for the Company’s international operations in Singapore,
New Zealand, Australia, BEurope, Africa and Asia. Mr. Prior is also responsgible for the Company’s worldwide product
development initiatives.

LEON d’APICE, 64, was madc an executive officer of the Company in 2012 He serves as the Company’s Corporate
Executive Viee President and Managing Director — Ebix Ausitalia Group. Mr. d"Apice, has been employed with Ebix since
1596 when the Company acquired Complete Broking Systems Ltd for which Mr. d’Apice was also a part owner, Mr. d’Apice
has been in the information technology field since 1977 and is currently responsible for all of the operations of Ebix’s Australia
business units.

JAMES SENGE, SR., 60, was made an executive officer of the Company in 2012. He serves as the Company’s Senior
Vice President EbixHealth. Mr. Scnge has been employed with Ebix since 2008 when the Company acguired Acclamation
Systems, Inc. ("Acclamation™). Mr. Scnge had been employed by Acclamation since 1979, During his over 32 years with
Acclamation/Ebix Mr. Senge has been involved with all facets of the EbixHealth division, including being responsible for the
strategic direction and day to day operations of the divisions. Mr, Senge’s focus is on expanding the Company’s reach into the
on-demand, end to end technology sclutions for the health insurance and healthcare markets. Mr. Senge works from Ebix’s
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania office.

Corporate Governarnce

The following table lists our three board committees, the directors who served on them as of the end of 2020 and the
number of commitiee meetings held in 2020.

Corporate
Governance
and
Name Audit Compensation Nominating
Mr, Bhalla C M
Mr. Benz M M
Mr, Eckert M C
Mr. Herter M
Mr. Keller : M C
Mr. Raina
Mr. Hebard
2020 Meetings 4 3 2

On Febroary 20, 2015, the Board appointed Hans Ucli Keller as Lead Independent Dircctor. As Lead Independent
Director, Mr, Keller's responsibilities include, but are not limited to: (i) coordinating the activitics of the independent directors;
(i1) setting the agenda for board meetings in conjunction with the CEQ and corporate secretary; (iil) chairing cxecutive sessions
of the independent directors; and (iv) performing such other duties as are assigned from time to time by the board.

On June 11, 2019, Neil Eckert was asked by the Board and accepted a position serving on the Compensation
Committee.

It is the Company's policy that directors should attend each meeting of the Board of Directors and each meeting of the
committees on which they serve. During 2020, the Company's full Board of Directors met four times, all of the meetings being
conducted over telephonic conference calls due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Each member of the Board of Directors attended
all of the regular meetings of the Board and the Board committees on which the director served and for which they were eligible
to participate. In addition to participation at Board and committee meetings, our directors discharge their responsibilities
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throughout the year through persoual weetings and other communicalions, including considerable telephone contact with the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and sometirnes with others pertinent members of management regarding matters of
interest and concern to the Company.

Effective January 9, 2015, the Company amended its bylaws in a way that changed the procedures by which sccurity
holders may recommend nominces to the Company’s Board of Directors. Scction 3.10 of the Amended and Restated Bylaws
creates certain advance notice requirements for stockholder nominations of directors at both annual and special meetings. To be
timely, a director nomination by a stockholder for an annual meeting must be submitted not less than 90 nor more than 120 days
before the anniversary date of the immediately preceding annual meeting. In the case of a nomination at a special meeting,
notice of such nomination must be given within 10 days that notice of such meeting was provided or made public.

In addition, Section 3.10 of the Amended and Restated Bylaws requires disclosures relating to the nominees and their
relationships with stockholders proposing their nomination. Among other things, Section 3.10 of the Amended and Restated
Bylaws requires a proposed nominee 1o: {1) represent and promise that the nominee is not, nor will become, party to any
understanding with another person (a) to vote or act as a Director in a certain manner or (b) concerning compensation,
reimbursement or indemnification without disclosure to the Company; and (2) represent that, if elected to the Board, such
noniinee would comply with Regulation FD and Company governance, trading, ethics, stock ownership and other policies.

Section 3.10 of the Amended and Restated Bylaws also requires disclosures similar to a stockholder proposing
business for an annual meeting. In addition, a proposing stockholder, including its affiliates, must disclose all agreements or
other understandings with a director nominee it has proposed, as well as any other material interest involved in such
noniination.

Code of Conduct and Ethics

The Board has adopted the Code of Conduct and Ethics (the “Code of Ethics™), which applies to the senior financial
officers (the “Senior Financial Officers™) of the Company and its subsidiaries, including its principal executive officer, principal
financial officer and principal accounting officer. Our Board also has adopted a Code of Conduct, articulating standards of
business and professional ethics, which is applicable to all of our directors, officers and employees. The Company is committed
to the highest standards of professional and ethical conduct, and the Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct pravide guidance as to
upholding these standards.

The Code of Ethics consists of basic standards of business practice, as well as professional and personal conduct,
including prohibitions against any conduct or transactions that might constitute a conflict of interest between the Senior
Financial Officers and the Company. Any action that might constitute a conflict of interest is reviewed by Company
management, and potential conflicts of executive officers or members of the Board are reviewed by the Board.

This Code of Ethics is posted on the Company’s website at www.ebix.com, where it may be found by navigating to
“Ebix Inc. Code of Ethics” under Corporate Governance within the Investor section of the website. Any amendment to or
waiver of the Codc of Ethics must be approved by the Audit Committee and will be promptly disclosed by the Company. The
Company intends to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or waiver from, a provision
of the Code of Fthics by posting such information on the Company’s website, at thc address and location specified above.
These codes are reviewed annually and amended as necessary or appropriate in response to changing regulatory requirements
and evolving best practices.

Audit Committee and Audit Committee Financial Expert

The Company has a standing Audit Committee. The Audit Committec’s principal responsibility is to assist the Board
in its general oversight of the Company’s financial reporting, internal controls, cthics compliance and audit functions. This
committee is directly responsible for the appointment, compensation and oversight of the work of the Company’s independent
public accounting firm, reviews the annual financial results and the annual audit of the Company’s financial statements and
approves the inclusion of the audited financial statements in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The Audit Commitice assists the Board in monitoring: (a) the imlegrity of our financial statements, (b) the
cffectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, {c) the effectiveness of our disclosure controls, (d) the
qualifications and independence of our independent registered public accounting firm, (c) the performance of our independent
registered public accounting firm, and (f) our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. The Audit Committee is also
responsible for oversight of the Company’s major financial risk exposures and the steps management has taken to monitor and
control such exposures, including the Company’s risk assessment and risk management policies. The Audit Committec’s
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charter provides that the Audit Committee review and approve related party transactions and conflicts of interest questions
between Board members or senior management, on the one hand, and the Company, on the other hand (as defined and required
by applicable securities laws, rules and regulations and the rules of the Nasdaq). The Audit Committee is also responsible for
reviewing and monitoring compliance with the Company’s Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers, In addition, the Audit
Committee has established procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Company regarding
accounting, financial reporting, internal accounting controls or auditing mattcrs and the confidential and anonymous submission
by Company employees of concerns regarding accounting and auditing matters.

The Audit Committee excreises oversight responsibility regarding the quality and integrity of our auditing and
financial reporting practices. In discharging this responsibility, the Audit Committee, among other things, holds the authority to
approve or remove the independent registered public accounting firm and to pre-approve the audit and any non-audit service to
be provided by the auditors and reviews the results and scope of the annual audit performed by the auditors, The Audit
Committec has three members, who currently are Messts. Bhalla (Chairman), Benz and Keller. After reviewing the
qualifications of the current members of the Audit Comunittee, and any relationships they may have with the Company that
might affect their independence from the Company, our Board has determined that: {1) all current members of the Audit
Committee are “independent” as that concept is defined in Section 10A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, (2) all current
members of the Audit Committee are “independent” as that concept is defined in the Nasdaq listing standards, (3) all current
members of the Audit Committee are financially literate, and (4) Mr. Bhalla qualifics as an “zudit committee financial expert”
as defined under SEC rules promulgated under the Sarbancs-Oxley Act of 2002, The Audit Committce met five times during
2019. The Audit Committee exercises its authority pursuant to a written charter that was adopted in October 2004,

Delinguent Section 16(a) Reports

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires the Company's officers and directors and persons who
beneficially own more than ten percent of a registered class of our equity securities to file with the Securities and Exchange
Commission reports of securities ownership on Form 3 and changes in such ownership on Forms 4 and 5. Officers, directors
and more than ten percent beneficial owners also are required by rules promulgated by the Securities and Exchange
Commission to furnish the Company with copies of all such Section 16(a) reports that they file. Based solely upon a review of
the copies of Forms 3, 4, and 5 furnished to the Company or representations by certain executive officers and directors that no
such reports were required for them, the Company belicves that during 2020 all of the Company's directors, officers and more
than ten-percent beneficial owners filed all such reports on a timely basis except that, while Mr. Hamil believed his Form 3 and
Form 4 were filed in April 2020, due to a clerical error such filings were not received by the SEC and when this was discovered
in April 2021 the filings were made promptly.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation Disclosure and Analysis
Objectives and Goals

The objectives of the Compensation Committee have been to adopt a compensation approach that is simple, internally
equitable, and externally competitive, and that atlracts, motivates, and retains qualified people capable of contributing to the
growth, success and profitability of the Company, thereby contributing to long-term stockholder value,

Simplicity. The Compensation Committee believes that a compensation package with three major elements of
compensation is the simplest approach, consistent with the Company’s goals. The Company gencrally does not utilize special
personal perquisites such as private jets, payment of country club dues, Company-furnished motor vehicles, permanent lodging,
or defrayment of the cost of personal entertainment.

Internal Equity. Internal equity has generally been evaluated based on an assessment of the relative contributions of the
members of the management team. In 2020, the Compensation Committee did not undertake any formal audit or similar
analysis of compensation cquity with respect to either the CEO relative to the other members of the management team or with
respect to the management tcam relative to the Company’s cmployees generally. However, the Compensation Committee
believes that the relative difference between CEO compensation and the compensation of the Company’s other executives is
consistent with such differences found in the Company’s insurance services peer group and the market for executive-level
personnel for public companies of similar size.

External Competitiveness. The Compensation Comumitiee believes it is important to management retention and morale
that compensation be competitive with our competitors. In setting annual compensation, the Compensation Committee
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gencrally reviews matkel duta and compares lolal annual compensation opportunities for our cxecutive officers with
compensation opportunities for similar positions at comparable companies. Based on this review, the Compensation Committee
approves compensation levels and opportunities for our CEQ and our other executive officers that the Compensation
Committee belicves are competitive with the marketplace and provide appropriate retention and incentive value.

Major Compensation Components

The principal components of compensation for our executive officers are: (i) basc salary, (ii) short-term incentives,
generally in the form of cash bonus programs, and (iii) long-term incentives, generally in the form of equity-bascd awards such
as stock awards. We believe the Company’s goals are best met by utilizing an approach to compensation with these three
distinct elements.

Base Salary:

Base salaries for our executive officers arc cstablished based on the scope of their responsibilities, prior
relevant background, professional experience, and technical training. Also in this regard, the Compensation Committee
takes into account competitive market compensation paid by the companies represented in the compensation data it
reviews for similar positions, and the overall market demand for such executives. Although the Company considered
the same factors in establishing the base salaries of each of its executive officers, due to the different levels of roles
played by each executive, the base salarics are justifiably substantially different.

On April 10, 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors, upon recommendation from the Compensation
Commiitee, announced that Mr. Raina's salary for 2019 and going forward is to be paid in shares of commen stock of
the Company, As a result, on January 2, 2020 the Company granted Mr. Raina 107,655 shares of restricted common
stock, which represents his annual salary of $3,600,000 divided by $33.44, the closing price of thc Company’s
commuon stock on January 2, 2020. One third of these shares will vest on January [, 2021 with the remaining stock
vesting in quarterly installments over the next eight quarters.

Incentive Bonus Plan

The stockholders approved a Bonus Plan for Mr, Raina at the 2016 Annual Meeting. The Bonus Plan
provides for the payment of annual cash incentive awards to the Company’s Chicf Executive Officer based upon the
achievement by the Company of specified performance goals. The Bonus Plan was intended to preserve the
Company’s federal income tax deduction for annual incentive payments to the CEO by meeting the requirements for
“qualified performance-based compensation” under Sectionn 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended
(the “Caode™) (or any successor provision). However, Scction 162(m) of the Code was amended in December 2017 as
discussed below. Participation in the Bonus Plan is limited to the CEO of the Company. The Company does not
anticipate that compensation paid to any of its other executive officers will be subject to the compensation deduction
limits of Section 162{m), The Bonus Plan provides that Mr. Raina is eligible to receive cash incentives in connection
with a particular fiscal year during the term of the Bonus Plan if the Company meets or exceeds certain performance
goals (“Performance Goals™) set each year by the Compensation Committee. Not later than ninety (90) days after the
commenccment of any fiscal year during the term of the Bonus Plan {or such other date as may be permitted or
required by Section 162(m)), and at a time when the outcome is uncertain, the Compensation Commiltee will set in
writing Performance Goals based on one or more of the following business criteria:

+ Revenue

+  Sales

«  Profit (nct profit, gross profit, operating profit or other corporate profit mcasurcs)

<  Earnings (EBIT, EBITDA, eamings per share, or other corporate earmings measurcs)

= Net income (before or after taxes, operating income or other income measures)

= Cash (cash flow, cash gencration or other cash measures)

*  Stock price or performance

«  Total stockholder return (stock price appreciation plus reinvested dividends divided by beginning share price)

»  Return measures (return on assets, capital, equity, investments or sales, and cash flow relum on assets,
capital, equity, or sales)

*  Market share

+  Improvements in capital structure

+  Expenses (cxpense management, expense ratio, expensc cfficiency ratios or other expense measures)
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«  Business expansion or consolidation (acquisitions and divestitures)
+  Strategic plan development and implementation

At the time the Compensation Commitlee sets the Performance Goals for a particular fiscal year, it will also
set in writing the CEQO’s incentive bonus opportunity, expressed as a dollar amount or a percentage of the CEO’s base
salary, which will be earned if the established Performance Goals are achieved.

Performance Goals may be specified 1n abseolute terms, on an adjusted basis, in percentages, or in terms of
growth from period to period or growth rates over time, as well as nieasured relative to the performance of a group of
comparator companies, or a published or special index, or a stock market index. Performance Goals need not be based
upon an increasc or positive result under a business criterion and could include, for example, the maintenance of the
status quo or the limitation of cconomic losses (measured, in cach case, by reference to a specific business criterion).
Performance measures may but neced not be determinable in conformance with generally accepted accounting
principles.

Payment of annual incentives under the Bonus Plan will be made promptly following the Compensation Committee’s
written certification that the Performance Goals and any other material conditions were satisfied. The Compensation
Committee has the right 10 exercise negative discretion to pay oul an annual incentive to the CEO under the Bonus
Plan that is less than the amount that would have been payable based solely upon application of the applicable
Performance Goals. The Compensation Commitiee may, in its discretion, pay annual incentives to the other named
executive officers,

Long-Term Incentives:

While salary and short-term incentives are primarily designed to compensate current and past performance,
the primary goal of the long-term incentives, such as stock options and restricted stock awards, is to link executive
officer compensation with the long-term interests of the stockholders.

On July 20, 2020, the Compensation Committee, in consultation with the entire Board, granted 200,000
shares of restricted stock to Mr, Raina under the 2010 Plan as incentive compensation to recognize Mr. Raina's
leadership in guiding the Company, eéspecially related to the actions taken in the face of COVID-19. The shares vest
over a three-year period. The first one-third of these awards vest on July 20, 2021 and the remaining two-thirds vest in
quarterly installments over the next eight quariers.

Use of Compensation Consultants and Benchmarking

In June 2019, after much analysis of potential consulting firms, the Compensation Committee recommended, and the
Board of Directors subsequently approved retaining Emnst & Young LLP (EY) as a compensation consultant to assist with
exccutive compensation matters, The EY study, completed in 2020, carried out a benchmarking study and assessed the overall
trends in remuneration of positions comparable to that of a CEO and Independent Directors of the Company. The study looked
at the key trends in tcrms of compensation components and structure, while covering organizations comparable in terms of
sector, size and global spread of operations. The Compensation Committee accordingly finalized the compensation levels and
opportunities that the Compensation Committee believed are competitive with the marketplace and provide appropriate
retention and incentive value.

Other Compensation Components

Company executives are eligible to participate in the Company’s health care, insurance and other welfare and
employee benefit programs, which are the same for all eligible employees, including Ebix’s executive officers.

Use of Employment and Severance Agreements

In the past, the Compensation Committee has determined that competitive considerations merit the use of employment
contracts or severance agreements for certain members of senior management. Presently, however, no member of senior
management is employed under an employment contract.
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Recapture and Forfeiture Policies

Historically the Company has not had fonmal policies with respect to the adjustment or recapture of performance based
awards where the financial measures on which such awards are based or to be based are adjusted for changes in reported results
such as, but not limited to, instances where the Company’s financial statements are restated. The Compensation Committec
does not believe that repayment should be required where the Plan participant has acted in good faith and the etrors are not
attributable to the participant’s gross negligence or willful misconduct. In such later situations, the Compensation Committee
believes the Company has or will have available negotiated or legal remedies. However, the Compensation Committcc may
elect to take into account factors, such as the timing and amount of any financial restatement or adjustment, the amounts of
benefits received, and the clarity of accounting requirements leading to any restatement in fixing of future compensation.

Deductibility of Compensation and Related Tox Considerations

As one of the factors in its review of compensation matters, the Compensation Committee considers the anticipated tax
treatment to the Company and to the executives of various payments and benefits.

Section 162(m). For 2017 and earlier, Section 162(m) imposed a $1.0 million limit on the amount that a publicly
traded company may deduct for compensation paid to its chief exccutive officer and its next three most highly compensated
executives, excluding the chief financial officer. This limitation did not apply to pay that qualifies as “performance-based
compensation.” In order to qualify as performance-based, compensation must, among other things, be based solely on the
attainment of pre-established, objective goals under a stockholder approved plan with no discretion permitted in determining
award payouts. However, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act adopted in December 2017 made significant changes to Section 162{m}) of
the Code that impacted public companies, including our company. Starting with the 2018 fiscal year, only performance-based
compensation that is paid pursuant to a binding contract in effect on November 2, 2017 is exempt from the $1,000,000
deduction limit, Accordingly, any compensation that we paid pursuant to new compensation arrangements entered into after
November 2, 2017, even if performance-based, will count towards the $1,000,000 deduction iimit. In addition, the $1,000,000
deduction limit applics to a broader group of executives, including the chief financial officer and any individual who serves as
our chief executive officer or chief financial officer at any time after January 1, 2018, plus any executive who is among our
three most highly compensated executive officers for any fiscal year beginning with 2018. While the Bonus Plan described
above was intended to preserve the Company’s federal income tax deduction for annual incentive payments to the CEO by
meeting the requircments for “qualified performance-based compensation”™ under Section 162(m), as a result of thesc changes
made to Scction 162(m) the Bonus Plan, to the extent changed after November 2, 2017 will no longer be excluded from the
$1.0 million limitation. In order to maintain flexibility in compensating executive officers in a manner designed to promote
varying corporate goals, some of the compensation that we provide to our executive officers may not be deductible.

Section 280G. Code Section 280G generally denies a deduction for a significant portion of certain compensatory
payments made to corporate officers, certain stockholders and certain highly-compensated employees if the payments are
contingent on a change of contro! of the employer and the aggregate amounts of the payments to the relevant individual exceed
a specified relationship to that individual’s average compensation from the employer over the preceding five years. In addition,
Code Section 4999 imposes on that individual a 20% excise tax on the same portion of the payments received for which the
cmployer is denied a deduction under Section 280G. In determining whether to approve an obligation to make payments for
which Scction 280G would deny the Company a deduction or whether to approve an obligation to indemnify (or *gross-up™) an
cxecutive against the effects of the Section 4999 excise tax, the Compensation Committee has adopted an approach similar to
that described above with respect to paymenis which may be subject to the deduction limitations of Section 162(m).

Compensation Committee Conclusion

Attracting and retaining talented and motivated management and employees is essential to creatc long-term
stockholder value. Offering a competitive, performance-based compensation program with a large equity component helps to
achieve this objective by aligning the interests of the Company’s CEO and other executive officers with those of stockholders.
The Compensation Committee believes that Ebix’s 2020 compensation program met thesc objectives. Likewise, based on our
review, the Compensation Committec finds the total compensation {and, in the case of the severance and change-in-control
scenarios, the potential payouts) to the Company’s CEO and other named executive officers in the aggregate to be reasonable
and not excessive.

Amended SAR Agreement
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On April 10, 2018, the Cowpauy cntered inio a Stock Appreciation Right Award Agreement with Kobin Kaina, the
Company’s Chairman, President and Chicf Executive Officer, which was amended effective May 7, 2019.

Upon the effcetive date of the original SAR Agreement, Mr, Raina received 5,953,975 stock appreciation rights with
respect to the Company’s commen shares (the “SARs”). Upon an Acquisition Event, as defined in the Amended SAR
Agreements, each of the SARs entitled Mr. Raina to receive a cash payment from the Company equal to the cxcess, if any, of
the net proceeds per share received in connection with the Acquisition Event over the base price of $7.95 per share. Although
the SARs were not granted under the Company’s 2010 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan™), the Amended SAR Agreement
incorporated certain provisions of the Plan, including the provisions requiring equitable adjustment of the number of SARs and
the base price in connection with certain corporate events {(including stock splits). Under the terms of the Amended SAR
Agreement, Mr. Raina will be cntitled to receive full payment with respect to the SARs if either he (1) were employed by the
Company on the closing date of an Acquisition Event or (ii) had been involuntarily terminated by the Company without cause
(as defined in the Amended SAR Agreement) within the 180-day period immediately preceding an Acquisition Event. All of
the SARs would have been forfeited if Mr. Raina’s employment had been terminated for any other reason prior to the closing
date of an Acquisition Event. The Amended SAR agreement further provides that if an Acquisition Event occurs more than
180 days after, but not later than the tenth anniversary of, the date that Mr. Raina’s employment is involuntarily terminated by
the Company without Cause (as defined in the Amended SAR Agreement), 1,000,000 SARs will be deemed accrued and will
be cligible to vest on the closing date of the Acquisition Event, which number will be increased by 750,000 SARs beginning on
the first anniversary of the cffective date of the Amended SAR Agreement and cach anniversary thereafter (subject in each case
to Mr. Raina’s continucd employment on each anniversary date), until 100% of the SARs (including any Shortfall Grants) have
accrued and are eligible to vest on the closing date of an Acquisition Event that occurs more than 180 days after, but not later
than the tenth anniversary of, the date that Mr. Raina’s employment is involuntarily terminated by the Company without Cause;
provided, however, that, (i) no additional SARs will accrue following the date that Mr. Raina’s employment is inveluntarily
terminated by the Company without Cause, (ii) any accrued SARs will be forfeited if an Acquisition Event does not oceur prior
to the ienth anniversary of the date that Mr. Raina’s employment is involuntarily terminated by the Company without Cause,
and (iii) all of the SARs will be forfeited if Mr. Raina’s employment terminates for any other reason prior to the closing date of
an Acquisition Event

In addition, while Mr. Raina is employed by the Company and prior to an Acquisition Event, the Amended SAR
Agreement provides that the Company’s Board would determine annually whether a “shortfall” (as described below) exists as
of the end of the immediately preceding fiscal year. In the event the Board determined that a shortfall existed, Mr. Raina will be
granted additional SARs (or, in the Board’s sole discretion, additional restricted shares or restricted stock units (each a “Share
Grant™)) in an amount sufficient to eliminate such shortfall (each a “Shortfall Grant™), Under the terms of the Amendcd SAR
Agreement, a shortfall exists if the number of Mr. Raina’s Shares is less than 20% of the total of (a) the number of SARs, plus
(b) the number of outstanding shares reported by the Company in its audited financial statements as of the end of the
immediately precceding fiscal year, minus (¢} the number of shares paid, awarded or otherwise received by Mr. Raina from the
Company as compensation after April 10, 2018, including any shares received as a result of Mr, Raina exercising stock options
granted after April 10, 2018 or the grant or vesting of restricted stock or settlement of RSUs granted to Mr. Raina after April
10, 2018, but excluding any shares received as a result of the grant, vesting or settlement of any Share Grants. Under the terms
of the Amended SAR Agreement, if the Board clects to make a Shovtfall Grant in respect of such shortfall, such SARs would
have been subject to the same terms and conditions as the SARs initially granted under the Amended SAR Agreement. If the
Board elects to make a Share Grant in respect of such shortfall, such restricted shares or restricled stock units will have such
terms and conditions as determined by the Board, but generally will follow the terms of the restricted shares or restricted stock
units granted to other cxecutives of the Company at or about the time of such Share Grant, but no Share Grant would have
vested more rapidly than one-third of such Share Grant prior to the first anniversary of the grant date, with the remainder
vesting in eight equal quarterly installments following the first anniversary of the grant date.

In connection with the Amended SAR Agreement, Mr. Raina will commit to continue 1o serve and not resign as the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer until at least May 2, 2021.
Stockholder Advisory Vote

At the last Annual Meeting of Stockholders, approximately 54% of the votes cast by the Ebix stockholders present in
person or by proxy and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting and on the proposal were cast in support of the compensation of

the Company’s named executive officers, as discussed and disclosed in the proxy statement. The Board and the Compensation
Committec appreciate and value the views of our stockholders.
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Tuture advisory voles on execulive compensalion will continue to serve as an additional tool to guide the Board and
the Compensation Committee in cvaluating the alignment of the Company’s executive compensation program with the intcrests
of the Company and its stockholders.

Risk Considerations

QOur Compensation Committee has reviewed risks arising from our compensation policies and practices for both our
executives and non-executive employees and has determined that they are not reasonably likely to have a material adverse
effect on the Company.

Compensation Commitiee Interlocks and Insider Participation

The Company's Compensation Committee currently consists of Mr. Keller, Mr. Benz and Mr. Eckert. None of the
members of the Compensation Committee have ever been officers or employees of the Company. No interlocking relationship
exists between the members of the Company's Board of Directors or Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors or
Compensation Committee of any other company.

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed with the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer the above Compensation Disclosure and Analysis. Based on such review and discussion, the Compensation
Commiittce recommended to the Board that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this Form 10-K.

This report has been submitted by the Compensation Committee:

Hans U. Benz, Neil Eckert and Hans Ueli Keller

The foregoing report shall not be deemed incorporated by reference by any general statement incorporating by reference
this annual report into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except to
the extent that we specifically incorporate this information by reference, and shall not otherwise be deemed filed under such
Acts.

Executive Compensation and Director Compensation Tables

The following table provides information relating to compensation earned by or paid to our named executive officers in all
capacities.
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Summary Compcnsation Table

Non-Equity
Option  Incentive
Name and Stock Plan All Other
Principal Awards Award Compensat Compensat
Position Year  Salary (S) Bonus ($) ($1(1) s{%) on (%) ion (%) Total

Robin Raina,
President, 2020 % — — 7,960,000 — — — $ 7,960,000

Chief
Executive
Officer 2019 g — 2,000,000 (2) 4,200,000 — 1,584 6,000 3) § 6,207,584

and Chairman
of the Board 2018 § 2,400,000 2,000,000 (2) — —_ — 9,751 (3) § 4,409,751

Steven M.

Hamil,

Corporate

Executive

Vice

President and

Global Chief

Financial

Officer 20206 § 231,250 - 500,000 — — — 4 $ 731,250
Robert F.

Kerris, 2020 § 162,519 — — — — (5) $§ 162,519
Chief

Financial

Officer and

Secretary 2018 § 185,000 50,000 —_— — — — (5) § 235,000

Graham Prior, 2020 § 161,964 — — — . — (6] $ 161,964

Corporate
Senior 2019 § 159,863 — e — — — 6y $ 159,863

Vice
President 2018 § 161,694 — — — — — {6) § 161,694

Leon d'Apice, 2020 § 207,197 — — — — 17,715 (D & 224912

Managing
Director- 2019 s 208,706 — — — — 25,650  (7) § 234,356

Ebix Australia
Group 2018 § 224400 — — — — 20,785 (N § 245,185

James Senge,
Sr., 2020 § 225,000 — — — 3,375 (8) § 228375

Senior Vice
President 2019 § 225000 — — — 2,337 8y § 227337

EbixHealth 2018 § 225,000 — — — — 3,075 (8) $ 228,075
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Footnotes

These amounts reflect the aggregate grant date fair value computed in accordance with accounting guidance related

(1) to stock compensation, based on the stock price on the date of grant.
) 2018 bonus of $2,000,000 was earned in 2018 and paid in 2019.
This amount rapresent the $6,000 allowance for miscellaneous business and travel expense for 2019. In 2018, the
amount includes a Company matching contribution to a 401(k)/Retirement Plan of $3,751 and the annval $6,000
3) allowance for miscellaneous business and travel expenses.
Mr. Hamil's base salary is $325,000. Mr. Hamil has started for Ebix April 13, 2020, so his salary shown is partial
(C))] year. Grant totals is based on new grant value on date of grant.
Mr. Kerris was named Chief Financial Officer effective September 21, 2019. On April 13, 2020, Mr. Kerris moved
&) to a non officer position.
Mr. Prior was compensated in Singapore Dollars. For 2020, all sums were derived by using the exchange rate as of
December 31, 2020 of 0.742955. For 2019, all sums were derived by using the exchange rate as of December 31,
2019 of 0.7333. For 2018, all sums were derived by using the exchange rate as of December 31, 2018 of 0.7417. His
(6) compensation includes a Company matching contribution 1o a 401(k)/Retirement Plan.
Mr. d’Apice was compensated in Australian Dollars. For 2020, all sums were derived by using the exchange rate as
of December 31, 2020 of 0.690656. For 2019, all sums were derived by using the exchange rate as of December 31,
2019 of 0.6957. For 2018, all sums were derived by using the exchange rate of .7480. His compensation includes a
7 Company matching contribution to a 401({k)/Retirement Plan.
Mr. Senge's base salary is $225,000, his compensation includes a Company matching contribution to a 401(k)/
(&) Retirement Plan.
Grants of Plan-Based Awards for 2020
Estimated Future Payouts Under  All Other  All Other Grant
Non-Equity Incentive Plan Awards Stock Option  Exercise or Date Fair
Awards: Awards: Base Price  Value of
Number Number of of Option  Stock and
Threshold Maximum of Shares Securities Awards (§/ Option
Name Grant Date 8] Target ($) £)] of Stock  Underlying Sh) Awards ($)
Robin Raina  1/2/20 — — — 107 —  $ 3,600,000
Robin Raina 712020 200,000 4,360,000
Steven M. Hamil — — — 30,43 NEEEERENE — $ 500,000
Graham Prior — — — — — — % _
Leon &' Apice — — — o - — 3 —
James Senge, Sr — — — — — — 8 —
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Outstanding Equity Awards at 2020 Fiscal Year-End

Option Awards Stock Awards
Equity
Incentive
Equity Plan
Incentive Awards:
Plan Market
Awards: or
Equity Number Payout
Incentive Number of Value of
Plan of Unearned  Unearned
Awards: Shares Shares, Shares,
Number of Number of or Market Units or Uniis or
Securities Nurmber of Securities Units of Value of Other Other
Underlying Securities Underlying Stock Shares or Rights Rights
Unexercise Underlying Unexercise  Option That Units of That That
d Unexercised d Exercis Option Have Stock That Have Have
Options Options Unearned ¢ Expiratio Not Have Not Not Not
(#) i Options Price n Vested Vested Vested Yested
Un-
Name Exercisable exercisable (#) $ Date #) (%) {# (%)
Robin Raina - . - — Tusen ) TENTCTI R
Steven M. Hamil — — — — — 30,432 g 1,155,503 — 3 —
Graham Prior — — e — — — 8 — — 3 —
Leon d'Apice — — — — — - $ — — % -
James Senge, Sr. — — — s — — ] —_ — 3 —

(n

Robin Raina has been awarded restricted stock grants by the Compensation Committee: (i) a grant of 13,541 shares of
Company common stock on January 7, 2019 of which 5,643 shares were unvested as of December 31, 2020; (ii) a
grant of 54,870 shares of Company common stock on April 10, 2019 of which 22,863 shares were unvested as of
December 31, 2020; (iii) a grant of 23,247 shares of Company common stock on April 10, 2019 of which 9,686 shares
were unvested as of December 31, 2020, (iv) a grant of 107,655 shares of Company common stock on January 2, 2020
of which 107,655 shares were unvested as of December 31, 2020; and (v) a grant of 200,000 shares of Company
common stock of which 200,000 shares were unvested as of December 31, 2020.

(2)  Steven Hamil has been awarded restricted stock grants by the Compensation Committee, a grant of 30,432 shares of
Company common stock on April 13, 2020 of which 30,432 shares were unvested as of December 31, 2020.
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Option Exercises and Stock Vested

Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Value Number of Value
Shares Realized Shares Realized
Acquired on Acquired on
Name on Exercise Exercise on Vesting Vesting
(a) # &)@ #) ®Q
Robin Raina — % - 13,593  § 639,708
Steven M. lauul 5 — — % —
Graham Prior — % — R —
Leon d'Apice b — — 5 —
James Senge — 5 — — % —

(1) Reflects the excess of the fair market value of the shares at the time of exercise over the exercise price of the options.
(2) Reflects the fair market value of the shares on the vesting date.

Pension Benefits and Nonqualified Deferred Compensation

The Company does not sponsor or maintain any tax-qualified defined bencfit plans, supplemental executive retirement
plans or nonqualified deferred compensation plans.

Potential Payments for Mr. Raina Upon a Change of Control

Below is the description of sevcrance payments that Mr, Raina would have received under the Amended SAR
Agreement had certain events occurred in 2020. As mentioned previously, no member of senior management other than Mr.
Raina has an employment or severance agreement. Except as described below for Mr. Raina, upon a termination or change of
control, each of the executive officers will receive only the unpaid portion of their salary and benefits through the date of
termination. No severance payments, acceleration of equity vesting, or other special payments will be due to such executive
officers, regardless of the circumstlances of the termination.

Pursuant to the Amended SAR Agreement, Mr. Raina received 5,953,975 stock appreciation rights with respect to the
Company’s common shares (the “SARs™). Upon an Acquisition Event, cach of the SARs entitles Mr. Raina to receive a cash
payment from the Company equal to the excess, if any, of the net proceeds per share received in connection with an Acquisition
Event over the base pricc of $7.95. Mr. Raina will only be entitled to receive a payment with respect to the SARs if he is
employed by the Company at the time of an Acquisition Event or was terminated by the Company without cause within the
180-day period immediately preceding an Acquisition Event.

Annually, while Mr. Raina is employed by the Company and prior to an Acquisition Event, the Board shall determine
whether a “shortfall” (as defined in the April SAR Agreement) existed as of the end of the immediately preceding fiscal year. In
the event the Board determines that a shortfall existed, Mr. Raina will be granted additional SARs (or, in the Board’s sole
discretion, restricted shares or restricted stock units (each a “Share Grant™)) in an amount sufficient to eliminate such shortfall
(each a “Shortfall Grant”). A “shortfall” will exist if the number of Mr. Raina’s shares is less than 20% of the total of (&) the
number of SARs, plus (b) the number of outstanding shares reported by the Company in its audited financial statements as of
the end of the immediately preceding fiscal year, minus (c) the number of shares paid, awarded or otherwise received by Mr.
Raina from the Company as compensation after April 10, 2018, including any shares reccived as a result of Mr. Raina
exercising stock options granted after April 10, 2018 or the grant or vesting of restricted stock or settlement of RSUs granted to
Mr. Raina after April 10, 2018, but excluding any shares received as a result of the grant, vesting or settlement of any Share
Grants.

No Shortfall Grant was made for 2020. As a result, in the event that an Acquisition Event had occurred on
December 31, 2020, and assuming that the Company received Net Proceeds of $37.97 per share (the closing price of the
Company’s common stock on December 31, 2020), Mr. Raina would have received a $178.7 million payment upon the
Acquisition Event.
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Pay Ratio Disclosure

On August 5, 20135, the SEC adopted new rules implementing the pay ratio disclosure requirement of the Dodd-Frank
Wall Strect Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (Dodd-Frank Act). These rules require reporting companies to
disclosc the ratio of the annual compensation of the company's median employee to the annual compensation of its principal
execulive officer.

The 2020 annual total compensation of our CEO Mr. Raina was $7,960,000, which includes the total valuc of restricted stock
grants issued in 2020. The 2020 annual total compensation of our median compensated employee for all global locations was
$4,398, and the ratio of those amounts is 1810 to 1. The 2020 annual total compensation of our median compensated U.S,
employee was $84,886 and the ratio of those amounts is 94 to 1. For purposes of identifying the median compensated
employee, we took into account salary, bonus, and fair market value of the restricted stock grants on the grant date during the
year for all our employees as of December 31, 2020. We annualized this compensation for employees who did not work the
entire year, except for employees designated as seasonal or temporary.

There is a lot of flexibility in how the median employees are identified. Companies are using different approaches that are
appropriate for their employee population and compensation programs and are using estimates and assumptions. As & result, the
ratio that other companies have calculated may not be comparable to the ratto that we have presented not only because of
different businesses or different compensation programs, but because of using different methodologies and assumptions.

Director Compensation

On December 17, 2020, the Board granted the six non-employee directors options to purchase 6,000 shares of common
stock of which one-fourth will vest on December 17, 2021, and the remaining options will vest ratably each quarter in the years
2022, 2023 and 2024. In addition each non-employee director received an annual cash retainer of $25,000 during 2020. Mr.
Keller reccived an additional cash retainer of $16,000 for serving as the Compensation Committee Chairman and $8,000 for
serving on the Audit Committee. Mr. Benz received an additional cash retainer of $8,000 for serving on the Audit Committee
and $8,000 for serving on the Compensation Committee. Mr. Bhalla reccived an additional cash retainer of $24,000 for serving
as the Audit Committee Chairman and $8,000 for serving on the Audit Committee.

2020 Director Compensation

Fees Earned or Paid

Name in Cash Option Awards (3) Total ($)

Pavan Bhalla 3 57,000 §$ 93,501 § 150,501
Hans Ueli Keller $ 49,000 % 93,501 $ 142,501
Hans U. Benz $ 41,000 § 93,501 § 134,501
Neil D. Eckert b 25000 § 93,501 § 118,501
Rolf Herter % 25000 § 93,501 § 118,501
George Hebard, II1 3 25,000 § 93,501 $ 118,501
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The following table lists below the apgregate number of outsianding options held by each director as of December 31,

2020:

Aggregate Stock Option

Awards at Year End

Pavan Bhalia 36,000
Hans Ueli Keller 36,000
Hang U. Benz 36,000
Neil D. Eckert 36,000
Rolf Herter 36,000
George Hebard, T11 30,000

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

As of December 31, 2020, we maintained the 2010 Ebix Equity Incentive Plan and the 2020 Lbix Equity as approved
by our stockholders. The table below provides information as of December 31, 2020 related to these plans.

Number of Number
Securities Weighted- of Securities
to be Issued Average Remaining
Upon Exercise Available
Exercise of Price of for Future
Outstanding Outstanding Issuance
Options Options Under Equity
Warrants and Warrants Compensation
Plan Category Rights and Rights Plans
Equity Compensation Plans Approved by Security Holders:
-2010 Stock Incentive Plan 181,875 $ 48.01 3,684,898
-2020 Stock Incentive Plan 36,000 35.70 4,964,000
Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by Security Holders 5,953,975 (1) N/A
Total 6,171,850 $ 45.97 8,648,898

(1) These are the SARs granted to Mr. Raina under the Amended SAR Agreement
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Seccurity Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Manugement and Related Stockholder Matters

Current Beneficial

Ownership
Percent of
Number of
Name of Beneficial Owner Shares (1)  Class (2)
Robin Raina®™ 4,149,204 13.4%
Neil D. Eckert™ 117,862 *
Rolf Herter"”) 101,271 "
Leon d’Apice® 89,978 *
Hans Ueli Keller!” 44,396 *
Hans U. Benz® 30,877 *
Pavan Bhalla® 99,341 *
James S. Senge, Sr.41% 12,221 *
Graham Prior!V 16,784 *
George Hebard!? 70,250 *
Steven M. Hamijl®? 30,432 *
Directors and executive officers as a group {11 persons)'¥ 4,762,616 14.6%
Other Beneficial Holders
Blackrock Inc. 1% 3,707,413 12.0%
The Vanguard Group “¢ 2,692,150 8.7%
Steven D, Lebowitz" 1,551,567 5.0%

*[ess than 1%.

(1) For purposes of this table, a person is deemed to be the beneficial owner of a security if he or she: (a) has or
shares voting power or dispositive power with respect to such security, or (b) has the right to acquire such
ownership within 60 days. “Voting power” is the power to vote or direct the voting of shares, and “dispositive
power” is the power to dispose or direct the disposition of shares, irrespective of any economic interest in such
shares.

(2) In calculating the percentage ownership or percent of equity vote for a given individual or group, the number
of common shares outstanding includes unissucd shares subject to options, warrants, rights or conversion
privileges exercisable within 60 days held by such individual or group, but are not deemed outstanding by any
other person or group. Percentage is based on 30,942,871 shares of our common stock outstanding as of March
29,2021,

(3) Mr. Raina’s ownership includes: (a)3,932,140 shares of restricted stock and (b) 217,064 shares held as
trustee for the Robin Raina Foundation, a 501(¢) charity organization, which were donated by Robin Raina from
vested restricted stock grants previously issued to Mr. Raina by the Company and to which Mr. Raina disclaims
any beneficial ownership. The Federal Tax 1D Number for the foundation is 51-0497387. The address of Mr.
Raina is 1 Ebix Way, Johns Creek, Georgia 30097.

(4) Mr. Eckert’s ownership includes options to purchase 19,875 shares of our common stock which arc
exercisable as of March 29, 2021, or that will become exercisable within 60 days after that date. The address of
Mr. Eckert is 62 Bishopsgate Lime Street, London EC2N 4AW, UK.

(5) Mr. Herter's ownership includes options to purchase 19,875 shares of our common stock which are
exercisable as of March 29, 2021, or that will become exercisable within 60 days after that date. The address of
Mr. Herter is Carl Spitteler Str. 31 8053 Ziirich, Switzerland.

{6) The address of Mr. d’Apice is [97 Foreshore Dr. Corlette NSW 2315, Australia.

(7) Mr. Keller’'s ownership includes options to purchase 19,875 shares of our common stock which are
exercisable as of March 29, 2021, or that will become exercisable within 60 days after that date. The address of
Mr. Keller is Oberkreuzbuche 2 6315 Oberdgeri, Switzerland.

(8) Mr. Benz’s ownership includes options to purchase 19,875 shares of our common stock which are exercisable
as of March 29, 2021, or that will become exercisable within 60 days after that date. The address of Mr. Benz is

Seehofstrasse 13 6314 Zug, Switzerland.
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(9) Mr. Bhalla’s ownership includes options to purchase 19,875 shares of our common stock which are
exercisable as of March 29, 2021, or that will become exercisable within 60 days after that date. The address of

Mr. Bhalla is 4415 Bancroft Valley, Johns Creek, Georgia 30022.
{10) The address of Mr. Senge is 1629 Seegar Road, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15241.

(11) The address of Mr. Prior is 7 Purchas Road Takapuna, Auckland 0622, New Zealand.

(12) Mr. Hebard’s ownership includes options to purchase 17,250 shares of our common stock which are
exercisable as of March 29, 2021, or that will become exercisable within 60 days after that date. The address of
Mr. Hebard is 56 East 87th St, Apt 5SDC, New York, New York 10128,

(13) Includes 30,432 shares of restricted stock. The address of Mr. Hamil is | Ebix Way, Johns Creek, Georgia
30097.

(14) Includes options to purchase 116,625 shares of our common stock which are cxercisable as of March 29,
2021, or that will become cxercisable within 64 days after that date.

(14) Includes options to purchase shares of our common stock which are exercisable as of March 29, 2020, or
that will become exercisable within 60 days after that date.

(15) Ownership consists of shares of our common stock beneficially owned by Blackrock, Inc. and its wholly-
owned subsidiaries (“Blackrock”) as disclosed on its Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on January 27, 2021.
The address of Blackrock is 55 East 52" Street, New York, New York 10055.

(16) Ownership consists of shares of our common stock beneficially owned by The Vanguard Group, Inc. and its
wholly-owned subsidiaries {collectively, “Vanguard™), as disclosed on Vanguard’s joint schedule 13G/A filed
with the SEC on February 10, 2021. The address of Vanguard is 100 Vanguard Blvd., Malvern, Pennsylvania
19355,

(17) Ownership consists of shares of our common stock beneficially owned by Steven D. Lebowitz, the Lebowitz
Family Stock, LLC, Deborah P. Lebowitz, The Steven & Deborah Lebowitz Foundation, the Lebowitz Family
Trust — 1986, Lauren Lebowitz Salem, Robert Lebowitz, Kathryn Lebowitz Silverberg, the A&A Lebowitz
Trust, Leonard S. Pearlstein, The Leonard and Susan Pearlstein Community Property Trust, dated September |,
1983, and Dcbra Paul, as disclosed on a joint Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on March 29, 2021. The address
of Steven D. Lebowitz is 1333 Second Street, Suile 650, Santa Monica, CA 90401.

Ttem 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Related Party Transactions

Under the Audit Committee’s charter, and consistent with NASDAQ rules, any material potential or actual
conflict of interest or fransaction between the Company and any "rclated person” of the Company must be reviewed and
approved by the Audit Committee. SEC rules define a "related person™ of the Company as any director {or nominee), executive
officer, 5%-or-greater sharcholder or immediate family member of any of these persons.

Rahul Raina is the Company’s Corporate Vice President Sales Ebix RCS & A.D.AM. International Business
Development and the brother of Robin Raina, our Chairman of the Board, President, and Chief Executive Officer. During each
of 2020 and 2019 he was paid a salary of $150,000, respectively, and received zero cash bonus. He received no share-based
compensation awards in either 2020 or 2019.

During the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, Ebix did not donate to the Robin Raina Foundation, a non-profit
501{c) charity in support of the cause of building and providing homes for the severely underprivileged in India.

Director Independence
Our business is managed by the Company’s employees under the direction and oversight of the Board. Except for Mr.
Raina, none of our current directors are an employee of the Company. We keep directors informed of our business through

discussions with management, materials we provide to them, visits to our offices and facilities and their participation in Board
and Board committee meetings.

Under our Corporate Governance Guidelines, we require that a majority of the Board consist of independent, non-
management directors, who also meet the criteria for independence required by the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules. Under such
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rules, a director is independent if he or she does nol hiave a material relationship with the Company. Our Board annually
evaluates each member’s independent status,

The Board has determined that, as of January 1 2020, the following seven of the Company’s directors are independent
under the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules: Messrs. Benz, Bhalla, Eckert, Hebard, Herter, and Keller. Mr, Raina, as a management
director, participates in the Board’s activities and provides valuable insight and advice.

Non-management directors have access to individual members of management or to other employees of the Company
on a confidential basis. Directors also have access to Company records and files and directors may contact other directors
without informing Company management of the purpose or even the fact of such contact.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

As previously disclosed, RSM resigned as the Company's indcpendent auditor on February 15, 2021 without
completing the 2020 audit. On March 5, 2021 the Audit Committee appointed KGS to audit the Company's financial
statements for the fiscal year 2020. RSM scrved as the Company's registered public accountants for the year ended Decernber
31, 2019.

The following tahles presents fees billed for professional services rendered for the audit of our annual financial
statements for 2020 and 2019

Services Rendered by KG & Somani Co. 2020 2019

Audit Fees (4) $ 430,000 % —
Audit Related Fees (2) 5 — 3 —
Tax Compliance Service Fees ) —  § s
All Other Fees (3) $ — 3 —

Services Rendered by RSM US LLP 2020 2019

Audit Fees (1) $ 931,655 § 2,170,400
Audit Related Fees {2) $ — % —
Tax Compliance Service Fees $ — 8 —
All Other Fees (3) 3 - % _

(1) Integrated audit of the consolidated financial statements including quarterly reviews according to the engagement letter
and administrative fees.

(2) Includces fees associated with the review of valuation reports associated with business acquisition and audits of the
Company's 401(K) plans, and related out of packet expenses incurred by the auditors.

(3) Includes fees related to the audit of the financial statements and the Company's purchase accounting for certain
acquired businesses.

{(4) Integrated andit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020, Amount represents
total fees per the engagement letter. Company also to pay KGS out of pocket expenses (undetermined amount at time of
filing).

The Audit Committee considered and pre-approved all of the above-referenced fees and services. Pursuant Lo a policy
adopted by our Board of Directors, the Audit Committee requires advance approval of ali andit services and permitted non-
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audit serviees to be provided by the ludependent registered public accounting firn as required by the Sccurities Exchange Act

of 1934,

Item 15,

PART IV
EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) 1. Financial Statements

The following consolidated financial statements and supplementary data of the Company and its subsidiaries, required

by Part 11, Item § are filed herewith:

hereto.

Report of Independent Registered Prhlic Accounting Firm.
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 .

Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2020, December 31, 2019, and December 31,
2018.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2020, December 31, 2019, and
December 31, 2018.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2020, December 31, 2019, and
[December 31, 2018.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2020, December 31, 2019, and
December 31, 2018.

Neotes to Conselidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedules

The following consolidated financial statement schedule is filed herewith:

Schedule TI —Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the years ended December 31, 2020, December 31, 2019, and
December 31, 2018,

Schedules other than thosc listed above have been omitted because they are not applicable or the required information
is included in the financial statements or notes thereto.

3. Exhibits—The cxhibits filed herewith or incorporated by reference are listed on the Exhibit Index attached
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibits

2.1 Merger Agreement dated July 16, 2019 among Ebix, Inc., EbixCashTravels Inc., and Yatra Online,
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated
July 17, 2019).

Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, of Ebix, Inc. {filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal yvear ended December 31, 2009 and incorporated herein by

reference),
Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation of Ebix, Inc. dated May 25, 2017
Amended and Restated Bylaws of Ebix, Inc.. effective imumediately following the Company’s

Annual Meeting of Stockholders. held on January 9. 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1
to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 24, 2014).

Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation of Ebix, Inc. filed November 21, 2018 (filed as Exhibit
3.4 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018
and incorporated herein by reference).

Certificatc of Designation of Series Y Convertible Preferred Stock (filed as Fxhibit 3.1 to Fbix's

Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 25, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference).

Description of capital stock
Ebix, Inc. 2020 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix A of the Company's
Schedule 14A filed on August 19, 2020).

Ebix, Inc. 2010 Stock Ingentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Amnex A to the Company’s
Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed October 8, 2010).

Form of Restricted Stock Agrecment under the Company's 1996 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 7. 20035).

Share Purchase Agreement made and extended into as of April 2, 2008 by and among Ebix, Inc. and
Rennes Foundation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed April 14, 2008),

Acquisition Bonus Agreement by and between Ebix, Inc., and Robin Raina dated as of July 15,
2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K

dated July 21. 2009).
Credit Agreement, dated as of August 5, 2014, entered into by and among Ebix, Inc., as Borrower,
certain subsidiaries of the Company from time to time party thereto, as Guarantors, Regions Bank,

as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent, and the lenders from time to time party thereto
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Formn 8-K filed
August 11, 2014},

10,7 Amendment No.1 and Waiver dated February 3, 2015 to the Credit Agreement dated as of August 5,
2014, entered into by and among Ebix, Inc., as Borrower, certain subsidiaries of the Company from

time to time party thereto, as Guarantors, Regions Bank, as Administrative Agent and Collateral
Agent., and the lenders from time to time party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to

the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 5. 2015).

10.8%* Ebix_Inc. Chief Executive Officer Annual Incentive Bonus Plan effective January 1, 2016

(incorporated by Reference to Appendix A_to the Company’s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A
filed March 18, 2016).

)

s
[3e3

t
s

|E-*’
.

had
i

IS
e

]
*
*

s
=]
[3e)
*
*

._.
o}
e
*
*

[

s
=]
N

;

s
oot
1o
*
*

-
oy
(o,

-}

Amendment No.2 dated June 17, 2016 to the Credit Agreement dated as of August 5, 2014, entered

into by and among Ebix. Inc.. as Borrower, certain subsidiaries of the Company from time to time
party thereto. as Guarantors, Regions Bank. as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent, and the

lenders from time to time party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's
Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 22, 2016).
10,10 Amendment No.3 dated October 19, 2017 to the Credit Agreement dated as of August 5, 2014,

entered into by and among Ebix, Inc,. as Borrower, certain subsidiaries of the Company from time
to time party thereto, as Guarantors, Regions Bank, as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent,
and the lenders from time to time thereto {incorporat reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the

Company's Current Report on Form 10-K fited March 1, 2018).

Amendment No.4 dated November 3. 2017 to the Credit Agreement dated as of August 5, 2014

entered into by and among Ebix, Inc., as Borrower, certain subsidiaries of the Company from time
to time party thereto, as Guarantors. Regions Bank, as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent,

and the lenders from time to time party thereto {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the
Company's Cutrent Repert on Form 10-K filed March 1, 2018),

-
-

=1
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10.12 Amendment No.3 dated November 3, 2017 to the Credit Agreement dated as of August 5, 2014

entered inte by and among Ebix, Inc., as Borrower. certain subsidiaries of the Company from time
to time party thereto, as Guarantors, Regions Bank, as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent,

and the_lenders from time to time party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the

Company's Current Report on Form 10-K filed March 1, 2018).
10.13 Amendment No.6 dated February 2§, 2018 to the Credit Agreement dated as of August 5, 2014,

entered into by and among Ebix, Inc.. as Borrower, certain subsidiaries of the Company from time

to time party thereto, as Guarantors, Regions Bank, as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent,

and the lenders from time to time party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the

Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 1. 2018).

10.14 Amendment No.7 dated April 9, 2018 to the Credit Agreement dated as of August 5, 2014, entered
into by and among Ebix, Inc., as Borrower, certain subsidiaries of the Company from time to time
party thereto, as Guarantors, Regions Bank, as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent, and the
lenders from time to time party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's

Current Report on Form 10-0 filed August 9, 2018).

10.15 Amendment No.8 dated November 27, 2018 to the Credit Agreement dated as of August 5, 2014,
entered into by and among Ebix, Inc., as Borower, certain subsidiaries of the Company from time
to time party thereto, as Guarantors, Regions Bank, as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent,
and the lenders from time to time party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 10-K dated March 1, 2019).

10.16 Amendment No.9 dated September 27, 2019 to the Credit Agreement dated as of August 5, 2014,
entered into by and among Ebix, Inc., as Borrower, certain subsidiaries of the Company from time
to time party thereio. as Guarantors, Regions Bank, as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent,

and the lenders from time to time party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.]1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 10-Q dated November 12, 2019).

10.17** Stock Appreciation Right Award Agreement dated April 10, 2018 by and between Ebix, Inc, and

Robin Raina (incorporated by reterence to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form

8-K dated April 16, 2018).

- Amended Stock Appreciation Right Award Agreement dated May 7, 2019 by and between Fbix,

Inc. and Robin Raina (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed May 10, 2019).

10.19 Share Purchase Agreement dated April 2, 2018 by and between Centrum Retail Services Ltd/
Centrum Capital Ltd and Ebix, Inc/Ebix Fincorp Exchange PTE Ltd. {incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-0 filed August 9, 2018).

10.20 Waiver, dated March 30, 2020, between the Company and Regions, to the Credit Agreement dated

as of August 5. 2014, entered into by and among Ebix, Inc., as Borrower, certain subsidiaries of the

Company from time to time party thereto, as Guarantors, Regions Bank, as Administrative Agent

and Collateral Agent, and the lenders from time to time party thereto (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.} to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed May 11, 2020).

10.21 Amendment No.10 dated May 7, 2020 to the Credit Agreement dated as of August 5, 2014, entered
into by and among Ebix, Inc., as Borrower. certain subsidiaries of the Company from time to time
party thereto, as Guarantors, Regions Bank. as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent. and the
lenders from time to time party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's
Quarterly Report on Form {10-Q filed August 7. 2020).

10.22* Amendment No.11 and Waiver dated March 31, 2021 to the Credit Agreement dated as of Au

2014, entered into by and among Ebix, Inc., as Borrower, certain subsidiaries of the Company from
time to time party thereto, as Guarantors, Regions Bank, as Administrative Agent and Collateral
Agent, and the lenders from time to time party thereto.

10.23 Amendment No.12 and Waiver dated Apuil 9, 2021 to the Credit Agreement dated as of August 5
2014, entered into by and among Ebix, Inc., as Borrower, certain subsidiaries of the Company from
time to time party thereto, as Guarantors, Regions Bank, as Administrative Agent and Collateral
Agent, and the lenders from time_to time party thercto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 15, 2021).

14.1 Ebix, Inc. C Ethics for Senior Financial Officers (ing rated by reference to Exhibit 14.1 to
the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 dated Novem 4. 2008) and incorporated

herein by reference.

21.1* Subsidiaries of the Company.
23.1* Consent of TR Chadha & Co. LLP
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Consent of RSMUSLLP
Consent of KG Somani & Co.
Certification of Chief Executive Qfficer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) (Section 302 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002).
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14{a) (Scction 302 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act o 2002).
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursnant to Section 206 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language) - The following materials from Ebix, Inc.'s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019, formatted in XBRL
(eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the
Consolidated Statements of Operations, (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
{Loss) {iv) the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity and Comprehensive Income (Loss),
(v) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
which were tagged as blocks of text.

Filed herewith
Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this amendment to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

EBIX, INC.
(Registrant)

By: /s/ ROBIN RAINA
Raobin Raina

Chairman of the Board, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Principal Executive Officer
Date: April 27, 2021

Pursuant (o the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s ROBIN RAINA Chairman of the Board, President, and April 27, 2021
Chief Executive Officer

(Robin Raina) {principal executive officer)

/s STEVEN M. HAMIL April 27, 2021
Chief Financial Officer

(Steven M. Hamil) (principal financial and accounting officer)

/s/ HANS U. BENZ Director April 27, 2021

(Hans U. Benz)

/s/ PAVAN BHALLA Director April 27, 2021

(Pavan Bhalla)

/s/ NEIL D. ECKERT Director April 27, 202]

(Neil D. Eckert)

{Rolf Herter)

/s/ HANS UELI KELLER Director April 27, 2021

(Hans Ueli Keller)

/s/ GEORGE W.HEBARD IlI Director April 27, 2021

(George W. Hebard IIT)
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Schedule H

Ebix, Inc.

Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Years ended December 31, 2020, December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018

Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable (in thousands):

Beginning balance

Provision for doubtful accounts

Write-off of accounts receivable against allowance
Other (opening balance adjustments on acquisitions)
Ending balance

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets (in thousands):

Beginning balance
Decrease (increase)
Ending balance

133

Year ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
21,696 § 6,969 $ 4,143
1,749 12,325 3,571
(754) (2,290) (745)

— 4,692 .
22691 § 21,696 $ 6,969

Year ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
(3,288) § (2,031) § (35)
1,128 (1,257) (1,996)

(2,160) § {3,288} § {2,031}




